PhD Thesis

Danish cancer patients' rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs

Lise Vilstrup Holm, MD





PhD thesis

Danish cancer patients' rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs

©2013, Lise Vilstrup Holm Research Unit of General Practice Institute of Public Health Faculty of Health Sciences University of Southern Denmark JB Winsløws vej 9A DK-5000 Odense C

Supervisors

Jens Søndergaard, Professor, PhD Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation, Research Unit of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

Dorte Gilså Hansen, Associate Professor, PhD Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation, Research Unit of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

Rene dePont Christensen, PhD Research Unit of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

Christoffer Johansen, Professor, DMSc, PhD Institute of Cancer Epidemiology, Danish Cancer Society, Copenhagen, Denmark

Peter Vedsted, Adjunct Professor, PhD Research Centre for Cancer Diagnosis in Primary Care, Research Unit for General Practice, University of Aarhus, Denmark

Opponents

Financial Support

Novo Nordisk Foundation, Danish Cancer Society, Danish Health Insurance Foundation and University of Southern Denmark

Preface

In 2006 just after finishing my internship as a medical doctor, I was employed for a year at a clinical ward for cancer patients. That year left me with so many impressions from the patients, which I could not forget. Although only watching from the sideline, I felt how the cancer disease threatened not only life and physical functioning, but also so many other aspects, including social, emotional and existential issues. I could ask about the patients' concerns and offer to listen to them, but I often wondered how they could be helped in the most optimal way, and to where they could be referred for additional help. Although some rehabilitation initiatives existed and were used to the extent possible, cancer rehabilitation was not yet an integrated part of cancer care. Thus, my interest for research in different aspects of cancer patients' trajectory grew. In the years 2007 to 2013 I was allowed to pursue this interest, since I was engaged for a PhD project at the Research Unit of General Practice in Odense, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark.

First, I wish to express my gratitude to all of my supervisors, who helped me design and carry through this PhD study. I wish to thank Professor Jens Søndergaard, my main supervisor, who said yes to join the project at a critical moment in the planning phase, for his never failing optimism (no matter how dark I felt things were), his enthusiasm in discussing all clinical aspects that could explain our findings in the study, and for helpful feedback on many draft articles. Also thanks for fruitful talks on career opportunities and on children being sick and steeling your sleep at night. I also wish to thank Associate Professor, Dorte Gilså Hansen (project supervisor), for her commitment to the project, and for many fruitful discussions on cancer rehabilitation and the whole research area surrounding it. Furthermore, for thorough, constructive and always timely criticism of many article drafts. I wish to thank my two external supervisors, Professor Peter Vedsted and Professor Christoffer Johansen, for many e-mail correspondences with opinions on and competent comments of numerous article drafts. Thanks to the two statisticians that were involved in the project, Pia Veldt Larsen in the first two articles and René dePont Chistensen in the third article, for their enormous patience in introducing me to STATA, help with many do-files and invaluable discussions on statistics. I owe a special thanks to Professor Jakob Kragstrup for engaging me to the project, for always believing that I could do it and encouraging me to move forward, and for stepping in whenever I was in need of his special gift of seeing a common thread in everything.

Secondly, I wish to thank Secretary Lise Keller Stark for her competent proofreading and comments on language of all manuscripts, and for warm and motherly support throughout the years. I also wish to thank Secretary Susanne Døssing Berntsen, for her positive approach and invaluable help with so many technical problems at all times. Thank you to Associate Professor Dorte Eg Jarbøl for always asking and caring about my well-being. Thank you to Maja Skov Paulsen, MD, PhD, for always meeting me with a smile when I was in need of her help with all sorts of questions on socioeconomics and problems with STATA.

Thanks to all my fellow PhD students and other colleagues at the Research Unit of General Practice for a stimulating environment, for many formal and not least informal talks and laugher in the coffee breaks. I sure will miss that! Special thanks go to my office companions during the years. Mette Koefoed, who is also my dearest friend, for always being there for me and for given me endless support with the project and private matters, and also for running with me in the woods throughout my second pregnancy at a very leisurely pace. Stinne Holm Bergholdt (aka Strit), who during these years came to be a very dear friend of mine, for many inspiring discussions on cancer rehabilitation, for all the fun and serious talks on life and family, and for an unforgettable conference at the NCRS 2010. Finally, Line Lindahl, the sweetest person who moved into my office in the very last phase of our PhD processes, for 'hanging in there' with me and sharing all frustrations and a lot of fun in this final run-up. And yes, we could (also) do it!

Also thanks to my other friends for supporting me, encouraging me and 'waiting for me'. I am back.

Thank you to Mette Bach Larsen, PhD, from The Research Unit of General Practice in Århus for a close collaboration in relation to the cohort.

I wish to thank my family and family-in-law for supporting us with the children during this phase and for always caring for them. A warm thank you to my parents-in-law for coming over for days at several occasions when we were in need. A special thanks to my mum, who so often has stepped in on so many weekdays with such short notice and with so much care for the children. A special thanks to my dad for all the discussions on oncology and your much valued knowledge on the matter. Thank you to my big brother for always reminding me to pursue what is good for me, and my little brother for helping me with all kind of technical problems at all times.

Finally, I wish to thank my husband Kenneth for always wanting the best for me, and for being willing to do everything to make that happen! Thank you for always believing in me and for managing and enduring so much at home days and nights, and at the same time being so wonderful with our children, throughout the years and in this final critical phase. I love you. May the last words be dedicated to our two children, Joachim and Gustav, who I had while doing my PhD research. I feel so grateful that I had you. Thank you for being my wonderful children. You have already given me so many fantastic moments and are constantly reminding me what is important in life. I love you.

Lise Vilstrup Holm

October 2013

Abbreviations

CCI	Charlson Comorbidity Index
CI	Confidence Interval
CPR	Unique personal identification number
CRS	Civil Registration System
EORTC-QLQ-30	European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30
GP	General Practitioner
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases version 10
LVH	Lise Vilstrup Holm
NRP	National Patient Register
PAS	Patient Administrative System
POMS-SF	Profile Of Mood State – short form questionnaire
SES	Socioeconomic Status
WHO	World Health Organisation

List of papers

This PhD thesis is based on the following three papers:

- I. Participation in cancer rehabilitation and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study.
 Holm LV, Hansen DG, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Larsen PV, Kragstrup J, Søndergaard J. Support Care Cancer 2012; 20:2913-2924
- II. Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation: a population-based cohort study. Holm LV,
 Hansen DG, Larsen PV, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Bergholdt SB, Kragstrup J, Søndergaard J. Acta
 Oncol 2013; 52:410-422
- III. Influence of comorbidity on cancer patients' rehabilitation, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study. Holm LV, Hansen DG, Kragstrup J, Johansen C, Christensen R, Vedsted P, Søndergaard J. (Submitted for publication).

Table of contents

Preface	3
Abbreviations	5
List of papers	б
Background	10
General introduction	
Cancer rehabilitation – definition and theoretical frame	12
Cancer epidemiology in Denmark	13
The Danish health care system	14
Organisation of cancer care and cancer rehabilitation in a Danish context	14
Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation?	16
Influence of comorbidity on cancer rehabilitation?	17
Background at a glance	18
Aims of the thesis	19
Material and methods	20
Setting and design	20
Data sources	20
The Danish Civil Registration System	20
The Patient Administrative System	20
The Danish National Patient Register	21
The Danish Health Service Provider Register	21
Socioeconomic registers	
The patient questionnaire	21
Pilot testing of the patient questionnaire	
Data collection and logistics of the patient questionnaire	23
Study population	23
Outcome variables	26
Needs for rehabilitation	26

Participation in rehabilitation activities
Unmet needs for rehabilitation
Independent variables
Study I
Study II
Study III
Statistical analyses
Ethics
Results
Study I
Study II40
Study III
Discussion
Main findings
Methodological considerations
Study design
Study design
Study design
Study design
Study design. 52 Time of follow-up at 14 months. 53 Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses. 53 Selection bias. 54
Study design. .52 Time of follow-up at 14 months. .53 Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses. .53 Selection bias. .54 Information bias. .55
Study design. 52 Time of follow-up at 14 months. 53 Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses. 53 Selection bias. 54 Information bias. 55 Confounding. 55
Study design.
Study design.52Time of follow-up at 14 months.53Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses.53Selection bias.54Information bias.55Confounding.55Effect modification.55The quality of register data.56
Study design.
Study design52Time of follow-up at 14 months53Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses53Selection bias54Information bias55Confounding55Effect modification55The quality of register data56Patient questionnaire57The Charlson comorbidity index58
Study design.52Time of follow-up at 14 months.53Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses.53Selection bias.54Information bias.55Confounding.55Effect modification.55The quality of register data.56Patient questionnaire.57The Charlson comorbidity index.58Generalisability.59
Study design .52 Time of follow-up at 14 months .53 Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses .53 Selection bias .54 Information bias .55 Confounding .55 Effect modification .55 The quality of register data .56 Patient questionnaire .57 The Charlson comorbidity index .58 Generalisability .59 Discussion of study results .55

Conclusion	64
Implications and perspectives	65
Summary in English	67
Summary in Danish	70
References	72
The papers	91
Appendices	138
Appendix A The 14-month patient questionnaire	139
Appendix B Included cancer diagnoses	155

Background

General introduction

Cancer patients are at risk of experiencing adverse physical and psychosocial consequences of their cancer and its treatment (1-4). With an increasing number of patients treated for or living with cancer, these consequences have become still more apparent. During the past two decades cancer rehabilitation has gone from being a virtually unknown concept to being a field of increasing interest, politically as well among health care professionals (5-8). In order to support the patients in the most optimal way, this has resulted in an increased need for gaining more knowledge of different aspects of cancer patients' rehabilitation course. This PhD project was planned in the years just after the second national cancer plan was published (9), which emphasised that rehabilitation efforts should be evidence-based and provided to all cancer patients based on their individual needs, and furthermore, that knowledge should be obtained about already established rehabilitation offers with the purpose of nationwide implementation. In this PhD project we chose to focus on the aspects of needs for rehabilitation, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs for rehabilitation among cancer patients in a 14-month period after diagnosis, which had previously only been scarcely studied.

Needs for rehabilitation

How to define, implement and organise cancer rehabilitation efforts has also in Denmark become an area of focus, especially within the last decade (9-11). In this regard, the patient perspective and identification of individual rehabilitation needs are considered increasingly important (12). "*Needs*" can be defined as the requirement of some action or resource that is necessary, desirable, or useful to attain optimal well-being (13). Need for rehabilitation is often used synonymously with supportive care needs, with supportive care defined as care "that helps the patients and their family to cope with cancer and treatment of it - from the prediagnosis, through the process of diagnosis and treatment, to cure, continuing illness or death and into bereavement. It helps the patient to maximize the benefits of treatment and to live as well as possible with the effects of the disease. It is given equal priority alongside diagnosis and treatment" (14). Many studies investigating needs have focused on the needs of a particular patient group, for example specific age groups (15-17), in relation to treatment modalities (18-20) or one type of cancer (21-28), often breast cancer (18, 19, 29, 30). However, in comparison fewer studies have assessed the extent of diverse rehabilitation needs of cancer patients across a range of cancer types and have often not distinguished between needs and unmet needs (13, 31, 32). These studies provide insight into the diverse nature of the needs cancer patients may experience, ranging from physical effects of cancer and its treatment to psychosocial consequences such as

anxiety, depression, family-oriented, work-related and financial issues. However, these studies included cancer patients at different times in their cancer trajectory. It has been estimated that up to 70% of newly diagnosed Danish cancer patients may have a need for rehabilitation during a one-year period (33). This estimate was, however, based on register data concerning survival rates and did not include the perceived needs of the cancer patients. To date, there is still insufficient knowledge of the actual number of newly diagnosed cancer patients in need of rehabilitation in a one year period after diagnosis.

Participation in rehabilitation activities

There is an increasing evidence of the beneficial effects of specific exercise interventions aiming to improve different aspects of quality of life and physical capacity among cancer patients (34-36). Multidimensional interventions including both a physical and psychosocial component have suggested that there are more benefits with regard to the physical component (37). In addition, although there is still is a gap in the evidence, psychosocial interventions may have a beneficial effect on mood and quality of life (38, 39). In contrast, little knowledge exists on the extent to which extent cancer patients participate in rehabilitation activities outside such interventions, what types of activities are used, and whether participation is associated with certain patient characteristics. Two cross-sectional studies, including patients with one or a few types of cancers (mainly breast cancer) two or more years after diagnosis, assessed the patients' utilisation of rehabilitation activities. Both studies found that a third of patients had participated in rehabilitation activities, and that participants were more likely to be younger (40, 41). One of the studies also found that participants were of higher socioeconomic status (40), while the other study found no difference (41). Rehabilitation Centre Dallund was founded in 2001 and is the first and only place in Denmark offering 1-week rehabilitation retreats for cancer patients (42, 43). Although all cancer patients can apply for a stay at the centre, younger patients, women and in particular women with breast cancer are overrepresented (42). A research project (FOCARE) evaluating the psychosocial intervention programme at the centre has, furthermore shown that the women participating were generally well-educated and working (43). Overall, there is, however, a lack of knowledge as to whether these findings regarding demographic, socioeconomic and other patients characteristics are related to participation across various diagnoses and offers.

Rehabilitation of cancer patients includes a broad range of activities from the more specialised diseasespecific rehabilitation, e.g. physical therapy aimed at preventing lymphedema for women with breast cancer (44) or pelvic floor exercises for men operated for prostate cancer (45), to the more generalized rehabilitation services relevant for cancer patients across diagnoses, e.g. physical training, and psychosocial, work-related and financial support (46). In Denmark today, the disease specific rehabilitation activities are incorporated in national guidelines for cancer care (47). When this study was designed and carried out, planning and implementation of the more generalised rehabilitation services were only in the making, and as for today, the supply of offers is still varying across the country.

Unmet needs for rehabilitation

Unmet needs can be classified as 'needs that are not addressed and where additional support is required' (48). As previously stated, needs and unmet needs are often used interchangeably. Identification of the unmet needs of cancer patients is, however, equally important in order to develop and refine services to address any gaps in cancer care (49). Furthermore, studies have shown that higher levels of unmet needs are associated with higher levels of psychological distress and poorer quality of life among cancer patients (50-53). 'The Cancer Patient's World', a large Danish study regarding cancer patients' needs and problems (n= 1,490) published in 2006 showed that unmet needs for rehabilitation among cancer patients seemed to be pronounced with regard to a variety of physical, psychological and sexual problems (1, 54). The study concerned patients at different times in the cancer trajectory from a few months and up to ten years after diagnosis. A review assessed studies on unmet needs among patients with one cancer type and in mixed populations according to the time point of the cancer trajectory (48). Compared to the treatment phase, few studies were conducted in the post treatment phase that ranged from 3 months to more than 5 years after treatment, making it difficult to generalise findings. Still, the studies reported high levels of unmet needs in physical, psychosocial and sexual domains (48).

Overall, there is a lack of knowledge on rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs among cancer patients in the first year after diagnoses. In addition, knowledge on factors associated with needs, participation and unmet needs is needed to target rehabilitation efforts.

Cancer rehabilitation – definitions and theoretical frame

WHO defines rehabilitation of people with disabilities as "a process aimed at enabling them to reach and maintain their optimal physical, sensory, intellectual, psychological and social functional levels. Rehabilitation provides disabled people with the tools they need to attain independence and self-determination"(55). With the growing interest in rehabilitation from citizens, healthcare professionals and politicians in Denmark, a national mutual understanding of the concept was needed. Consequently, a Danish definition of rehabilitation was published in a White Paper from 2004 (56): "Rehabilitation is a targeted, temporary process of cooperation between a citizen, relatives and professionals. The aim is that citizens, who have or are at risk of gaining substantial limitations in their physical, psychological and/or social functional

capacity, attain an independent and meaningful life. Rehabilitation is based on the entire life situation of and decisions made by the citizen and consists of coordinated, coherent and knowledge-based efforts". The two definitions are quite similar, both focusing on the individual's functional capacity, where the goal is to achieve or maintain the best possible function. Furthermore, both definitions comprise physical, psychological and social aspects of the functional capacity. Hence, rehabilitation efforts must include a wide continuum of services and supports. A difference between the two definitions is that the White Paper operates with a temporary rehabilitation process, while this is not applied in the definition of the WHO. Both definitions could as such serve as the theoretical frame for this PhD thesis, but because of the absence of the time perspective, the definition of WHO was chosen as the conceptual frame.

Related to the different definitions of rehabilitation is the International Classification of Disability and Health (ICF) (57). The ICF model can be used as a frame to assess an individual's functional capacity and thereby estimate e.g. rehabilitation needs. In the model of ICF the evaluation of the functional capacity is based on interactions between the individual and contextual factors and comprises physical, psychological and social aspects. The ICF is also available in a Danish version (58) and is being used in the settings of municipalities in Denmark related to health care. However, in hospitals and in primary care the tool is at the moment not applied in every day routines. At a national level it has been debated whether the ICF could serve as a frame of reference across sectors in the field of rehabilitation, but no consensus was reached (59). Although many of the considerations in the ICF model were regarded as relevant, it was not applied as a conceptual foundation in this PhD thesis.

Cancer epidemiology in Denmark

Cancer incidence in Denmark has increased during the last decade from 28 187 cases in 2002 to 36 559 in 2011 (60). The most frequent cancer types diagnosed in 2011 were colorectal and lung cancer, each accounting for 12% of all incident cases. Among women, breast cancer was the most frequent type, accounting for 26% of incident cases, followed by colorectal and lung cancer (12% each). Among men, prostate cancer was the most frequent type accounting for 23% of incident cases, and also as among women followed by colorectal and lung cancer (12% each).

In 2011, 246 143 Danish citizens were living with one or more cancer diagnoses compared with 173 166 in 2002 (60). This is partly due to the fact that the age distribution in the population has changed with a larger proportion of elderly, accounting for the majority of cancer incidents. In Denmark, the percentage of people over the age of 65 years has increased from 14.8% to 16.8% over the last decade, and projection of demography predicts that this number will reach almost 25% by 2040 (61). Furthermore, introduction of new

screening programmes as well as improvements in diagnosis and treatment also contribute to the increasing numbers (60). The increase in incidence as well in prevalence is a phenomenon seen not only in Denmark, but worldwide, which has brought the physical, psychological and social consequences that may arise from living with cancer into focus (6). With that development in mind, cancer can more and more be regarded as a chronic disease, and there is a need to look beyond just survival (62). In Denmark, this has been reflected in the shift of focus in the national recommendations for cancer care published within the last ten years. This development is described in detail in the section below concerning organisation of cancer care and cancer rehabilitation in Denmark.

The Danish healthcare system

The Danish healthcare system is primarily tax-funded and based on a strong welfare tradition to ensure all citizens have free and equal access to health care (63). Thus, the vast majority of healthcare services are free of charge for the users including access to general practitioners (GPs), public hospital services and office-based medical specialists. Patient co-payment represents approximately 17% of the total health expenditures, and the two biggest co-payments services are prescription medicines and adult dental care (64). Rehabilitation provided by the hospitals and as part of the municipal health services is also free of charge, and is described in detail in the next section regarding organisation of cancer care and rehabilitation.

Almost the entire Danish population (98%) is listed with a GP (65). Besides being the family doctor, the GP acts as gatekeeper to the more specialised part of the healthcare system. The GPs are independent contractors with the Regional Health Administration and are remunerated on a fee-for-service and capitation basis (64).

The majority of Danish hospitals are owned and managed by the 5 regions (covering a total of 98 municipalities). These public hospitals provide free hospital and emergency treatment. Danish citizens have free choice of hospital regarding diagnosis and treatment, but most patients are treated at hospitals in their own region. Referral to highly specialised treatment outside a patient's region may in some cases be needed. Private hospitals are available, but only deliver 3 % of all hospital services and do not normally undertake cancer treatment (64).

Organisation of cancer care and cancer rehabilitation in a Danish context

Cancer care in Denmark has undergone a large development during the last decade based on recommendations from three national cancer plans. Furthermore, in this period of time, the concept of

rehabilitation has been widely introduced in the political arena and among health care professionals in the hospitals, in general practice and in the municipalities.

In the late nineties it became clear that cancer survival in Denmark was much lower compared to other Nordic countries. Along with a general increase in cancer incidence, primarily accounted for by the growing elderly population, action was needed. Consequently, the first national cancer plan published in 2000 focused mainly on prevention and opportunities for strengthening diagnosis and treatment (66). Rehabilitation of cancer patients was acknowledged as an important aspect to develop in the future, covering physical, psychological, social, work-related and financial issues. However, until then, cancer rehabilitation had mainly consisted of supportive care with pain relievers and antiemetics and a few local offers of physical retraining for women after mastectomy (66).

The second cancer plan in 2005 (9) also had a strong focus on prevention, diagnosis and treatment, and as a consequence the introduction of the so-called 'fast-track cancer packages' with the aim of minimising delays for patients in the diagnostic phase (47). In the second cancer plan was also stated the need for evidence regarding the actual number of Danish cancer patients in need of rehabilitation, and a recommendation of clarification of the different individual rehabilitation needs in order to develop targeted rehabilitation efforts. Furthermore, it was highlighted that there was a need to collect information regarding rehabilitation offers already established.

In 2007, a structural reform reorganised the entire public sector in Denmark (67, 68). The municipalities were given the responsibility for the more generalised rehabilitation of patients with chronic diseases, including cancer. Hospitals were to carry out the more specialised rehabilitation for cancer patients admitted to a hospital. Following this reform and the recommendations regarding rehabilitation given in the second national cancer plan, various rehabilitation initiatives have been introduced in selected municipalities across the country (46). Rehabilitation activities may include physiotherapy, other physical training, counselling by psychologist, dietary advice, counselling by social worker, occupational therapy, patient education and smoking cessation counselling, but the offers vary across the country. Rehabilitation provided by the public healthcare system and the municipalities is free of charge. Cancer patients may also participate in rehabilitation activities outside the public health care system and the municipalities, for example free of charge in the setting of the private patient organisation, the Danish Cancer Society (69), or self-financed at e.g. private physiotherapist, psychologist and alternative practitioners.

In 2010 the third national cancer plan was published (10), emphasising the importance of coherent patient pathways with special focus on areas beyond the diagnosis and treatment phases: prevention, early detection, rehabilitation and palliative care. Recommendations from the third plan included among other things development of national guidelines for rehabilitation. Subsequently, a national care programme regarding

recommendations for organisation of rehabilitation and palliative care has been published and describes the generalised rehabilitation efforts, for which the municipalities and general practice are accountable (70). Guidelines regarding the disease-specific rehabilitation, for which the hospitals are accountable, are now included in above mentioned 'cancer packages' (47).

The national course programme suggested that the hospitals, general practice and the municipalities undertook continuous needs assessments during the cancer patients' trajectory (70). The needs assessment should include physical, psychological, social and existential areas in accordance with WHO's definition of rehabilitation and should be followed up by relevant rehabilitation services. A working group appointed by the Danish Health and Medicines Authority has discussed, whether a single instrument for needs assessment to use across sectors and settings could be identified, but no consensus has been reached (59). At the time being, more research is needed to identify or develop the most appropriate instrument to cover all these areas of needs, to apply in different settings and across sectors at different times in the cancer trajectory. Furthermore, although recommendations regarding cancer rehabilitation are now given in national guidelines, the implementation and efforts are still varying across the country. Thus, from the time this current PhD project was planned and conducted, cancer rehabilitation has become a well-known concept, but the full implementation of efforts and collaboration across sectors still lack behind.

Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation?

Social inequality in health can be described as a systematic relationship between people's social position and their health (71). Social position or socioeconomic status (SES) is not strictly defined, but education, income, occupation are considered key measures (72). Education is a frequently used indicator, as it is easy to measure and can be obtained independently of age or working circumstances. Furthermore, education and knowledge is assumed to reflect a person's awareness and understanding of different health outcomes and may thereby affect the person's choice of lifestyle and health behaviour (72, 73). Furthermore, education provides the basis for future opportunities for occupation and income, although a high education does not necessarily lead to high income and a high occupational standing (74). Occupation indicates social status and also health status, as it reflects the ability to be on the labour market (72). Occupation is strongly related to income, which is the indicator that most directly has an effect on material resources (72). Income can affect health by determining the ability to buy healthy food, to have proper housing conditions, and by giving access to medications and (leisure or health) services that may improve health (72). Income can change rapidly over time, and reverse causality, where people with poor health suffer from a loss of income,

can occur (73). Cohabitation status is a fourth indicator of social position that reflects social support (75). Some of the underlying mechanisms for effect on health outcomes may be a partner's support or encouragement to take part in everything from the diagnostic phase to rehabilitation (76).

A growing inequality in health reflected in mortality rates has been demonstrated since the 1970s in a large number of European countries, including Denmark (77). In Denmark, within the past 25 years inequality in life expectancy at the age of 30 years has more than doubled, when comparing the less educated with the highest educated (78). This is despite the fact that Denmark has extensive welfare policies with equal access to health care irrespective of socioeconomic status (78). Social inequality has been demonstrated with regard to attendance in screening programmes for breast cancer (79), and with regard to cancer incidence and survival across several cancer sites (80). Among Danish heart patients attending cardiac rehabilitation, low participation is associated with living alone and having a low education or income (81, 82). We hypothesised that a social gradient would also be present in cancer rehabilitation with regard to expression of needs, participation in activities and unmet needs for rehabilitation.

Influence of comorbidity on cancer rehabilitation?

Comorbidity is defined as the presence of one or more additional diseases in a patient with an index disease (83). The number of comorbidities increases with increasing age (84). With the improvement of cancer care and the ageing of the population, rehabilitation of older cancer patients will become increasingly relevant (7, 85, 86). Numerous studies have shown that comorbidity increases overall and cancer-specific survival across different cancer sites (87-92). In subpopulations of cancer survivors, comorbidity is found to be associated with poorer quality of life (93-95), more somatic symptoms and decreased physical function (96, 97). A recent review pointed out that there is a lack of studies assessing the influence of comorbidity on the level of unmet needs for rehabilitation (98). We hypothesised that comorbidity would be positively associated with expression of needs and unmet needs, and inversely associated with participation in rehabilitation activities.

Background at a glance

- The growing number of cancer patients treated for or living with cancer has increased focus on the possible physical, psychological and social consequences of cancer and its treatment
- Cancer rehabilitation has become a field of increasing interest among politicians and health care professionals, and in guidelines rehabilitation efforts is recommended on equal terms with usual cancer care
- Cancer rehabilitation services include a range of activities from physical, psychological to workrelated and financial support
- The evidence for the extent of newly diagnosed cancer patients in need of rehabilitation during a one-year period is scarce
- There is a lack of studies examining the extent to which cancer patients participate in rehabilitation activities, and what kind of activities are used
- Unmet needs for rehabilitation seem to be pronounced for physical, psychological, social and sexual problems, but this has not been studied in a large cohort of newly diagnosed cancer patients in a one-year period
- Patient-related factors like age, gender, cancer type, socioeconomic factors and comorbidities may influence cancer patients' needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs for rehabilitation

Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis is to analyse the extent to which cancer patients express rehabilitation needs, participate in rehabilitation activities and have unmet rehabilitation needs in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis. Furthermore, to assess if specific patient characteristics are associated with rehabilitation with regard to needs, participation and unmet needs.

The more detailed aims are the following:

- To assess the extent to which cancer patients express rehabilitation needs, participate in rehabilitation activities and have unmet rehabilitation needs in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis and to assess if age, gender and cancer diagnosis are associated with these outcomes (Article 1)
- 2. To assess whether there are associations between socioeconomic factors including education, income, labour market affiliation, cohabitation status and cancer patients' rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet rehabilitation needs in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis (Article 2).
- 3. To assess whether there are associations between comorbidity status and cancer patients' rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet rehabilitation needs in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis (Article 3).

Material and methods

Setting and design

The study was designed as a population-based cohort study and conducted among incident cancer patients, apart from patients with non-melanoma skin cancer, diagnosed in the period from 1 October 2007 to 30 September 2008 in the Regions of Southern and Central Denmark. The two regions (out of five) have approx. 2.4 million residents corresponding to 44% of the Danish population (99) and approx. 15,000 new cancer cases per year (100). Patients were included into the study based on administrative hospital-based data, and information about rehabilitation issues was obtained from a patient questionnaire administered 14 months after diagnosis. Survey data were combined with register data to obtain information on patient characteristics, including SES and comorbidity.

Data sources

The Danish Civil Registration System

All Danish residents are assigned a unique personal identification number (CPR-number) and are registered for administrative purposes in the Danish Civil Registration System (101). Since 1968, the Civil Registration System has contained information on name, gender, date of birth, citizenship and identity of parents of each individual. Furthermore, the system is continuously updated with regard to each individual's vital status, full address and marital status. The unique CPR number assigned to each individual enables linkage of data between all national Danish registers (102).

The Patient Administrative System

The Patient Administrative System (PAS) is a regional system registering administrative information on hospital activities (103). All hospital contacts are registered and each record includes the patient's CPR number and information on e.g. date of admission and discharge, diagnosis classified according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10), codes for undertaken procedures, the GP's provider number and various other codes. Of particular relevance for the sampling procedure used in this study is the additional code AZCA-1, which is a code required by law when a cancer diagnosis is reported for the first time (104). The PAS of each region collects data to the National Patient Register (NPR), and all hospitals are obliged to report to the NPR for the previous month by the 10th of each month (103). All data registration in the PAS is made in accordance with national guidelines (104).

The Danish National Patient Register

The National Patient Register (NPR) gathers information from all five regional PAS, although not all information from PAS is transferred, e.g. the GP provider number. The NPR is run by the Danish Health and Medicines Authority, who performs ongoing validation of the data from PAS, and thus both systems are continuously updated. Since 1977 all hospital admissions have been registered, and from 1995 onwards, all outpatient visits and emergency room contacts have been included. Each record includes the patient's CPR number, date of admission or contact, identification of hospital ward and diagnostic and procedure codes (105).

The Danish National Health Service Provider Register

This register contains information on every health contractor in primary care in Denmark (106). Information is based on the health professionals' invoices to the regional health administrations. Among others, the register contains names and addresses of every provider number, assigned to each practice. A provider number may refer to several providers, if several GPs form a medical practice partnership.

Socioeconomic registers

Statistics Denmark has a vast number of registers containing socioeconomic and demographic information at an individual level for the entire Danish population (102). The data are collected for statistical and scientific purposes and obtained from administrative registries, such as the Tax and Customs register and educational institutions, and are updated annually. Data on highest attained education was obtained from the Population's Education Register (PER) (107), income was obtained from the E-income register (108), labour market affiliation was obtained from the Employment Classification Module (109) and cohabitation status from the E-family register.

The patient questionnaire

The patient questionnaire comprised 171 items (Appendix A) and was designed to give information on various aspects of cancer rehabilitation for different research projects. The questionnaire was developed in a research group with researchers in the field of cancer rehabilitation. Dr. Stinne Holm Bergholdt from the Research Unit of General Practice in Odense conducted a randomised controlled trial evaluating the general practitioner's role in cancer rehabilitation among newly diagnosed cancer patients at Vejle Hospital (110) at

the same time, as this project was carried out. Since there was overlap between study cohorts, construction of items and administration of questionnaires were coordinated.

The study was conducted with the intention to analyse different aspects of the rehabilitation process including rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs and to assess different dimensions of these aspects. Before designing the questionnaire, a theoretical basis regarding common needs and problems among cancer patients was established through review of papers, reports and books (1, 2, 4, 5, 9, 13, 22, 23, 28, 31, 40, 41, 56, 66, 111-130). This literature review formed the basis of establishing the different dimensions regarding needs and unmet needs, i.e. physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial. The list of rehabilitation activities was guided by activities present in the municipalities, as well as activities provided to resident by the Danish Cancer Society (69).

Several validated questionnaires regarding cancer patients' needs assessment and quality of life were considered (131-136), but none of them were found to cover all these different aspects and dimensions. Ad hoc questions were therefore formulated based on the literature and previously used questions within the research area (1, 137), keeping WHO's definition of rehabilitation in mind. Different approaches to defining, operationalisation and measuring of needs exist (1, 138). One approach is to ask the patient if he/she experiences something as a problem (139). Another approach is to ask the patient if a matter is essential to him/her (127). These approaches can, however, not reveal if the patient wishes to be helped with the problem or the essential matter. A third approach is to ask the patient is he/she needs (additional) support or help, or simply if he/she has a need (140). Elements from all three approaches are considered to supplement each other (1), and were included when formulating the questions regarding needs and unmet needs. In each dimension several 'guiding' questions were asked before 'the study-specific' question regarding need or unmet need in that area. For example, in the emotional dimension, 'guiding' questions were asked concerning feelings about depression, fear of death, guilt feelings about being sick, troubles adjusting to new self-image and concerns about well-being of relatives, before the question regarding 'need for professional help' was asked. The term 'professional' was used in order to distinguish from help received from persons other than professionals, e.g. spouse, other relatives or friends.

The questionnaire further comprised five validated instruments including the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire C30 (EORTC-QLQ-30) (131), the Profile Of Mood State-Short Form (POMS-SF) (133), the Danish Patients Evaluate Practice Care (Dan-PEP) (141), the Multidimensional Health Locus of Control (MHLC) scale (142) and part of the FACIT-sp. questionnaire concerning religious and spiritual beliefs (143), and furthermore ad hoc questions regarding social support, satisfaction with the healthcare system in general and the general practitioner in particular, but none of those were used in this thesis.

Pilot testing of the patient questionnaire

The patient questionnaire was pilot tested and revised through a three-step procedure. First, researchers active in the field of rehabilitation were asked to comment on content, layout, volume and intelligibility of the draft. Secondly, a qualitative pilot test was performed by LVH at the oncological ward at Odense University Hospital. Ten cancer patients (diagnoses breast cancer, malignant melanoma and head and neck cancer, age 48-85 years, half of them women) were observed filling in the questionnaire and subsequently interviewed using a semi-structured approach (144) focusing on content, layout, volume and intelligibility. This qualitative pilot test showed that the distinction between having a need and an unmet need was not understood by all patients. Consequently, the questions regarding needs and unmet needs were placed in separate sections with guiding texts elaborating each of the issues. Finally, the last pilot test included 100 cancer patients treated at the oncological ward at Odense University Hospital, who were asked to fill in a mailed version, enabling us to examine discrimination and acceptability. The overall participation rate in this pilot study was 75%, and subsequent revisions primarily consisted of changes in the phrasing of a few questions to avoid ceiling effects.

Data collection and logistics of the patient questionnaire

Distribution of questionnaires, reminders to non-respondents after three weeks and entry of data from returned questionnaires were handled by the Public Health and Quality Improvement unit at the Central Denmark Region. The returned questionnaires were scanned at this unit, converted into a dataset and transferred to the statistical program Stata Release 11 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Study population

The study cohort was sampled for several PhD projects, and the sampling procedure and the questionnaires used in this process were developed at the Research Unit of General Practice in Aarhus before study start of this PhD project (145, 146). The sampling algorithm used to identify incident cancer patients from PAS in the Regions of Southern and Central Denmark was developed based on advice from an expert panel (145).

From the regional hospitals Patient Administrative Systems information was obtained on adult patients (18+ years) diagnosed with cancer during the study period (See Appendix B for list of included cancer diagnoses), assigned the registration code 'AZCA1' specifying that the cancer was reported for the first time, and listed with a GP in the one of the two regions.

Patients were sampled on the 15th of each month, and data on all patients registered during the preceding month were collected. Patients with prior cancer were excluded based on a list of cancer cases from 1994 to 2007 extracted from the NPR. This list was updated monthly by adding the sampled patients. Following identification by the administrative sampling procedure, GP addresses were identified using the Health Services Registry, and each patient's GP was mailed a questionnaire to confirm that a cancer was diagnosed. As mentioned above, this cohort of incident cancer patients was established for several research projects, and six months following date of diagnoses patients were mailed a questionnaire, which included a request for them to confirm that they had cancer for the first time and giving them the possibility of declining the use of information provided by their GP. Prior to distribution of the 14-month patient questionnaires used in the present PhD project, vital status and postal addresses were updated by linkage to the Civil Registration System. All letters included the questionnaire and a prepaid envelope.

Figure 1 Overall sampling procedure



After the sampling period it became clear that the initial sampling algorithm had been incomplete, since fewer patients than expected had been included (146). Two main reasons for this were identified: firstly, some patients were registered later than one month after their diagnosis and were therefore missed because the algorithm only sampled one month back. Secondly, the AZCA1 code was not used consistently for all incident cancer patients, even though it is mandatory. Thus, eligible patients lacking the AZCA1 code were not included. To ensure that all incident cancer patients were identified, an additional sampling was done in October 2009, referred to as sample 2 (patients were excluded from sample 2 if already included in the study cohort) (146). At that time distribution of the 14-month patient questionnaires to the primarily included patients (referred to as sample 1) were, however, almost completed. Therefore it was decided not to send out questionnaires to patients sampled in the second round, as data collection would be up to two years after their cancer diagnosis. The total sample of patients thus consists of sample 1 and sample 2. Patient characteristics in the two samples are shown in Table 2 under Results.

Outcome variables

The outcome variables used in all three studies were *Needs for rehabilitation yes/no*, *Participation in rehabilitation activities yes/no* and *Unmet needs for rehabilitation yes/no*. Each outcome variable included different subcategories, described in detail below. Information regarding these outcomes was collected from the 14-month patient questionnaires (Appendix A).

Needs for rehabilitation

"Need for rehabilitation" during the 14-month period was asked for similarly in each of six dimensions, including "physical", "emotional", "family-oriented", "sexual", "work-related" and "financial".

As an example, in the physical dimension the following question was asked:

To what extent from diagnosis and until now have you needed professional help with physical problems? ("not at all", to a small extent", "to some extent" and "to a great extent").

The variable "At least one rehabilitation need" is an expression of having at least one rehabilitation need in one of the six above-mentioned dimensions and was constructed based on answers in these categories.

Participation in rehabilitation activities

"Participation in rehabilitation activities" during the 14-month period was assessed by asking:

Have you from diagnosis and until now participated in any of the following activities due to problems caused by your cancer disease? (listing of possible providers/activities).

Three categories of activities were defined based on the profession of the provider/activity: 1) "Physical activities" (physiotherapist, occupational therapist, chiropractor, patient education, smoking cessation counselling, nutritional information, physical training and alternative practitioner including acupuncturist and reflexologist), 2) "Psychological activities" (psychologist, marriage counsellor or sexologist, supportive group sessions or patient associations and spiritual counselling), and 3) "Work-related/financial activities" (social worker, union representative or employer, financial or insurance counsellor).

The variable "Participation in at least one activity" is an expression of participation in at least one of the three above-mentioned categories.

Unmet needs for rehabilitation

"Unmet rehabilitation needs" during the 14-month period were asked for similarly in each of six dimensions, including "physical", "emotional", "family-oriented", "sexual", "work-related" and "financial".

As an example in the physical dimension the following question was asked:

Until now, to what extent have you had your needs fulfilled in terms of help with physical problems? ("not at all", "to a small extent", "to some extent", "to a great extent" and "not relevant").

Patients were categorised as having an "unmet need", if they had expressed a "need for rehabilitation" during the 14-month period and the need to some extent was not fulfilled after the 14 months.

The variable "At least one unmet rehabilitation need" is an expression of having at least one unmet need for rehabilitation in one of the six above-mentioned dimensions and was constructed based on answers in these categories.

Independent variables

Study I

Information on age at time of diagnosis, gender and cancer diagnosis for each individual was extracted from PAS. Age was categorised into the following categories: 18-39 years, 40-49 years, 50-59 years, 60-69 years, 70-79 years and 80+ years. The cancers were categorised into breast, prostate, colorectal, gynecological, malignant melanoma, lung, lymphoma, head and neck and other cancers based on ICD-10 codes (See Appendix B for ICD-10 codes).

Study II

On an individual level highest attained education in the year 2006 was extracted from the Personal Education Register in Statistics Denmark. Information on highest attained education in the register is based on administrative records from all Danish educational institutions. An eight-digit code defines the educational level, where the two first digits define the main education group: 10 primary care school, 15 lower secondary school, 20 upper secondary school, 25 basic vocational training, 35 vocational training with trade certificate, 40 higher education (short length), 50 higher education (medium length), 60 higher education (bachelor), 65 higher education (beyond bachelor), 70 PhD degree. We categorised highest attained education into three categories: <10 years (primary and lower secondary school), 10-12 years (vocational training and upper secondary school), >12 years (higher education).

Information on income was extracted from the E-income register in Statistics Denmark. Equivalent disposable income was used as a measure of each individual's economic capacity and is defined as the entire household income after taxation, adjusted for number of persons in the household (the first adult counts as 1, the following individuals over 15 years count as 0.5, children under 15 years count as 0.3). Disposable income was calculated on the basis of the five-year average income of respondents (2002-2006) and categorised as low (first quartile), medium (second and third quartile) and high (fourth quartile).

Labour market affiliation was extracted for the year 2006 from the Employment Classification Module (AKM) in Statistics Denmark. For each year each person is categorised according to his/her main source of income. We categorised our cohort into three groups: working (employed or enrolled in an educational programme), pensioners (early-retirement pension or old-age pension) or outside the workforce (unemployed, receiving social security and disability pension).

Cohabitation status in 2006 was extracted from the E-family register in Statistics Denmark. The following codes are used to register cohabitation status: 1 married, 2 registered partnership, 3 living together and

28

parents to one or more children in the household, 4 two adults of the opposite sex, not related, living together with less than a 15-year age difference, 5 living alone. We categorised cohabitation status as married/cohabiting (codes 1-4) or living alone (code 5).

Study III

Information was based on all in- and outpatient hospitals contacts extracted from the NPR from 1994 and until date of cancer diagnosis for each individual. Comorbidity was classified according to the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) (147). The CCI provides an overall score for comorbidity based on a weighted score from 1 to 6 assigned to 19 selected conditions. On the basis of the accumulated sum of scores, the comorbidity index was grouped into scores as CCI 0 (no comorbidity), CCI 1 (mild comorbidity) and CCI \geq 2 (moderate to severe comorbidity). As our study population included only patients with first primary cancers, no cancers are included in the index (148).

Statistical analyses

Patient characteristics in all the three studies are described by categorical variables and reported using number and percentages (%).

 X^2 - tests were conducted to test the difference between respondents and non-respondents with regard to sex, age, diagnosis, socioeconomic variables and comorbidity status. All potentially eligible patients were due to administrative errors not invited for this study. Therefore X^2 - tests were also conducted to in order to test the differences between these two groups.

All three outcome variables were treated as binary outcomes. Need for rehabilitation was dichotomised into "no need" ("not at all") and "need" (combining "to a small extent", "to some extent" and "to a great extent"), and similarly, unmet need was dichotomised into "unmet need" and "no unmet need". For analyses regarding 'unmet rehabilitation needs' only patients expressing a 'need for rehabilitation' were included. Answers in the "not relevant" category were excluded from analyses. Participation in rehabilitation activities was defined as yes/no.

In Study I we tested for interactions between age and gender for each of the three outcome variables using multiple logistic regression. In Study II interactions between socioeconomic variables and sex, age groups (< 60 years and \geq 60 years) and cancer type (breast, prostate, colo-rectal) were assessed through stratified analyses. These stratified analyses were carried out because we suspected that different effects of education, income, labour market affiliation and cohabitation status could occur for patients with different cancer types, age groups and sex. The age groups were divided into +/- 60 years because our group of pensioners was

29

defined as a mix of early-retirement and old- age pensioners, and early retirement pension is available from the age of 60 years. Similarly, in Study III interactions between comorbidity status and sex, age groups (< 65 years and \geq 65 years) and cancer type (breast, prostate, colo-rectal and the remaining cancers in one group) were assessed through stratified analyses, because we suspected different effects of comorbidity in the different groups. Here the age groups were divided into +/- 65 years, because different effects of symptom burden among cancer survivors have been demonstrated in the different age groups (149).

Logistic regression models were used to calculate crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) between independent variables and the outcome variables for rehabilitation (i.e. needs, participation and unmet needs). In Studies I and II we adjusted for age, gender and cancer type in the multiple regression analyses. In Study III, besides adjusting for age, gender and cancer diagnosis in our main model, we explored the confounding effect of socioeconomic factors in a secondary model by further adjusting for socioeconomic factors. Socioeconomic factors included education, income, labour market affiliation and cohabitation status, and were entered into the model separately. This secondary model was only carried out for analyses regarding the whole cohort and not the stratified analyses.

All tests were two-sided and p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Analyses were performed using Stata Release 11 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Ethics

According to the "The Act on Research Ethics Review of Health Research Projects in Denmark" only questionnaire surveys and register research projects involving biological material require notification to the research ethics committee. Therefore, the research ethics committee has not been contacted. The study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency (J. no. 2008-41-1887).

Results

Of the 4,947 patients eligible at 14 months, 3,439 returned the questionnaire (70%) (Figure 2). Table 1 shows patient characteristics including sex, age, cancer diagnosis, socioeconomic variables and comorbidity status and illustrates that there are statistically significant differences between respondents and non-respondents with regard to all variables included. In the group of respondents, women, age 60-69 years, patients with breast cancer, patients cohabiting/married, patients who were working, patients with a higher education and income and patients with no comorbidity were overrepresented.

Table 2 shows differences between patients in sample 1 (patients identified by the primary sampling algorithm and thus eligible for inclusion into the study) and sample 2 (patients missed by the primary sampling algorithm and thus not eligible for inclusion into the study). More patients in sample 1 were women, had breast cancer, were younger, of higher SES and without comorbidity.



Figure 2 Inclusion of patients into the study

Respondents	Non-respondents	
n (%)	n (%)	P ^a
3,439 (69.5)	1,508 (30.5)	

Sex			0.003
Men	1466 (42.6)	712 (47.2)	
Women	1973 (57.4)	796 (52.8)	
	. ,	. ,	
Age (years)			<0.001
18-39	152 (4.4)	118 (7.8)	
40-49	331 (9.6)	154 (10.2)	
50-59	660 (19.2)	292 (19.4)	
60-69	1,263 (36.8)	419 (27.8)	
70-79	802 (23.3)	338 (22.4)	
80+	231 (6.7)	187 (12.4)	
	- (-)		
Cancer diagnosis			<0.001
Breast	976 (28.4)	314 (20.8)	
Prostate	501 (14.6)	179 (11.9)	
Colo-rectal	522 (15.2)	213 (14.1)	
Gyneacological	230 (6.7)	102 (6.8)	
Malignant melanoma	233 (6.8)	120 (7.9)	
Lung	188 (5.5)	113 (7.5)	
Lymphoma	104 (3.0)	44 (2.9)	
Head and neck	125 (3.6)	81 (5.4)	
Other	560 (16.2)	342 (22.7)	
other	500 (10.2)	542 (22.7)	
Cohabitation status*			<0.001
Cohabiting/married	2574 (75.1)	977 (65.6)	
Living alone	854 (24.9)	513 (34.4)	
-			
Highest attained education*			<0.001
<10 years	1284 (38.3)	639 (45.1)	
10-12 years	1305 (38.9)	546 (38.6)	
>12 years	763 (22.8)	230 (16.3)	
Income*			<0.001
Low (1 st quartile)	858 (25 A)	557 (27 2)	<0.001
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	858 (25.0)	557 (37.3)	
High (4 th quartile)	1717 (50.0) 858 (25.0)	661 (44.3) 275 (18.4)	
High (4 quartile)	858 (25.0)	275 (18.4)	
Labour market status*			<0.001
Working	1527 (45.2)	604 (41.2)	
Pensioners	1565 (46.4)	690 (47.1)	
Outside the workforce	283 (8.4)	172 (11.7)	
		• •	
Charlson Comorbidity Index**			<0.001
0	2,685 (78.1)	1,071 (71.4)	
1	516 (15.0)	271 (18.0)	
<u>></u> 2	236 (6.9)	160 (10.6)	

*Percentage of missing data between 0.4-3.6 % **Data on comorbidity were missing for two persons ^aX² test

		·	
	Commis 1	Comple 2	
	Sample 1	Sample 2	P ^a
	n (%) 7,986 (62.7)	n (%) 4,761 (37.3)	P
	7,980 (02.7)	4,701 (37.3)	
Sex			<0.001
Men	3,839 (48.1)	2,555 (53.7)	
Women	4,147 (51.9)	2,206 (46.3)	
Age (years)			<0.001
18-39	331 (4.1)	182 (3.8)	
40-49	662 (7.8)	261 (5.5)	
50-59	1,353 (16.9)	634 (13.3)	
60-69	2,538 (31.8)	1,235 (25.9)	
70-79	2,080 (26.1)	1,372 (28.8)	
80+	1,062 (13.1)	1,077 (22.6)	
	,	· · · ·	
Cancer diagnosis	1 512 (10 0)		<0.001
Breast	1,513 (18.9)	465 (9.8)	
Prostate	1,021 (12.8)	684 (14.4)	
Colo-rectal	1,064 (13.3)	548 (11.5)	
Gyneacological	453 (5.6)	248 (5.2)	
Malignant melanoma	407 (5.1)	203 (4.3)	
Lung	902 (11.3)	591 (12.4)	
Lymphoma	222 (2.8)	159 (3.3)	
Head and neck	278 (3.5)	106 (2.2)	
Other	2,126 (26.6)	1,757 (36.9)	
Cohabitation status*			<0.001
Cohabiting/married	5,455 (68.7)	3,039 (64.1)	
Living alone	2,490 (31.3)	1,699 (35.9)	
Highest attained education*			<0.001
Highest attained education*	2 222 (42 0)	2 002 (47 4)	<0.001
<10 years	3,333 (43.9)	2,093 (47.4)	
10-12 years	2,855 (37.6)	1,616 (36.6)	
>12 years	1,408 (18.5)	230 (16.0)	
Income*			<0.001
Low (1 st quartile)	2,654 (33.4)	1,938 (40.8)	
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	3,786 (47.6)	2,129 (44.9)	
High (4 th quartile)	1,515 (19.0)	680 (14.3)	
Labour market status*			<0.001
Working	2,878 (36.7)	1,300 (27.7)	
Pensioners	4,208 (53.7)	2,974 (63.3)	
Outside the workforce	751 (9.6)	424 (9.03)	
Charleon Comorhidity Indo:**			<0.001
Charlson Comorbidity Index**		2 271 (60 7)	<0.001
0	5,938 (74.4)	3,271 (68.7)	
1	1,408 (17.6)	966 (20.3)	
<u>></u> 2	639 (8.0)	524 (11.0)	

 Table 2 Medical and socio-demographic differences between patients included in Sample 1 and Sample 2

*Percentage of missing data between 0.4-3.6 % **Data on comorbidity were missing for two persons ^aX² test

Study I

Need for rehabilitation

Need for physical and psychological rehabilitation was most frequently reported (32% and 31%, respectively) followed by a work-related need (20%), a need in the sexual area (17%), a need in the family-oriented area (14%) and finally, a need in the financial area (13%) (Table 3). Overall, higher age reduced the odds of expressing a need for rehabilitation. Women were more likely to express a rehabilitation need in the emotional, physical, family-oriented and work-related areas compared to men. When compared to patients with breast cancer, patients with malignant melanoma generally had reduced odds of expressing needs, while patients with lung cancer had increased odds in several areas.

Participation in rehabilitation activities

Overall, 52% had participated in at least one rehabilitation activity. Physical activities were used by 42%, psychological by 17% and work-related/financial by 12% (Table 4). The single most used activity was physiotherapy (31%), followed by physical training (15%), psychologist (11%), dietician (10%), alternative practitioner (7%) and social worker (6%) (data not shown). Women were more likely to participate in physical activities compared to men, while no sex difference was observed with regard to work-related/financial activities. The oldest patients were less likely to participate in activities. Patients with breast cancer had increased odds of participating in physical activities compared with other cancer patients.

Unmet needs for rehabilitation

Among patients who had expressed a need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period, unmet needs were most common for sexual problems (50%) and least common for physical problems (17%) (Table 5). Financial issues were still unsolved for one third. Men were more likely to have emotional unmet needs than women, and higher age increased the odds of unmet needs in all areas, except for physical and financial problems. Compared with patients with breast cancer, patients with colorectal, gynecological and head and neck cancers had increased odds of having unmet needs for physical rehabilitation. Patients with malignant melanoma were more likely to have emotionally unmet needs compared with patients with breast cancer.

		Physical a n=3,24			Emotional n=3,254			Family-orier n=3,2			Sexual ar n=3,19		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	Men n=1,366 ORadj ^b (95% CI)	Women n=1,829 ORadj ^b (95% CI)
Needs, total	1,028 (31.7)	-	-	997 (30.6)	-	-	453 (13.9)	-	-	529 (16.6)	-	-	-
Sex Men Women	352 (25.4) 676 (36.5)	1.00 1.69**	1.00 1.36** (1.01-1.70)	327 (23.5) 670 (35.9)	1.00 1.82**	1.00 1.72** (1.37-2.17)	145 (10.4) 308 (16.6)	1.00 1.70**	1.00 1.40* (1.04-1.88)	308 (22.5) 221 (12.1)	1.00 0.47**	-	-
Age (years) 18-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80+	54 (36.0) 149 (46.4) 263 (41.3) 339 (27.8) 172 (23.6) 51 (27.4)	1.00 1.54* 1.25 0.68* 0.55** 0.67	1.00 1.35 (0.90-2.03) 1.13 (0.77-1.65) 0.63* (0.43-0.91) 0.53** (0.36-0.78) 0.64 (0.39-1.03)	82 (54.3) 176 (53.8) 279 (43.8) 304 (25.0) 125 (17.0) 31 (16.4)	1.00 0.98 0.66* 0.28** 0.17** 0.17**	1.00 0.86 (0.57-1.28) 0.59** (0.40-0.85) 0.25** (0.17-0.36) 0.16** (0.11-0.24) 0.15** (0.09-0.26)	47 (31.3) 96 (29.3) 135 (21.2) 117 (9.6) 48 (6.6) 10 (5.3)	1.00 0.91 0.59** 0.23** 0.15** 0.12**	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00\\ 0.82\ (0.53\text{-}1.27)\\ 0.55^{**}\ (0.36\text{-}0.83)\\ 0.22^{**}\ (0.14\text{-}0.33)\\ 0.15^{**}\ (0.09\text{-}0.24)\\ 0.12^{**}\ (0.06\text{-}0.25) \end{array}$	34 (22.5) 77 (23.7) 133 (21.0) 203 (17.0) 69 (9.7) 13 (7.1)	1.00 1.07 0.91 0.71 0.37** 0.26**	1.00 0.83 (0.35-2.02) 0.93 (0.43-1.99) 0.72 (0.34-1.51) 0.33** (0.15-0.72) 0.26** (0.10-0.69)	1.00 0.91 (0.51-1.62) 0.61 (0.35-1.06) $0.25^{**} (0.14-0.44)$ $0.04^{**} (0.01-0.11)$ $0.06^{**} (0.01-0.26)$
Cancer diagnosis Breast Prostate Colorectal Gynecological Malignant melanoma Lung Lymphoma Head and neck Other	367 (39.5) 96 (20.7) 142 (29.0) 69 (31.9) 49 (22.4) 71 (39.7) 35 (34.3) 32 (26.9) 167 (31.9)	1.00 0.40** 0.62** 0.72* 0.44** 1.01 0.80 0.56** 0.72**	1.00 0.70* (0.50-0.99) 0.84 (0.65-1.10) 0.72* (0.52-0.99) 0.48** (0.33-0.68) 1.43* (1.01-2.04) 0.92 (0.59-1.44) 0.69 (0.43-1.09) 0.92 (0.70-1.20)	338 (36.2) 89 (19.1) 109 (22.2) 79 (36.1) 51 (23.2) 70 (39.3) 49 (48.0) 39 (33.3) 173 (32.9)	1.00 0.42** 0.51* 0.99 0.53** 1.14 1.63* 0.88 0.87	1.00 1.16 (0.80-1.66) 0.88 (0.66-1.18) 1.00 (0.72-1.38) 0.52** (0.35-0.75) 2.19** (1.52-3.16) 2.24 **(1.42-3.51) 1.29 (0.82-2.04) 1.29 (0.98-1.70)	152 (16.3) 30 (6.4) 50 (10.2) 43 (19.6) 19 (8.6) 28 (15.6) 24 (23.8) 15 (12.9) 92 (17.6)	1.00 0.35** 0.58** 1.25 0.49** 0.95 1.60 0.76 1.09	1.00 0.85 (0.51-1.43) 0.96 (0.66-1.41) 1.25 (0.85-1.85) $0.43^* (0.25-0.73)$ $1.65^* (1.03-2.66)$ $1.90^* (1.12-3.23)$ 0.97 (0.52-1.80) $1.42^* (1.01-2.02)$	111 (12.1) 159 (34.3) 68 (14.2) 41 (19.1) 16 (7.3) 27 (15.7) 15 (15.0) 12 (10.4) 80 (15.4)	1.00 3.79** 1.20 1.71** 0.57* 1.35 1.28 0.84 1.32	- 2.44** (1.67-3.56) 1.00 - 0.34** (0.15-0.75) 0.99 (0.53-1.84) 0.87 (0.40-1.87) 0.31** (0.13-0.72) 0.81 (0.52-1.25)	1.00 - 1.11 (0.65-1.89) 1.83** (1.21-2.77) 0.34** (0.16-0.75) 1.53 (0.74-3.16) 0.76 (0.29-2.02) 1.49 (0.54-4.11) 1.07 (0.64-1.78)

Table 3 Needs for rehabilitation during 14 months following time of diagnosis. For each area (physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial) number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to sex, age and cancer diagnosis

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

^bAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05

**p<0.01

Table 3 (Continued)

	Work-related area n=1,276			Financial area n=1,895		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Needs, total	252 (19.8)	-	-	257 (13.4)	-	-
Sex						
Men	77 (14.3)	1.00	1.00	118 (13.8)	1.00	1.00
Women	175 (23.7)	1.87**	1.55* (1.01-2.39)	139 (13.4)	0.97	0.86 (0.60-1.25)
Age (years)						
18-39	23 (22.3)	1.00	1.00	20 (16.7)	1.00	1.00
40-49	73 (32.0)	1.64	1.43 (0.82-2.51)	51 (19.5)	1.21	1.33 (0.74-2.38)
50-59	116 (28.9)	1.41	1.27 (0.74-2.17)	97 (19.5)	1.21	1.31 (0.76-2.27)
60-69	32 (9.8)	0.38**	0.37** (0.20-0.69)	66 (10.8)	0.61	0.65 (0.37-1.15)
70-79	6 (3.6)	0.13**	0.12** (0.05-0.32)	18 (5.6)	0.30**	0.30** (0.15-0.61
80+	2 (4.0)	0.14*	0.14* (0.03-0.63)	5 (6.0)	0.32*	0.35 (0.12-1.00)
Cancer diagnosis						
Breast	94 (23.9)	1.00	1.00	62 (11.7)	1.00	1.00
Prostate	15 (9.7)	0.34**	1.11 (0.52-2.36)	22 (8.2)	0.67	0.93 (0.49-1.78)
Colorectal	31 (16.8)	0.64	1.17 (0.69-1.98)	32 (11.7)	0.99	1.17 (0.70-1.96)
Gynecological	26 (30.2)	1.38	1.36 (0.80-2.32)	22 (17.3)	1.58	1.64 (0.96-2.82)
Malignant melanoma	8 (8.3)	0.29**	0.36* (0.16-0.80)	13 (10.0)	0.84	0.83 (0.43-1.62)
Lung	8 (15.7)	0.59	1.09 (0.47-2.54)	18 (17.1)	1.56	2.00* (1.07-3.75)
Lymphoma	9 (19.6)	0.78	0.93 (0.41-2.10)	11 (16.2)	1.46	1.39 (0.67-2.91)
Head and neck	14 (25.5)	1.09	1.57 (0.74-3.32)	12 (15.0)	1.33	1.20 (0.58-2.50)
Other	47 (22.5)	0.93	1.38 (0.84-2.28)	65 (20.8)	1.99	2.03** (1.28-3.22

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis ^bAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.01
Table 4 Participation in rehabilitation activities during 14 months following time of diagnosis. For each area (one or more activities, one or more physical activities, one or more psychological activities and one of more workrelated/financial activities) number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to sex, age and cancer diagnosis

		One or m activitio n=3,25	es		One or m physical act n=3,43	ivities	One or more psychological activities n=3,439			One or more work related/financial activities n=3,439		
	n (%)	ORcrud e	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Participation, total	1,697 (52.1)	-	-	1,447 (42.1)	-	-	586 (17.0)	-	-	403 (11.7)	-	-
Sex												
Men	545 (39.4)	1.00	1.00	438 (29.9)	1.00	1.00	152 (10.4)	1.00	1.00	134 (9.1)	1.00	1.00
Women	1,152 (61.5)	2.46**	1.54** (1.25-1.90)	1009 (51.1)	2.46**	1.41** (1.14-1.73)	434 (22.0)	2.44**	1.90** (1.43-2.52)	269 (13.6)	1.56**	1.03 (0.74-1.43)
Age (years)												
18-39	102 (67.1)	1.00	1.00	68 (44.7)	1.00	1.00	63 (41.5)	1.00	1.00	55 (36.2)	1.00	1.00
40-49	234 (72.2)	1.27	0.88 (0.57-1.37)	197 (59.5)	1.82**	1.29 (0.85-1.96)	118 (35.6)	0.78	0.59* (0.39-0.89)	87 (26.3)	0.63*	0.50** (0.32-0.78)
50-59	443 (69.7)	1.13	0.81 (0.54-1.22)	344 (52.1)	1.34	1.02 (0.70-1.50)	184 (27.9)	0.55**	0.42** (0.29-0.63)	163 (24.7)	0.58**	0.48** (0.32-0.72)
60-69	600 (49.6)	0.48**	0.34** (0.23-0.51)	546 (43.2)	0.94	0.74 (0.51-1.08)	154 (12.2)	0.20**	0.16** (0.11-0.24)	71 (5.6)	0.11**	0.09** (0.06-0.13)
70-79	257 (34.7)	0.26**	0.21** (0.14-0.32)	238 (29.7)	0.52**	0.48** (0.33-0.71)	53 (6.6)	0.10**	0.09** (0.06-0.14)	19 (2.4)	0.04**	0.04** (0.02-0.07)
80+	61 (31.4)	0.22**	0.18** (0.11-0.29)	54 (23.4)	0.38**	0.34** (0.21-0.55)	14 (6.1)	0.10**	0.08** (0.04-0.15)	8 (3.5)	0.06**	0.05** (0.02-0.12)
Cancer diagnosis												
Breast	694 (73.9)	1.00	1.00	652 (66.8)	1.00	1.00	239 (24.5)	1.00	1.00	152 (15.6)	1.00	1.00
Prostate	163 (35.0)	0.19**	0.41** (0.30-0.57)	139 (27.7)	0.19**	0.34** (0.25-0.47)	34 (6.8)	0.22**	0.77 (0.47-1.24)	23 (4.6)	0.26**	0.65 (0.36-1.17)
Colorectal	192 (39.8)	0.23**	0.36** (0.27-0.47)	149 (28.5)	0.20**	0.28** (0.22-0.36)	70 (13.4)	0.48**	0.91 (0.65-1.27)	47 (9.0)	0.54**	0.84 (0.56-1.27)
Gynecological	107 (47.8)	0.32**	0.31** (0.23-0.42)	78 (33.9)	0.26**	0.25** (0.19-0.34)	47 (20.4)	0.79	0.76 (0.53-1.11)	30 (13.0)	0.81	0.77 (0.49-1.21)
Malignant melanoma	71 (32.3)	0.17**	0.16** (0.11-0.22)	52 (22.3)	0.14**	0.16** (0.11-0.22)	25 (10.7)	0.37**	0.32** (0.20-0.52)	12 (5.2)	0.29**	0.20** (0.10-0.38)
Lung	93 (52.0)	0.38**	0.62** (0.43-0.89)	75 (39.9)	0.33**	0.46** (0.33-0.65)	31 (16.5)	0.61*	1.22 (0.78-1.92)	15 (8.0)	0.47**	0.82 (0.44-1.50)
Lymphoma	54 (54.0)	0.41**	0.47** (0.30-0.74)	45 (43.3)	0.38**	0.44** (0.28-0.67)	25 (24.0)	0.98	1.24 (0.74-2.08)	30 (28.9)	2.20**	2.36** (1.39-4.03)
Head and neck	69 (58.5)	0.50*	0.65 (0.42-1.01)	54 (43.2)	0.38**	0.49** (0.32-0.74)	27 (21.6)	0.85	1.35 (0.81-2.25)	11 (8.8)	0.52*	0.49* (0.24-0.99)
Other	254 (48.0)	0.33**	0.44** (0.33-0.57)	203 (36.3)	0.28**	0.37** (0.29-0.48)	88 (15.7)	0.57**	0.83 (0.60-1.15)	83 (14.8)	0.94	1.01 (0.69-1.47)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05 **p<0.01

		Physical n=92		Emotional area n=883				Family-orier n=38		Sexual area n=454		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total	159 (17.3)	-	-	209 (23.7)	-	-	122 (32.1)	-	-	225 (49.6)	-	-
Sex												
Men	63 (19.8)	1.00	1.00	85 (31.1)	1.00	1.00	43 (34.4)	1.00	1.00	124 (46.8)	1.00	1.00
Women	96 (15.9)	0.76	0.96 (0.60-1.54)	124 (20.3)	0.56**	0.58** (0.37-0.92)	79 (31.0)	0.86	1.06 (0.58-1.93)	101 (53.4)	1.31	0.80 (0.42-1.55)
Age (years)												
<60	64 (15.3)	1.00	1.00	91 (18.3)	1.00	1.00	65 (26.9)	1.00	1.00	105 (47.7)	1.00	1.00
<u>></u> 60	95 (18.9)	1.29	1.17 (0.81-1.70)	118 (30.7)	1.98**	2.05** (1.47-2.85)	57 (41.3)	1.92**	2.03** (1.27-3.25)	120 (51.3)	1.15	1.83** (1.16-2.89)
Cancer diagnosis												
Breast	40 (12.1)	1.00	1.00	55 (17.7)	1.00	1.00	33 (26.4)	1.00	1.00	54 (56.8)	1.00	1.00
Prostate	16 (18.4)	1.63	1.46 (0.65-3.27)	24 (30.8)	2.06*	0.94 (0.45-1.97)	7 (28.0)	1.08	0.83 (0.26-2.62)	51 (36.4)	0.44**	0.24** (0.10-0.56)
Colorectal	28 (22.1)	2.05**	1.93* (1.07-3.48)	18 (19.6)	1.13	0.78 (0.41-1.49)	16 (38.1)	1.72	1.62 (0.72-3.68)	29 (48.3)	0.71	0.52 (0.23-1.17)
Gynecological	14 (24.6)	2.36*	2.33* (1.17-4.65)	17 (23.9)	1.46	1.47 (0.79-2.74)	10 (30.3)	1.21	1.16 (0.49-2.72)	16 (48.5)	0.71	0.68 (0.30-1.52)
Malignant melanoma	4 (9.8)	0.78	0.75 (0.25-2.26)	17 (37.8)	2.81**	2.51* (1.24-5.05)	5 (31.3)	1.27	1.29 (0.40-4.13)	8 (72.7)	2.02	1.68 (0.40-6.99)
Lung	15 (22.7)	2.13*	1.97 (0.97-4.01)	16 (28.6)	1.85	1.31 (0.66-2.60)	10 (40.0)	1.86	1.46 (0.57-3.72)	14 (66.7)	1.52	1.13 (0.39-3.27)
Lymphoma	7 (21.9)	2.03	1.95 (0.76-5.00)	15 (34.1)	2.39*	2.05 (0.99-4.27)	9 (40.9)	1.93	2.19 (0.81-5.89)	8 (53.3)	0.87	0.72 (0.22-2.36)
Head and neck	9 (32.1)	3.43**	3.32** (1.34-8.22)	13 (35.1)	2.51*	2.00 (0.90-4.43)	6 (42.9)	2.09	2.09 (0.64-6.85)	7 (63.6)	1.33	1.24 (0.32-4.81)
Other	26 (16.9)	1.47	1.41 (0.77-2.57)	34 (22.7)	1.36	0.98 (0.56-1.72)	26 (33.3)	1.39	1.48 (0.72-3.04)	38 (55.9)	0.96	0.77 (0.35-1.69)

Table 5 Unmet needs for rehabilitation 14 months after diagnosis. For each area (physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial) number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to sex, age and cancer diagnosis

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05

. **p<0.01

Table 5 (Continued)

		Work-relat n=222-			Financial a n=230	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total	43 (18.7)	-	-	79 (34.4)	-	-
Sex						
Men	18 (26.1)	1.00	1.00	42 (39.3)	1.00	1.00
Women	25 (15.5)	0.52	0.53 (0.19-1.47)	37 (30.1)	0.67	0.53 (0.24-1.19)
Age (years)						
<60	33 (16.6)	1.00	1.00	53 (33.3)	1.00	1.00
<u>></u> 60	10 (32.3)	2.40*	2.98* (1.14-7.80)	26 (36.6)	1.16	1.08 (0.58-2.03)
Cancer diagnosis						
Breast	12 (14.1)	1.00	1.00	19 (38.0)	1.00	1.00
Prostate	2 (15.4)	1.11	0.30 (0.04-2.35)	10 (55.6)	2.04	1.06 (0.27-4.13)
Colorectal	4 (14.8)	1.06	0.55 (0.13-2.36)	6 (23.1)	0.49	0.32 (0.09-1.08)
Gynecological	5 (19.2)	1.45	1.45 (0.45-4.62)	6 (28.6)	0.65	0.65 (0.21-1.96)
Malignant melanoma	0 (0)	-	-	3 (23.1)	0.49	0.31 (0.07-1.46)
Lung	4 (50.0)	6.08*	4.02 (0.75-21.7)	7 (43.8)	1.27	0.86 (0.25-3.02)
Lymphoma	2 (22.2)	1.74	1.65 (0.29-9.26)	4 (36.4)	0.93	0.69 (0.17-2.88)
Head and neck	4 (28.6)	2.43	1.63 (0.36-7.29)	6 (50.0)	1.63	0.97 (0.23-4.10)
Other	10 (25.0)	2.03	1.25 (0.39-4.05)	18 (28.6)	0.65	0.43 (0.16-1.13)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.01

Study II

In some analyses we found that effects of SES on the outcomes for rehabilitation differed for men and women, and analyses were therefore stratified for gender.

Need for rehabilitation

Among women, living alone increased the odds of expressing a rehabilitation need in the physical, emotional and financial area compared to those who were cohabiting/married (Table 6). A high education increased the odds of expressing a need in the emotional area, but reduced the odds of having a financial need. Women outside the workforce had increased odds of expressing a financial need compared to women working. A high income reduced the odds of expressing a financial and work-related rehabilitation need.

Among men, similar tendencies were seen, but the associations were less pronounced and non-significant.

Participation in rehabilitation activities

Overall, women with a higher education and to some extent higher income had significantly increased odds of participating in rehabilitation activities (Table 7). Women who were pensioners or otherwise outside the workforce had reduced odds of participating in activities compared to women working. Women living alone had increased odds of participating in psychological activities.

Among men, a higher income increased odds of participating in physical activities, while a high education was associated with participation in psychological activities. Male pensioners and men outside the workforce showed a tendency towards reduced odds of participating in all areas, but this was only statistically significant in work-related/financial area.

Unmet needs for rehabilitation

Table 8 presents unmet needs among the male and female patients, who had expressed a need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period.

Among women, living alone increased the odds of unmet needs in the family-oriented and sexual area. Women with a high education were less likely to have unmet needs in the physical and emotional area. There was a tendency towards women outside the workforce being more likely to have unresolved needs. However, this only showed statistical significance in the work-related area.

Among men, a high education also reduced the odds of having unmet needs in the physical area, while living alone increased the odds in the same area. Men outside the workforce had increased odds of unmet needs in the physical and sexual area.

Stratified analyses for the different cancer types and age groups (data not shown)

Stratified analyses for women with breast and colorectal cancer showed similar tendencies, although for breast cancer results were often more pronounced. With regard to single women expressing a need for and participating in psychological rehabilitation, this was only found for breast cancer. Analyses on men with prostate and colorectal cancer revealed minor differences, e.g. a higher income reduced the odds of having a sexually related need for colorectal cancer, while it increased for prostate cancer alone. However, none of the results were statistically significant.

Comparing stratified analyses on different age groups we found some differences, with the most pronounced being that single older patients had significantly increased odds of expressing a need for physical rehabilitation, which was not found among single younger patients.

Table 6 Needs for rehabilitation during 14 months following time of diagnosis. For each area number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour market status.

		Physical ar n=1388-18			Emotional n=1390-1			Family-orien n=1390-		Sexual area n=1368-1829		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^b (95% Cl
Needs, total												
Men	352 (25.4)	-	-	327 (23.5)	-	-	145 (10.4)	-	-	308 (22.5)	-	-
Nomen	676 (36.5)	-	-	670 (36.0)			380 (16.6)	-	-	221 (12.1)	-	-
Cohabitation status												
Ven												
Cohabiting/married	286 (25.4)	1.00	1.00	259 (22.9)	1.00	1.00	117 (10.4)	1.00	1.00	254 (22.9)	1.00	1.00
iving alone	66 (26.0)	1.03	0.98 (0.71-1.35)	65 (25.8)	1.17	1.01 (0.72-1.41)	27 (10.7)	1.03	0.84 (0.53-1.33)	52 (20.6)	0.87	0.91 (0.64-1.29)
Vomen	、 ,									、 ,		、 ,
Cohabiting/married	474 (35.9)	1.00	1.00	465 (35.2)	1.00	1.00	227 (17.2)	1.00	1.00	187 (14.3)	1.00	1.00
iving alone	201 (37.9)	1.09	1.34* (1.07-1.68)	204 (37.8)	1.12	1.59** (1.26-2.00)	80 (14.9)	0.84	1.14 (0.85-1.54)	34 (6.6)	0.42**	0.57** (0.38-0.86
lighest attained education												
Aen												
10 years	104 (23.2)	1.00	1.00	93(20.6)	1.00	1.00	39 (8.6)	1.00	1.00	98 (22.2)	1.00	1.00
0-12 years	159 (26.0)	1.16	1.10 (0.82-1.47)	147 (24.1)	1.00	1.02 (0.75-1.40)	72 (11.8)	1.43	1.17 (0.76-1.80)	137 (22.8)	1.00	1.02 (0.75-1.40)
12 years	78 (27.3)	1.10	1.16 (0.82-1.47)	77 (26.9)	1.42*	1.18 (0.82-1.71)	28 (9.7)	1.43	0.86 (0.50-1.47)	68 (23.7)	1.04	0.99 (0.69-1.45)
Vomen	78 (27.5)	1.24	1.10 (0.82-1.04)	77 (20.9)	1.42	1.10 (0.02-1.71)	20 (9.7)	1.14	0.80 (0.50-1.47)	08 (25.7)	1.09	0.99 (0.09-1.45)
10 years	248 (34.0)	1.00	1.00	220 (21 4)	1.00	1.00	100 (15 0)	1.00	1.00	(2) (2, 0)	1.00	1.00
,				230 (31.4)			109 (15.0)			63 (8.9)		
.0-12 years	224(34.8)	1.04	0.89 (0.70-1.13)	217 (33.8)	1.11	0.86 (0.67-1.10)	98 (15.3)	1.02	0.74 (0.54-1.02)	80 (12.6)	1.48*	1.04 (0.72-1.50)
>12 years	190 (42.9)	1.46**	1.13 (0.87-1.48)	214 (47.4)	1.96**	1.34* (1.03-1.10)	94 (20.8)	1.50**	0.93 (0.66-1.30)	75 (16.8)	2.07**	1.22 (0.83-1.81)
ncome												
Vien												
.ow (1 st quartile)	63 (19.9)	1.00	1.00	55 (17.4)	1.00	1.00	28 (8.8)	1.00	1.00	51 (16.4)	1.00	1.00
Aedium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	199 (29.3)	1.66**	1.54 (1.09-2.17)	185 (27.0)	1.76**	1.32 (0.92-1.91)	90 (13.1)	1.56	1.15 (0.71-1.87)	153 (22.7)	1.50*	1.15 (0.78-1.68)
ligh (4 th quartile)	90 (23.2)	1.22	1.10 (0.74-1.64)	87 (22.7)	1.40	1.06 (0.69-1.62)	27 (7.0)	0.78	0.57 (0.31-1.05)	103 (27.1)	1.90**	1.27 (0.83-1.93)
Nomen												
ow (1 st quartile)	157 (34.8)	1.00	1.00	147 (31.9)	1.00	1.00	70 (15.4)	1.00	1.00	33 (7.5)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	349 (36.7)	1.08	0.86 (0.66-1.11)	356 (37.5)	1.28*	0.81 (0.62-1.06)	175 (18.4)	1.25	0.73 (0.52-1.03)	127 (13.5)	1.92**	1.05 (0.68-1.62)
ligh (4 th quartile)	170 (38.0)	1.15	0.86 (0.63-1.17)	167 (37.11)	1.26	0.77 (0.56-1.06)	63 (14.0)	0.90	0.50** (0.33-0.76)	61 (13.7)	1.94**	1.01 (0.62-0.63)
abour market status												
Men												
Norking	182 (29.9)	1.00	1.00	191 (31.5)	1.00	1.00	85 (14.0)	1.00	1.00	157 (26.3)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	143 (20.9)	0.62**	0.62* (0.43-0.91)	106 (15.4)	0.39**	0.74 (0.49-1.12)	44 (6.4)	0.42**	0.92 (0.48-1.76)	127 (18.7)	0.64**	0.80 (0.55-1.18)
Outside the workforce	23 (31.5)	1.08	1.04 (0.61-1.80)	23 (31.9)	1.02	1.04 (0.60-1.81)	12 (16.9)	1.25	1.52 (0.75-3.06)	20 (28.2)	1.10	1.25 (0.70-2.23)
Vomen	23 (31.5)	1.00	1.04 (0.01 1.00)	23 (31.3)	1.02	1.0+(0.00 1.01)	12 (10.5)	1.25	1.52 (0.75 5.00)	20 (20.2)	1.10	1.23 (0.70 2.23)
Vorking	368 (41.8)	1.00	1.00	389 (43.9)	1.00	1.00	184 (20.7)	1.00	1.00	148 (16.8)	1.00	1.00
ensioners	206 (27.9)	0.54**	0.87 (0.62-1.23)	175 (23.7)	0.40**	1.02 (0.71-1.44)	64 (8.7)	0.37**	1.15 (0.70-1.88)	32 (4.5)	0.23**	0.91 (0.51-1.60)
			. ,									1.29 (0.85-1.96)
Outside the workforce	91 (46.4)	1.21	1.29 (0.93-1.78)	93 (47.0)	1.13	1.32 (0.95-1.83)	51 (25.6)	1.32	1.56* (1.07-2.28)	36 (18.4)	1.11	1.23 (0.92-1.30)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.001

Table 6 (Continued)

			lated area 0-598		Financial a n=856-10	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Needs, total						
Men	72 (19.0)	-	-	118 (13.8)	-	-
Women	169 (28.3)	-	-	139 (13.4)	-	-
Cohabitation status						
Men						
Cohabiting/married	54 (18.3)	1.00	1.00	91 (13.5)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	16 (19.5)	1.08	1.01 (0.53-1.93)	26 (14.9)	1.13	0.98 (0.60-1.61)
Women						
Cohabiting/married	133 (28.1)	1.00	1.00	87 (11.5)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	36 (29.0)	1.05	1.11 (0.71-1.75)	51 (18.0)	1.69**	2.26** (1.51-3.37)
Highest attained education						
Men						
<10 years	13 (14.3)	1.00	1.00	32 (11.5)	1.00	1.00
10-12 years	40 (22.6)	1.77	1.99 (0.97-4.09)	59 (16.2)	1.49	1.20 (0.74-1.96)
>12 years	17 (16.7)	1.22	1.43 (0.62-3.28)	22 (11.6)	1.01	0.81 (0.44-1.49)
Women						
<10 years	45 (30.2)	1.00	1.00	51 (13.6)	1.00	1.00
10-12 years	58 (26.6)	0.84	0.77 (0.48-1.25)	50 (13.9)	1.02	0.78 (0.50-1.22)
>12 years	61 (27.2)	0.86	0.77 (0.47-1.25)	33 (11.7)	0.84	0.59* (0.35-0.98)
Income						
Men		4.00	4.00	17 (0, 1)	4.00	1.00
Low (1 st quartile) Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	8 (26.7)	1.00	1.00	17 (9.1)	1.00	1.00
High (4 th quartile)	41 (22.0)	0.78	0.85 (0.34-2.17)	77 (18.9)	2.32	1.47 (0.81-2.69)
Women	23 (14.1)	0.45	0.61 (0.22-1.69)	24 (9.2)	1.01	0.59 (0.29-1.21)
Low (1 st quartile)	22 (40.0)	1.00	1.00	36 (16.3)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd guartile)	22 (40.0) 100 (28.7)	0.60	0.53* (0.28-0.98)	83 (15.3)	0.93	0.57* (0.36-0.92)
High (4 th quartile)	47 (24.4)	0.60	0.44* (0.23-0.85)	20 (7.3)	0.40**	0.23** (0.12-0.42)
High (4 quartile)	47 (24.4)	0.40	0.44 (0.23-0.85)	20 (7.3)	0.40	0.23** (0.12-0.42)
Labour market status						
Men						
Working	64 (18.5)	1.00	1.00	82 (17.9)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	-	-	-	24 (7.2)	0.35**	0.75 (0.35-1.59)
Outside the workforce	4 (16.0)	0.84	0.75 (0.23-2.39)	9 (18.8)	1.06	1.03 (0.46-2.30)
Women	(20.0)	5.0.		5 (20.0)	1.00	
Working	149 (28.0)	1.00	1.00	90 (14.0)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	-	-	-	18 (6.4)	0.42**	0.78 (0.35-1.76)
Outside the workforce	18 (31.6)	1.19	1.26 (0.68-2.33)	29 (27.9)	2.37**	2.73** (1.65-4.54)
	- \ /	-	(<i>)</i>	- \ - /	-	- (

^aAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.01

		Participati at least one n=1384-1	activity		One or mor physical activ n=1466-197	ities		One or r psychologica n=1466-	activities	wor	One or r k-related/fina n=1466-	ncial activities
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Participation, total												
Men	545 (39.4)	-	-	438 (29.9)	-	-	152 (10.4)	-	-	134 (9.1)	-	-
Women	1152 (61.5)	-	-	1,009 (51.5)	-	-	434 (22.0)	-	-	269 (13.6)		
Cohabitation status												
Vien												
Cohabiting/married	435 (38.7)	1.00	1.00	357 (30.0)	1.00	1.00	118 (9.9)	1.00	1.00	103 (8.7)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	105 (41.7)	1.13	1.02 (0.76-1.36)	77 (28.7)	0.94	0.90 (0.67-1.22)	30 (11.2)	1.15	0.95 (0.61-1.49)	31 (11.6)	1.38	1.01 (0.63-1.62)
Women												
Cohabiting/married	833 (63.2)	1.00	1.00	727 (52.6)	1.00	1.00	309 (22.3)	1.00	1.00	205 (14.8)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	318 (57.8)	0.80*	1.09 (0.86-1.38)	281 (48.0)	0.83	1.07 (0.86-1.34)	124 (21.2)	0.93	1.38* (1.06-1.80)	63 (10.8)	0.69*	1.05 (0.75-1.47)
Highest attained education												
Vien												
:10 years	161 (35.6)	1.00	1.00	133 (26.8)	1.00	1.00	39 (7.9)	1.00	1.00	26 (5.2)	1.00	1.00
.0-12 years	246 (40.7)	1.24	1.05 (0.80-1.36)	195 (31.1)	1.24	1.11 (0.85-1.45)	61 (9.7)	1.27	0.96 (0.62-1.48)	73 (11.6)	2.39**	1.74* (1.05-2.89)
>12 years	125 (43.6)	1.39*	1.20 (0.88-1.65)	98 (32.9)	1.34	1.22 (0.88-1.68)	45 (15.1)	2.09**	1.65* (1.02-2.67)	31 (10.4)	2.10**	1.47 (0.81-2.67)
Nomen												
<10 years	378 (51.4)	1.00	1.00	332 (42.2)	1.00	1.00	112 (14.2)	1.00	1.00	71 (9.0)	1.00	1.00
LO-12 years	409 (62.9)	1.60**	1.34* (1.05-1.70)	357 (52.7)	1.52**	1.38** (1.10-1.74)	151 (22.3)	1.73**	1.31 (0.98-1.75)	92 (13.6)	1.58**	1.03 (0.72-1.47)
>12 years	350 (77.8)	3.31**	2.55** (1.90-3.43)	306 (65.8)	2.63**	2.26** (1.73-2.96)	167 (35.9)	3.38**	2.17** (1.61-2.93)	103 (22.2)	2.87	1.48* (1.03-2.13)
Income												
Men												
Low (1 st quartile)	87 (27.4)	1.00	1.00	72 (20.5)	1.00	1.00	24 (6.8)	1.00	1.00	21 (6.0)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	299 (43.8)	2.06**	1.63** (1.19-2.24)	238 (33.2)	1.94**	1.67** (1.21-2.30)	82 (11.5)	1.77*	1.15 (0.69-1.93)	71 (9.9)	1.74*	0.95 (0.53-1.70)
High (4 th quartile)	157 (41.2)	1.85**	1.43* (1.01-2.06)	126 (31.9)	1.82**	1.55* (1.07-2.24)	44 (11.1)	1.71*	1.14 (0.64-2.04)	42 (10.6)	1.88*	1.04 (0.55-1.97)
Nomen												
ow (1 st quartile)	222 (47.5)	1.00	1.00	198 (39.1)	1.00	1.00	71 (14.0)	1.00	1.00	47 (9.3)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	616 (64.9)	2.04**	1.57** (1.21-2.03)	525 (52.5)	1.72**	1.40** (1.09-1.79)	241 (24.1)	1.94**	1.30 (0.94-1.80)	156 (15.6)	1.80**	0.94 (0.64-1.40)
High (4 th quartile)	314 (69.2)	2.48**	1.83** (1.33-2.51)	286 (61.8)	2.51**	2.07** (1.52-2.80)	122 (26.4)	2.19**	1.41 (0.98-2.05)	66 (14.3)	1.62*	0.74 (0.47-1.17)
abour market status												
Vlen												
Norking	295 (48.9)	1.00	1.00	217 (35.0)	1.00	1.00	98 (15.8)	1.00	1.00	111 (17.9)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	203 (29.6)	0.44**	0.74 (0.53-1.04)	185 (24.8)	0.61**	0.77 (0.55-1.08)	39 (5.2)	0.29**	0.72 (0.40-1.27)	16 (2.1)	0.10**	0.32** (0.14-0.73)
Dutside the workforce	37 (50.7)	1.07	0.96 (0.58-1.59)	28 (36.8)	1.08	0.97 (0.58-1.61)	9 (11.8)	0.72	0.64 (0.30-1.36)	6 (7.9)	0.39*	0.39* (0.16-0.96)
Vomen												
Vorking	649 (73.1)	1.00	1.00	556 (61.3)	1.00	1.00	293 (32.3)	1.00	1.00	219 (24.1)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	354 (47.2)	0.33**	0.68* (0.49-0.95)	322 (39.4)	0.41**	0.60** (0.44-0.84)	93 (11.4)	0.27**	0.89 (0.58-1.38)	25 (3.1)	0.10**	0.25** (0.12-0.50)
Dutside the workforce	125 (64.1)	0.66*	0.61**(0.42-0.86)	109 (52.7)	0.70*	0.61** (0.44-0.84)	42 (20.3)	0.53**	0.60** (0.41-0.88)	21 (10.1)	0.35**	0.40** (0.24-0.65)

Table 7 Participation in rehabilitation activities during 14 months following time of diagnosis. For each category of activity number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour market status.

^aAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.01

Table 8 Unmet needs for rehabilitation 14 months after diagnosis. For each area number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour market status.

		Physical a n=318-6			Emotional n=273-62			Family-orient n=125-2			Sexual are n=189-26	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total												
Men	63 (19.8)	-	-	85 (31.1)	-	-	43 (34.4)	-	-	124 (46.8)	-	-
Women	96 (15.4)	-	-	124 (20.3)	-	-	79 (31.0)	-	-	101 (53.4)	-	-
Cohabitation status												
Men												
Cohabiting/married	45 (17.4)	1.00	1.00	65 (30.2)	1.00	1.00	33 (32.0)	1.00	1.00	98 (45.2)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	18 (30.5)	2.09*	2.36* (1.20-4.66)	20 (35.7)	1.28	1.34 (0.71-2.52)	10 (47.6)	1.93	1.99 (0.74-5.36)	26 (56.5)	1.58	1.50 (0.77-2.94)
Women												
Cohabiting/married	62 (14.8)	1.00	1.00	80 (19.0)	1.00	1.00	52 (27.2)	1.00	1.00	81 (50.0)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	34 (18.6)	1.32	1.32(0.81-2.14)	44 (23.5)	1.32	1.16 (0.74-1.79)	27 (42.9)	2.00*	1.88* (1.02-3.48)	20 (74.1)	2.86*	2.59* (1.01-6.63)
5	. ,		· · · ·			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, ,			· · ·		, ,
Highest attained education												
Men												
<10 years	24 (26.1)	1.00	1.00	26 (32.9)	1.00	1.00	10 (28.6)	1.00	1.00	48 (59.3)	1.00	1.00
10-12 years	30 (21.0)	0.75	0.88 (0.42-1.54)	41 (33.3)	1.02	1.06 (0.57-1.97)	26 (41.3)	1.76	2.12 (0.80-5.62)	52 (44.8)	0.56*	0.53* (0.29-0.96)
>12 years	8 (10.8)	0.34*	0.40* (0.16-0.97)	17 (26.2)	0.72	0.82 (0.39-1.73)	6 (25.0)	0.83	1.28 (0.35-4.71)	20 (31.8)	0.32**	0.28** (0.13-0.58)
Women	0 (1010)	0.01	0.10 (0.10 0.07)	17 (1011)	0.72	0.02 (0.00 2.7.0)	0 (2010)	0.00	1120 (0100 1172)	20 (02:0)	0.01	(0120 (0120 0100)
<10 years	46 (20.8)	1.00	1.00	55 (27.0)	1.00	1.00	33 (38.8)	1.00	1.00	33 (64.7)	1.00	1.00
10-12 years	31 (16.2)	0.73	0.77 (0.45-1.30)	39 (19.8)	0.67	0.75 (0.46-1.23)	25 (29.4)	0.66	0.75 (0.38-1.15)	35 (53.0)	0.62	0.59 (0.27-1.29)
>12 years	17 (9.6)	0.40**	0.43** (0.23-0.81)	27 (13.5)	0.42**	0.47** (0.28-0.82)	19 (24.4)	0.51*	0.59 (0.28-1.26)	31 (44.9)	0.44*	0.48 (0.22-1.04)
	17 (5.0)	0.10	0.15 (0.25 0.01)	27 (13.3)	0.12	0.17 (0.20 0.02)	15 (2)	0.51	0.55 (0.20 1.20)	51(11.5)	0.11	0.10 (0.22 1.0 1)
Income												
Men												
Low (1 st quartile)	12 (23.1)	1.00	1.00	15 (32.6)	1.00	1.00	6 (24.0)	1.00	1.00	23 (57.5)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	38 (20.4)	0.86	0.90 (0.41-1.93)	53 (33.3)	1.03	1.12 (0.55-2.28)	33 (44.6)	2.55	3.36* (1.08-10.5)	68 (52.7)	0.82	0.80 (0.38-0.96)
High (4 th quartile)	13 (16.3)	0.65	0.66 (0.27-1.62)	17 (25.0)	0.69	0.71 (0.31-1.66)	4 (15.4)	0.58	0.76 (0.17-3.39)	33 (34.7)	0.39*	0.43* (0.20-0.94)
Women	13 (10.3)	0.05	0.00 (0.27-1.02)	17 (23.0)	0.09	0.71 (0.31-1.00)	4 (13.4)	0.56	0.70 (0.17-3.39)	55 (54.7)	0.39	0.43 (0.20-0.94)
Low (1 st guartile)	33 (23.7)	1.00	1.00	36 (27.5)	1.00	1.00	14 (27.5)	1.00	1.00	11 (44.0)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	55 (25.7) 50 (15.9)	0.61*	0.62 (0.37-1.04)	65 (19.7)	0.65	0.72 (0.44-1.19)	45 (29.4)	1.10	1.28 (0.61-2.68)	11 (44.0) 60 (54.1)	1.50	1.63 (0.66-4.01)
High (4 th quartile)	13 (8.6)	0.30**	0.32** (0.15-0.64)	23 (15.4)	0.48*	0.55 (0.30-1.01)	43 (29.4) 20 (39.2)	1.10	1.28 (0.01-2.08)	30 (56.6)	1.66	1.88 (0.69-5.11)
nigh (4 quartile)	13 (8.0)	0.30	0.32 (0.15-0.04)	23 (15.4)	0.48	0.55 (0.30-1.01)	20 (39.2)	1.71	1.90 (0.78-4.01)	30 (50.0)	1.00	1.88 (0.09-5.11)
Labour marked status												
Men												
Working	26 (15.8)	1.00	1.00	49 (29.2)	1.00	1.00	24 (32.0)	1.00	1.00	53 (37.3)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	28 (21.9)	1.50	1.30 (0.63-2.67)	26 (32.1)	1.15	0.73 (0.36-1.51)	15 (42.9)	1.59	0.72 (0.20-2.56)	57 (56.4)	2.18**	2.56** (1.35-4.85)
Outside the workforce	9 (40.9)	3.70**	3.33* (1.21-9.19)	8 (42.1)	1.77	1.54 (0.55-4.34)	4 (36.4)	1.21	0.84 (0.19-3.75)	12 (66.8)	3.36*	3.03* (1.01-9.06)
Women												
Working	45 (13.9)	1.00	1.00	58 (15.8)	1.00	1.00	40 (26.1)	1.00	1.00	65 (49.6)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	31 (16.9)	1.26	1.21 (0.59-2.52)	45 (30.0)	2.28**	1.58 (0.82-3.05)	18 (36.0)	1.59	0.84 (0.31-2.25)	15 (62.5)	1.69	0.62 (0.17-2.24)
Outside the workforce	16 (18.4)	1.40	1.55 (0.81-2.97)	16 (19.8)	1.31	1.35 (0.71-2.57)	18 (41.9)	2.03*	1.99 (0.96-4.15)	18 (60.0)	1.52	1.30 (0.56-3.02)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.01

Table 8 (Continued)

		Work-relat n=66-1			Financia n=107	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total	()			()		
Men	15 (22.7)	-	-	65 (60.8)	-	-
Women	24 (15.3)	-	-	37 (30.1)	-	-
Cohabitation status						
Men						
Cohabiting/married	10 (20.0)	1.00	1.00	29 (35.4)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	5 (33.3)	2.00	1.42 (0.31-6.53)	12 (50.0)	1.83	2.31 (0.84-6.3)
Women				()		
Cohabiting/married	17 (13.9)	1.00	1.00	22 (26.5)	1.00	1.00
Living alone	7 (20.0)	1.54	1.41 (0.51-3.88)	15 (38.5)	1.73	1.28 (0.53-3.07)
Highest attained education						
Men						
<10 years	4 (36.4)	1.00	1.00	12 (40.0)	1.00	1.00
10-12 years	8 (21.1)	0.47	0.67 (0.13-3.48)	19 (37.3)	0.89	1.13 (0.42-3.03)
>12 years	2 (12.5)	0.25	0.33 (0.04-2.76)	8 (38.1)	0.92	1.01 (0.30-3.44)
Women						
<10 years	6 (15.0)	1.00	1.00	16 (36.4)	1.00	1.00
10-12 years	8 (15.4)	1.03	1.19 (0.35-4.07)	13 (28.3)	0.69	0.64 (0.25-1.70)
>12 years	7 (11.7)	0.75	0.82 (0.24-2.78)	7 (24.1)	0.56	0.58 (0.18-1.84)
Income						
Men						
Low (1 st quartile)	3 (42.9)	1.00	1.00	5 (33.3)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	55(13.9)	0.22	0.21** (0.03-1.48)	30 (42.3)	1.46	1.58 (0.46-5.44)
High (4 th quartile)	7 (30.4)	0.58	0.69 (0.09-5.28)	7 (33.3)	1.00	0.82 (0.19-3.64)
Women	a (a a a)			- (
Low (1 st quartile)	6 (33.3)	1.00	1.00	7 (25.9)	1.00	1.00
Medium (2 nd and 3 rd quartile)	12 (12.8)	0.29*	0.25* (0.08-0.86)	25 (31.7)	1.32	1.37 (0.48-3.87)
High (4 th quartile)	6 (13.3)	0.31	0.28 (0.08-1.08)	5 (29.4)	1.19	1.35 (0.32-5.72)
Labour market status						
Men						
Working	14 (23.7)	1.00	1.00	26 (34.7)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	-	-	-	11 (55.0)	2.30	4.45 (0.96-20.7)
Outside the workforce	1 (33.3)	1.61	4.77 (0.22-102.9)	4 (44.4)	1.51	0.95 (0.21-4.32)
Women		4.95	4.00	04 (CT C)	4.95	1.00
Working	16 (11.4)	1.00	1.00	21 (25.9)	1.00	1.00
Pensioners	-	-		5 (35.7)	1.59	4.39 (0.71-27.1)
Outside the workforce	7 (46.7)	6.84**	6.01** (1.85-20.0)	11 (42.3)	2.10	1.29 (0.46-3.59)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.01

Study III

Our primary model comprised analyses both for the all participants and stratified for gender, age and the largest cancer types. Results for the whole cohort are shown in tables, while results from stratified analyses are only reported in text. A secondary model explored the potential confounding of socioeconomic variables of the associations found for the whole cohort, and results are also only reported in text.

Need for rehabilitation

In the physical area patients with both mild and moderate to severe comorbidity had increased odds of expressing a need for rehabilitation (Table 9). Patients with moderate to severe comorbidity had increased odds of expressing a rehabilitation need in the emotional, family-oriented and financial areas compared to those without comorbidity.

Stratified analyses of the different cancer types, sex and age groups (data not shown in table)

The increased need for physical rehabilitation among patients with comorbidity was seen for all subgroups and was statistically significant on one or two levels for most patients groups, i.e. above the age of 65 years (OR 1.38 (95% CI 1.01-1.88) CCI 1 and OR 1.94 (95% CI 1.33-2.84) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0), less than 65 years (OR 1.44 (1.06-1.96) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0), women (OR 1.37 (1.01-1.85) CCI 1 and OR 1.78 (1.15-2.77) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0), men (OR 1.47 (1.07-2.02) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0), patients with colorectal cancer (OR 2.89 (1.43-5.84) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0) and prostate cancer (OR 1.98 (1.14-3.43) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0). The statistically significantly increased need for rehabilitation in the emotional area was found among men (OR 1.64 (1.04-2.59) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0), patients with prostate cancer (OR 2.29 (1.01-5.22) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0) and patients above 65 years (OR 1.60 (1.06-2.40) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0). In the family-oriented area significant results were found for patients above the age of 65 years (OR 2.12 (1.20-3.73) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0), while in the financial area results were significant for men (OR 2.24 (1.08-4.62) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0) and patients above 65 years (OR 2.53 (1.12-5.68) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0).

Participation in rehabilitation activities

Patients with moderate to severe comorbidity had increased odds of participating in physical activities compared with patients with no comorbidity (Table 10).

Stratified analyses of the different cancer types, sex and age groups (data not shown in table) Although similar patterns were observed in subgroups, statistically significantly increased participation in physical activities was only seen among men (OR 2.00 (1.35-2.97) CCI>2 compared with CCI 0), patients with colorectal cancer (OR 3.15 (1.59-6.26) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0) and prostate cancer (OR 2.05 (1.01-4.14) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0). Regarding psychological activities patients with breast cancer (OR 2.84 (1.36-5.94) CCI >2 compared with CCI 0) and prostate cancer (OR 3.46 (1.11-10.75) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0) participated more often. Patients less than 65 years had decreased odds of participating in work-related and financial activities (OR 0.30 (0.11-0.76) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0), while a non-significant tendency was seen in the opposite direction for patients above 65 years.

Unmet needs for rehabilitation

Table 11 presents unmet needs among the patients, who had expressed a need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period.

No statistically significant associations between CCI score and expression of unmet needs were observed following adjustment (Table 11).

Stratified analyses of the different cancer types, sex and age groups (data not shown in table) A relatively limited number of patients were included in the subgroup analyses of unmet needs. Patients with prostate cancer had increased odds of unmet needs in the physical area (OR 3.81 (1.10-13.19) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0).

A secondary model including further adjustment for socioeconomic variables

Further adjustment for socioeconomic factors showed similar results as our main model, where we only adjusted for age, gender and cancer type. One result regarding expression of a financial rehabilitation need did, however, not remain statistically significant when adjusted for socioeconomic variables.

Table 9 Nee	ds for rehabilitation during the	14-months following time	of diagnosis as a function of c	omorbidity

	At least o	one need for n=3,437	rehabilitation		Physical an n=3,240			Emotional n=3,25		Family-oriented area n=3,248		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Needs, total	1,691 (49.2)	-	-	1,028 (31.7)	-	-	997 (30.7)	-	-	453 (14.0)	-	-
ссі												
0	1,342 (50.0)	1.00	1.00	789 (30.9)	1.00	1.00	814 (31.8)	1.00	1.00	365 (14.2)	1.00	1.00
1	239 (46.3)	0.86	1.13 (0.92-1.38)	161 (34.3)	1.17	1.43** (1.15- 1.78)	117 (24.7)	0.71**	0.96 (0.75-1.22)	59 (12.6)	0.86	1.12 (0.89-1.66)
>2	110 (46.6)	0.87	1.27 (0.95-1.68)	78 (36.5)	1.28	1.69** (1.24- 2.29)	66 (30.6)	0.95	1.55** (1.12-2.14)	29 (13.5)	0.94	1.61* (1.04- 2.49)
		Covuol or			Mork related			Financial				
		Sexual are n=3,195			Work-related n=1,275			Financial a n=1,89				
	n (%)		5	n (%)			n (%)		3			
Needs, total	n (%) 529 (16.6)	n=3,195			n=1,275		n (%) 257 (13.6)	n=1,89				
Needs, total CCI	, <i>i</i>	n=3,195 ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	n=1,275 ORcrude		1 1	n=1,89 ORcrude	3 ORadj ^a (95% CI)			
	, <i>i</i>	n=3,195 ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	n=1,275 ORcrude		1 1	n=1,89 ORcrude	3 ORadj ^a (95% CI)			
ССІ	529 (16.6)	n=3,195 ORcrude -	ORadj ^a (95% CI) -	n (%) 252 (19.8)	n=1,275 ORcrude -	ORadj ^a (95% CI) -	257 (13.6)	n=1,89 ORcrude -	3 ORadj ^a (95% Cl) -			

For each area (at least one need for rehabilitation, physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial) number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to comorbidity status (CCI)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05

**p<0.01

Table 10 Participation in rehabilitation activities during	the 14 months following time of diagnosis as a function of comorbidity

	А	n=3,255	,		One or mo physical activ n=3,255	vities	p	One or mo sychological a n=3,255	ctivities	One or more work-related activities n=3255		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)		ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Participation, total	1,696 (52.1)	-	-	1,447 (44.5)	-	-	585 (18.0)	-	-	403 (12.4)	-	-
CCI												
0	1,372 (53.6)	1.00	1.00	1,164 (45.5)	1.00	1.00	493 (19.3)	1.00	1.00	344 (13.4)	1.00	1.00
1	220 (46.2)	0.74**	1.05 (0.85-1.30)	184 (38.7)	0.75**	1.01 (0.81-1.25)	62 (13.0)	0.63**	0.91 (0.68-1.24)	49 (10.3)	0.74	1.18 (0.83-1.67)
<u>></u> 2	104 (47.3)	0.78*	1.34 (0.99-1.81)	99 (45.0)	0.98	1.57** (1.16- 2.13)	30 (13.6)	0.66*	1.22 (0.80-1.87)	10 (4.6)	0.31**	0.58 (0.29-1.14)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis *p<0.05 **p<0.01

	At least one unmet need for rehabilitation n=1,691			Physical area n=922			Emotional area n=883			Family-oriented area n=380		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	N (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total	848 (50.2)	-	-	159 (17.3)	-	-	209 (23.7)	-	-	122 (32.1)	-	
CCI 0 1 ≥2	660 (49.2) 123 (51.5) 65 (59.1)	1.00 1.09 1.49*	1.00 1.07 (0.81-1.42) 1.41 (0.94-2.13)	119 (16.8) 28 (19.9) 12 (16.7)	1.00 1.23 0.99	1.00 1.06 (0.66-1.71) 0.84 (0.43-1.67)	165 (22.7) 32 (30.8) 12 (22.6)	1.00 1.51 0.99	1.00 1.28 (0.79-2.06) 0.68 (0.33-1.38)	93 (30.3) 18 (39.1) 11 (40.7)	1.00 1.48 1.58	1.00 1.10 (0.55-2.20) 1.11 (0.45-2.75)

Table 11 Unmet needs for rehabilitation 14 months after diagnosis as a function of comorbidity

	Sexual area n=454			Work-related area n=230				Financial n=230	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total	225 (49.6)	-	-	43 (18.7)	-	-	79 (34.4)	-	-
CCI									
0	175 (48.2)	1.00	1.00	35 (17.4)	1.00	1.00	64 (34.0)	1.00	1.00
1	33 (53.2)	1.22	1.23 (0.69-2.17)	3 (13.0)	0.71	0.78 (0.21-2.90)	9 (34.6)	1.03	0.96 (0.37-2.49)
<u>></u> 2	17 (58.6)	1.52	1.24 (0.54-2.86)	5 (83.3)	23.71*	10.31 (0.94- 113.61)	6 (37.5)	1.16	0.54 (0.15-1.92)

For each area (at least one unmet need for rehabilitation, physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial) number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to comorbidity status (CCI)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05

. *p<0.01

Discussion

Main findings

One third of the cancer patients alive 14 months post diagnosis had experienced a need for physical and psychological rehabilitation, followed by a work-related need expressed by one fifth, a sexually-related need by 17%, a family-oriented by 14%, and finally a financial need expressed by 13%. Half of the patients participated in at least one rehabilitation activity, and unmet needs for rehabilitation were most common in the sexual, financial and family-oriented areas. We found that female gender and younger age were associated with increased odds of expressing needs and participating in activities. Among those who had expressed a need for help, we found, however, that men had increased odds of having emotionally unmet needs, and that elderly were more likely to have unmet needs in a number of areas. Patients with breast cancer had increased odds of participating in physical activities compared with patients with other cancer types. We found several significant associations between SES and expression of rehabilitation needs, participation in activities and unmet needs. In general, women and to a lesser extent men with short education and low income were less likely to participate and were more likely to have unmet needs. For women, living alone increased the odds of expressing needs in the physical, emotional and financial area and for having unmet needs in a number of areas. Men outside the workforce and men living alone had increased odds of having unmet physical needs. Comorbidity was at all levels statistically significantly associated with expression of physical rehabilitation needs, and furthermore, moderate to severe comorbidity was significantly associated with other areas of needs and participation in physical activities. Results from the stratified analyses showed that significant results most often were related to being older than 65 years and having colorectal or prostate cancer.

Methodological considerations

Study design

The purpose of this thesis was to assess to what extent cancer patients' express needs, participate in rehabilitation activities and report unmet needs in a 14-month period from date of diagnosis, and to assess if patient-related factors were associated with these outcomes. To answer these questions we established a large cohort of incident cancer patients with the possibility of follow-up, and with the major strength of being population-based. The strength of a cohort study is, furthermore, the observational approach that reflects daily clinical practice, both in terms of the heterogeneous patient populations and the interventions they receive (150). Inherent in the observational study design is, however, the susceptibility to bias and confounding, thereby limiting the ability to define causality (150). Furthermore, although we asked the

patients to evaluate the previous 14 months, the data was only collected once and the analyses therefore had character of being cross-sectional in design. Associations found in our study can therefore only generate hypotheses on cause-effect relationship and guide further research in hypothesis testing.

The main causes of bias in a cohort study are patient selection and loss to follow-up (150). To obtain information on patient characteristics we exclusively used register data, established independent of the hypothesis and free of selection bias based on the unique civil registration number. Further, we were able to obtain information on patient characteristics for the whole cohort, including those lost to follow-up and lost to inclusion, which is discussed in following sections. Information regarding our outcomes for rehabilitation was questionnaire-based data, which introduces a risk of recall bias as discussed below. Confounding is also discussed in a separate section.

Time of follow-up at 14 months

The time of follow-up at 14 months after diagnosis was based on the following considerations. First, we were able to distinguish between patients with very short-time survival that could be assumed to primarily have palliative needs instead of rehabilitation needs (33, 151). Second, the most acute phase, including curative intended and adjuvant treatment, was expected to be completed for most cancer types after a one-year period (151). Finally, the time frame of a one-year period gave the patients a possibility to adapt after the initial phase of shock after being diagnosed with cancer (152), and a chance to have experienced some rehabilitation needs, as well as the chance to participate in activities.

Assessment of rehabilitation outcomes among patients with different cancer diagnoses

In this study we aimed to investigate different aspects of rehabilitation for patients with a variety of cancer diagnoses. This was based on the assumption that some rehabilitation needs do not arise from having a specific cancer type, but are generic, and arising from a person being diagnosed with a potentially life-threatening disease, with the consequences it may have in several aspects of the person's life (1, 2). It did, however, introduce some limitations to the content of some of the areas of the patient questionnaire, especially in the physical area, where we were unable to ask about specific potential side effects or symptoms linked to a certain cancer type. Furthermore, the content of rehabilitation activities could have been more detailed, if only patients with one type of cancer had been included. This could have led to an underestimation of certain needs and activities used among patients with a specific cancer type.

Selection bias

Sampling procedure

As described in the Material and methods section under Study population, 37% of potentially eligible patients (referred to as sample 2) were not identified through the sampling procedure and thus not included into the study. This was not discovered until the end of the inclusion period, and it meant that patient questionnaires had not been distributed to patients in the second sample. Distribution of questionnaires to patients in the second sample would be up to two years after diagnosis, and we believed that answers from patients included from the different samples would introduce differences in the concepts measured. Analyses showed that patients from the two samples differed statistically significantly in all measured patient characteristics as described in the result section. The fact that more patients in Sample 1 were women, had breast cancer, were younger and had higher SES could have slightly overestimated the absolute figures of needs for and participation in rehabilitation and underestimated unmet needs in some areas. Patients with no comorbidity were overrepresented in sample 1, which could have underestimated the absolute figures of needs in several areas as well as participation in physical activities. However, with regard to the relative associations analysed we adjusted for differences in sex, age and cancer type, and this selection bias should not affect the direction of the associations found, although the confidence intervals may be a little wider.

Non-response

As described in the section above, patient questionnaires were only sent to patients from sample 1.

Responding patients were more likely to be younger, female, diagnosed with breast cancer, of higher SES and with no comorbidity compared to non-responding patients. Thus, those who completed the questionnaire were also those who were overrepresented in the sample. Again, this might slightly influence the absolute figures for needs, activities and unmet needs, and in the associations found the confidence intervals may be a little wider, but the direction of the associations found should not be affected.

Selection bias may be introduced in terms of respondents being different from non-respondents in health behaviour, cancer stage and other factors we did not have information about, and thus potentially not being representative of the entire target population.

Information bias

Recall bias

Recall bias may be introduced as the patients were asked to reflect over a little more than a one year period and some needs or participation in activities may not be remembered if not relevant anymore at the time of filling in the questionnaire. The answers may furthermore be affected by factors like outcome of treatment. However, we were unable to estimate either the direction or the extent of this information bias.

Confounding

The analyses were adjusted for known confounders including age, gender and cancer type. In Study III we furthermore explored the confounding effect of SES by further adjusting the analyses for socioeconomic variables, including highest attained education, income, labour market affiliation and cohabitation status. Residual confounding of other factors cannot be ruled out, e.g. we did not have information on clinical parameters such as cancer stage and treatment, and not adjusting for these factors might have underestimated our results on the effects of SES and comorbidity.

Effect modification

A challenge arose when we were to analyse the data in Studies II and III. We suspected there might be different effects of SES and comorbidity on patients' rehabilitation for patients with different cancer types, gender and age. E.g. we were concerned that the level of education could have different effects on rehabilitation for younger and older patients (72). We also speculated if the burden or severity of comorbidity could have different effects for patients with different cancer types (89). In order to obtain more detailed information about the effects of SES and comorbidity on rehabilitation, and thus to assess for interactions, we carried out stratified analyses for different age groups, gender and cancer types in Studies II and III. However, the stratified analyses entail a risk of losing the overview and introducing both type 1errors (due to a high number of tests) and type 2 errors (due to loss of power because fewer patients are included in each of the stratified analyses compared to analyses comprising the whole cohort) (153). In study II we found that the effects of SES on rehabilitation in some of the analyses differed for men and women, and we therefore chose to stratify for gender. In study III we showed overall results for the whole cohort in tables and only in the text reported the slight differences between patients groups.

The quality of register data

Data on cancer diagnoses and diagnosis included in the CCI

The validity of data from the National Patient Register has been evaluated at an overall level in 1993 (154) and showed that the validity of administrative data including CPR number and discharge date was very high (91-97%), while the validity of clinical data including the correct diagnosis was lower (65.5-82.7%). Tumors were evaluated overall, and the diagnosis was correct in 75.4% to 86.9%, depending on the level of detail in the codes used. For haematological malignancies overall completeness has be shown to be 91.5% and positive predictive value 84.5%, when compared with data from the Danish Cancer Registry (155). Other studies evaluating the validity of specific diagnoses in the NPR for the purposes of quality monitoring and research concluded that minor misclassifications exist, but that these misclassifications are non-differential and do not influence the overall validity (156, 157). The coverage of diagnoses in the NPR is generally found to be good (158). Furthermore, to reduce potential misclassification in the cohort for this study, the patients' GPs were asked to confirm the cancer diagnosis (145).

The accuracy of diagnosis included in the CCI has proven to be very high, when data from the NPR are compared with diagnoses obtained from medical records (159). We found levels of comorbidity comparable with others, who have used the register for assessing comorbidity among cancer patients (90, 160). If misclassifications, under- or overreporting should be present, we hypothesise that this imprecision is non-differential with regard to patient characteristics, and thus does not influence the associations studied.

Socioeconomic data

SES is not strictly defined and multiple variables can be used and assessed at an individual level, which can make comparison across studies a challenge. In Denmark detailed information on a variety of socioeconomic variables is available. We chose four variables, all considered important measures of SES (72, 75).

Other Danish studies have shown a small but increased risk of unemployment following cancer (161), and increased risk of divorce among survivors of cervix cancer (162). We obtained information on education, cohabitation status and labour market affiliation one year before the cancer diagnosis, and income five years up to diagnosis in order to, as far as possible, obtain SES values not affected by the cancer trajectory.

The four chosen variables are based on administrative data, and defined in Statistics Denmark (163). The validity of data is high with a low risk of misclassification. The few risks of misclassifications are described below.

With regard to cohabitation status persons are classified as cohabiting, if they have the same housing registration, are adults living together with no family relation, of the opposite sex and with less than a 15-year age gap (164). Consequently, adults living together on a purely platonic basis will be misclassified as cohabiting, and homosexuals or couples with more than a 15-year gap between them will be misclassified as living alone. An alternative approach could be to only use registered partnerships as 'cohabiting', but as many couples in Denmark live together without being married or registered, we believe that our approach misclassified fewer persons.

Labour market affiliation is based on tax information in Statistics Denmark and therefore assumed to be quite accurate. A person is categorised according to his or hers main income source each year. However, if a person has received sickness benefits or maternity pay most of the year, this person will be classified as being unemployed, although in fact in employment. If so, associations between being unemployed and outcomes for rehabilitation may be slightly diluted. Misclassification in the other categories (working and pensioners) is unlikely.

The income variable in Statistics Denmark is also based on tax information. Only a few persons were registered with no or negative income. As individuals living in Denmark with no capital or income by law are guaranteed social benefits, the individuals not entitled to social benefits may have a large capital that is difficult to assess. Therefore patients with no or negative income were set to missing values (Table 1). We used average disposable income during the past 5 years, which accounted for family size and short-term changes in income (165).

Generation of the variable 'Highest attained education' is based on the educational institutions' administrative data. Misclassification of subjects as having a higher education than was actually the case is unlikely, but a few work-related skills may not be registered in the education register, and these individuals may be misclassified (166).

Patient questionnaire

All outcomes in this study were based on ad hoc questions. These questions were pilot tested as described previously and showed an acceptable variability. The response rate at approximately 70% reflects a high acceptability of the questionnaire among patients.

Existing questionnaires identified in the literature search were, as discussed earlier, not considered appropriate for the overall goal of the survey. Ideally, a fully validated instrument should have been used in order to ensure the accuracy of what the instrument was supposed to measure (167). This is important with

regard to determining the degree of confidence one can place on inferences based on scores from the scales (167). In more detail, three main types of validity, including construct validity (the extent to which operationalisation of a construct actually measures what the theory says it does), content validity (whether the instrument samples all the relevant or important content or domains) and criterion validity (the correlation of a scale with some other measure of the concept under study, ideally a 'gold standard' accepted and used in the field) should be examined beforehand (167). Furthermore, different aspects of reliability (how reproducible the results of a scale are under different conditions) should optimally be explored (167). The validity of the items in this study was in the development process primarily tested regarding content, since no other comparable instruments were available for testing of criteria validity. Furthermore, validation was limited to the extent of time and resources available in the context of this PhD project. However, subsequently a strong association between the questions regarding unmet needs and health-related quality of life and psychological distress, measured by the validated scales EORTC QLQ C-30 and POMS-SF, studied in the same population, has supported the construct validity (50). Impairment according to global health status (EORTC) and total mood disturbance (POMS) increased with increasing number of up to five areas, in which unmet needs were reported (50). Furthermore, large mean differences in the EORTC-QLQ-30 and POMS-SF scores between patients with one or more unmet needs and patients with no unmet needs were found (50). These differences were well above levels usually considered clinically relevant in clinical trials (51, 168). These results support the relevance of using unmet needs questions in clinical practice to identify cancer patients in need of rehabilitation. However, in-depth validation of all questions would have strengthened the study and needs further attention.

The Charlson Comorbidity Index

The CCI is the most widely used comorbidity index in the context of cancer, validated for many different cancer types and the use of administrative data (169). The CCI has been rated in the top three of indexes useful in relation to cancer generally, so although other indexes were considered none of them were found superior (169, 170).

As previously described, data on comorbid diseases included in the index were obtained from the National Patient Register. This register does not consistently include information on diseases not requiring a hospital visit. This is a general problem when using administrative databases for assessing comorbidity, because more serious diseases, including the disease for which the patient was admitted, and complications during hospitalisation have a higher chance of being recorded than chronic conditions (170). Some of the conditions included in the Charlson Index, including diabetes (type 2) and chronic pulmonary disease, will not necessarily require a hospital contact, but can be diagnosed and treated solely in general practice.

Consequently, there might be an underestimation of the prevalence of these specific comorbid conditions in this study, and thereby an underestimation of the impact of comorbidity on cancer patients' needs, participation in rehabilitation and unmet needs. On the other hand, the diseases in the CCI are generally of such serious nature that at some point in the 13-year period preceding the cancer diagnosis, the patient would need a hospital admission or outpatient contact. However, as the CCI was originally developed to predict the risk of one-year mortality, some comorbid conditions that might affect a cancer rehabilitation course, such as musculoskeletal or psychiatric disorders, are not included. All in all, with the administrative hospital-based data that were available in this study, we found the CCI to be the best option for a valid measure of comorbidity.

Generalisability

The results from this study are considered to be generalisable to other regions in Denmark owing to the fact that that there are only small regional differences with respect to organisation of the health care system and prevalence of diseases. Furthermore, all cancer types, except for very rare ones, are diagnosed and treated within the regions according to national guidelines and do not differ between the different hospitals. The population-based approach including a representative sample of all incident cancer patients supported the external validity of our findings. Hence, generalisability to countries with similar healthcare settings is likely, too. However, cultural differences with regard to expression of symptoms/needs and utilisation as well as availability of rehabilitation activities may be different across countries and influence results.

Discussion of study results

Study I

Our study demonstrated that the most frequent reported need was a need for physical rehabilitation, just followed by a need for psychological rehabilitation. These findings are consistent with a recent large Danish study on cancer survivors' experiences during and after treatment (n=4,401), and a Norwegian study on cancer patients' needs for rehabilitation services (n=1,325) similarly showing that a need for physical rehabilitation followed by a need for psychological rehabilitation was the most frequent (171, 172). The Norwegian study included the ten most frequent cancer types (on average 29 months after diagnosis) and found that breast cancer patients were more likely to express a need for physical rehabilitation compared to patients with other cancer types. In our study we found that breast cancer patients were more frequent participants in physical rehabilitation. These findings could reflect a rehabilitation need in relation to

physical problems such as limitation in arm mobility and lymphedema, and, furthermore, that preventive physiotherapy is systematically offered at hospitals to this patient group. Interventions with a physical component have been found to reduce fatigue and improve physical activity, strength and emotional well-being among cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy (34) and cancer survivors post-treatment (173). In the latter, Danish cancer survivors (n=214) were randomised to a one-year counselling and high-intensity exercise training versus health evaluations (feedback on fitness testing and education on health benefits of exercise) with three follow-ups in the same period. Interestingly, even the control group showed significant improvements in physical activity behavior and cardiovascular fitness (173). Hence, a systematic approach even with minimal efforts with regard to physical rehabilitation would most likely benefit the majority of cancer patients.

Our results showed that compared to men, women to a higher extent expressed needs and participated in rehabilitation. This could reflect the fact that women to a higher extent have a need for rehabilitation, more often articulate a need for help, or that current rehabilitation offers appeal more to women, i.e. activities match female demands and values. A cross-sectional study of 1,876 Danish cancer survivors participating in a one-week residential rehabilitation course, offered to all cancer patients, supports this explanation, as 85% of the participants were women (43). In another cross-sectional study of 396 cancer patients with various diagnoses, significant gender differences were found with regard to healthcare preferences in cancer care including rehabilitation initiatives (174). Furthermore, our results show that men have significantly higher emotional unmet needs, indicating that rehabilitation efforts should be gender-tailored.

Two smaller cross-sectional studies assessed utilisation of rehabilitation activities among cancer patients (40, 41). As these studies mainly included patients with breast cancer or assessed utilisation of one single activity, direct comparison with our study is difficult. However, utilisation of activities in these studies was also significantly higher among younger age groups. Our study adds to present knowledge that younger patients in general express a greater need for rehabilitation, presumably related to multiple challenges to handle in that period of life. At the same time it could be an indication that the healthcare system does not always identify the needs among elderly, for whom it may be more difficult to ask for and seek out services (175). We found that elderly, who had expressed rehabilitation needs, more often had them unresolved.

A Danish survey, 'The Cancer Patient's World', including cancer patients with various diagnoses (n=1,490), found that half of the patients who needed psychological counselling did not receive it (54). In our study we distinguished between three different psychological unmet needs, showing a much higher extent of sexually unmet needs compared to emotional and family-oriented unmet needs. This differentiation has also been made in another recent large Danish study on cancer patients' needs (172), similarly showing that unmet needs were most frequent in the sexual area, followed by family-oriented an emotional unmet needs. When designing this study we believed that it was crucial to discriminate between different

psychological needs, and our findings have confirmed a need for health care professionals to address delicate issues, including sexual problems. Several other studies of women with breast cancer have confirmed that unmet needs in both the sexual and other psychological areas are of relevance (29, 30, 111, 176-178).

Study II

Overall, we saw several significant associations between socioeconomic factors and the different outcomes for rehabilitation.

Patients and in particular female patients, who attended rehabilitation activities, generally had higher SES than those who did not attend activities. Social position, measured by education, employment status and marital status among others, has previously been shown to be associated with cancer survivors' participation in rehabilitation, which was illustrated in two other studies from Denmark. The authors investigated 1,876 cancer patients attending a rehabilitation intervention programme (43) and a psychosocial intervention study of 399 patients with malignant melanoma (179), finding in both studies that participants were of higher SES and, furthermore, mainly women compared to non-participants. Higher SES is probably a proxy for more personal and network resources, and a better ability to seek and demand additional help (180, 181). Higher expectations to own health, quality of life etc. in this patient group may also facilitate participation in activities and thus problem-solving (180, 181). It is also possible that patients, who have higher income and education, may be provided with more biomedical information and psychosocial counselling by the physicians (182), or that rehabilitation services offered may seem less appealing to patients of lower SES groups. The associations observed in our study were most pronounced for female cancer patients and may reflect the fact that women with high SES in general are better at articulating a rehabilitation need or that current offers appeal more to those women. However, the less pronounced results for men could also reflect the relative small number of male participants and consequently lower statistical power.

Overall, we observed a tendency towards more unmet needs in all rehabilitation areas for patients living alone, with differences being significant in the physical area for men and in the family-oriented and sexual areas for women. There was also a tendency towards both men and women outside the workforce more often expressing unmet needs, although this was only significant for male patients in two areas and for women in one area, probably reflecting the limited number of patients in the analyses. Our findings are in line with a cross-sectional study of 1,490 Danish cancer patients and a Norwegian study of 1,325 cancer patients, which both reported that patients living alone or patients who were unemployed were more likely to report unmet needs for rehabilitation (54, 171). Living with a partner might reflect the fact that the close social network has a 'rehabilitative effect' per se, but also that a partner could encourage the patient to seek help within the healthcare system as well among relatives and friends (76). Further, to support this argument a cross-

61

sectional study of patients with colorectal cancer (n=339) from Israel showed a significantly higher level of psychological distress among unmarried patients (183). Pertinent to this discussion, patients outside the workforce might represent a vulnerable group in relation to successful rehabilitation. Different explanations may contribute to this, such as a weaker social network, a worse financial situation, or the more manual working tasks in the lower SES groups making it difficult to return to work if having a deteriorated health condition. Several studies have shown that lower SES is a risk factor for early retirement, unemployment and long-term sick leave among cancer survivors (184-186). Finally, among patients with low SES, more and more complex problems and poorer health following their cancer may contribute to higher levels of unmet needs.

Our results showed that, in particular among female cancer patients, social inequality of clinical relevance exists in cancer rehabilitation despite free and equal access to health care and supports the fact that "equal access" is not sufficient to avert social disparities. As cancer rehabilitation is not a fully integrated part of the standard cancer treatment, "getting the help" may require additional resources from the patient, thus causing an even bigger barrier to "equal access".

Study III

In accordance with our results, a cross-sectional study of 1,325 Norwegian mixed-sited cancer patients found comorbidity to be significantly associated with a need for physical rehabilitation (171). This is also in line with other studies that have demonstrated a higher somatic symptom burden among cancer survivors with comorbidity (96, 97). An American case-control study of 1,904 cancer survivors and 29,092 controls further supports this, as the researchers found that cancer survivors reported a higher symptom burden with increasing comorbidities compared to controls, and the overall symptom burden increased with number of comorbidities (149). For patients with moderate to severe comorbidity we found, besides the association in the physical area, also an association with emotional, family-oriented and financial needs. This most likely reflects the fact that an increased burden of somatic comorbidity can also affect other areas of life. A study of 3,792 cancer survivors showed that comorbidity affected health-related quality of life, both with regard to pain, fatigue, physical and emotional function (187). Thus, in order to effectively address rehabilitation needs among cancer survivors, the healthcare system will need not only to manage the cancer disease, but also to address multiple coexisting diseases. Our stratified analyses showed that significant results were most often related to being older than 65 years or having colorectal or prostate cancer. This may reflect a higher number and/or more severe comorbidities in these groups (89), but should be explored further in future research.

We found that comorbidity was not associated with unmet needs in our overall analyses. This is in contrast to the Norwegian study mentioned above (171). However, compared to our respondents where only one fifth had comorbidity, a total of 47% of the Norwegian patients reported to have comorbidity and, in addition to different somatic disorders, psychological disorders were also included. Hence, identifying the types of disorders included when defining comorbidity may be essential. Differences between patient-reported comorbidity and doctor-registered comorbidity may also be of influence (188).

A significant association was found between a CCI score of two or more and participation in physical rehabilitation activities, which could reflect the increased somatic symptom burden among those patients (96, 97). In addition, only a few stratified analyses demonstrated either reduced or increased participation among patients with comorbidity. A Danish cohort study investigating participation in a six-day rehabilitation course among women with breast cancer found no difference in comorbidity status (measured by CCI with data obtained from the National Patient Register) between attenders (n=856) and non-attenders (n=1805) (189). When looking at other chronic diseases a Danish study regarding pulmonary rehabilitation similarly found no difference in comorbidity status between participants and non-participants (190). We have previously shown that younger age, female gender, having breast cancer and higher socioeconomic status were associated with participation in activities (191, 192), but whether or not patients participate in rehabilitation activities is probably the result of a much more complex process influenced by many different factors, including psychosocial, family-related and contextual factors (193). Furthermore, availability and knowledge of local rehabilitation offers by patients and healthcare professionals may also play a role (193, 194).

Conclusion

This study showed that needs for rehabilitation among cancer patients in a 14 month period after diagnosis were most frequent and expressed by one third of patients in the physical and psychological areas, but also present in the other investigated areas, i.e. work-related, sexual, family-oriented and financial areas. Only half of patients participated in at least one rehabilitation activity. Among those who had expressed a need for professional help, there were high frequencies of unmet needs in the sexual, family-oriented and financial areas.

A substantial variation in rehabilitation needs, participation in activities and unmet needs with regard to sex, gender and cancer type was observed. Overall, older age and male gender was associated with being less likely to express needs for and participate in rehabilitation, but being more likely to have unmet needs in some areas. Cancer type was associated with expression of certain needs, and having breast cancer increased the odds of participating in physical activities compared with other cancer types.

Despite free and equal access to health care we identified several significant associations between socioeconomic status and needs, participation and unmet needs, indicating a social gradient in rehabilitation. Vulnerable groups included patients with low education and to a lesser extent low income, patients outside the workforce and patients living alone. In general, we found the associations were most pronounced for female cancer patients.

Comorbidity, regardless of severity, was associated with expression of a physical rehabilitation need. Subgroup analyses indicated that patient groups most in need were patients above the age of 65 years with colorectal or prostate cancer.

Implications and perspectives

Clinical implications

Our study identified several significant associations between patient characteristics and needs, participation and unmet needs. The differentiation between the existence of a need and the extent to which it was unfulfilled after 14 month (i.e. unmet) gave new insight into the fact some patients groups were less likely to express needs, e.g. the elderly or male patients, but were more likely to have unmet needs in some areas. This could indicate that these patient groups are more reluctant to express needs or at higher risk of the needs being overlooked and thereby at increased risk of having unmet needs. Hence, these findings could help guide health professionals in a clinical setting by drawing more attention towards patients not spontaneously revealing needs or requesting rehabilitation.

Cancer rehabilitation is still in a phase where overall organisation and implementation is not fully accomplished. Stratified rehabilitation programmes that take social and demographic differences into account should be considered. In this regard, it may be useful to study the success of rehabilitation programmes in other areas of health care. In cardiac rehabilitation non-attenders are also more likely to be older, to live alone and have a low SES (82). A systematic approach in screening and referral to socially differentiated cardiac rehabilitation has shown to reduce unequal referral, attendance and adherence. Extended rehabilitation programmes provided to the socially vulnerable heart patients, has resulted in significantly higher participation rates and improved treatment goals among these groups (195). The extended programme included, in addition to the standard programme, extra individual nurse-led consultations, enhanced information to the GP with encouragement to a preventive consultation after completed programme, as well as education in lifestyle chances and instruction in exercise up to 18 months after completed programme. Our study indicates that similar differentiated programmes could be useful in cancer rehabilitation.

Overall, we found that only around half of the cancer patients participated in one or more rehabilitation activities. Similar low rates have been shown in in pulmonary and cardiac rehabilitation in a Danish setting (ranging from 30% to 50%) (81, 190). As previously discussed, awareness from patients and healthcare professionals about rehabilitation activities, availability of local offers, or that offers not appealing to certain patient groups may influence. The much higher participation rates in physical activities for patients with breast cancer compared to patients with other cancer types, may to a certain extent reflect the more integrated rehabilitation initiatives for this patient group and may inspire when planning initiatives for patients with other cancer types. However, when evaluating the success of rehabilitation programmes, it should also be taken into account that not all patients may benefit from or be motivated for participation in rehabilitation activities.

Future research

Our study focused on rehabilitation needs by means of measures applicable for all cancer types, and thus some of the more disease-specific rehabilitation needs may not be captured by this study. Hence, the frequencies of both needs and unmet needs found in this study may account for a minimum of the actual burden. More research is needed to develop a more comprehensive instrument that covers differential areas of needs and which can be applied in different settings and across sectors at different times in the cancer trajectory with the purpose of both identification and monitoring of needs.

We found that comorbidity, regardless of severity, was associated with expression of a physical rehabilitation need. With an increasing elderly population, this is a result that should be taken into account when planning interventions for cancer survivors. We did, however, not find such strong associations between comorbidity and all the outcomes for rehabilitation as expected, and this needs further exploration in future research. There is a need to further investigate if comorbidity registered outside hospitals contacts, e.g. diagnoses obtained from primary care, could influence cancer patients' rehabilitation. Furthermore, there is a need to reevaluate the most optimal way of assessing comorbidity among cancer patients in need of rehabilitation.

Future studies should explore if stratified rehabilitation interventions can enhance participation in rehabilitation and fulfillment of needs among subgroups of cancer patients identified in this study as less likely to participate and more likely to have unmet needs. In this regard, a simple systematic screening procedure, as described above (and with similar instruments as used in cardiac rehabilitation), may be useful to identify vulnerable patients, i.e. patients living alone, patients with low education etc. However, although several patient characteristics in our study was associated with expression of rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation and unmet needs, it must be remembered that the associations found cannot reveal cause-effect relationships, and further exploration of the underlying causes and mechanisms is warranted.

Summary in English

This PhD thesis was written during my employment at the Research Unit of General Practice in Odense, University of Southern Denmark. It comprises an overview and three papers, all published or submitted for publication in international peer-reviewed scientific journals.

Background: Cancer survivors are at risk of experiencing adverse physical and psychosocial effects of their cancer and its treatment. The goal of rehabilitation is to 'enable people with disabilities to reach and maintain optimal physical, sensory, intellectual, psychological and social function'. Hence, rehabilitation is wideranging and may encompass physical, psychological, work-related and financial support. The growing number of cancer survivors has brought rehabilitation into focus in the healthcare system, as well as politically, and has resulted in an increased need for gaining more knowledge of different aspects of cancer patients' rehabilitation course. It has been estimated that up to 70% of all Danish cancer patients diagnosed in a one-year period may have a rehabilitation need. However, the evidence in this area is scarce. Since 2007 the municipalities in Denmark have been responsible for rehabilitation of patients with chronic diseases, including cancer, although hospitals still carry out specialised rehabilitation. Implementation and supply of offers do, however, vary across the country, and very little knowledge on cancer patients' participation in rehabilitation activities exists. Unmet needs for rehabilitation seem to be pronounced with regard to physical, emotional and sexual problems, but the majority of evidence in this area is based on studied including patients at different times in their cancer trajectory. In order to help plan and implement cancer rehabilitation there is a need to gain knowledge of the extent of cancer patients' rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs for rehabilitation, and in order to target interventions in this field, improved knowledge on patient characteristics associated with these outcomes is needed.

Aims: Among incident cancer patients in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis we aimed:

- To assess the extent of rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs, and further to assess if age, gender and diagnosis were associated with these outcomes (*Study I*)
- To assess if socioeconomic status (SES) was associated with expression of rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs (*Study II*)
- To assess if comorbidity status was associated with expression of rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs (*Study III*)

Methods: The study was conducted as a population-based cohort study among incident cancer patients in the period 1 October 2007 – 30 September 2008 in the Regions of Southern and Central Denmark. The patients

were identified based on administrative data from the regional Patient Administrative Systems and prior cancer cases excluded based on data from the National Patient Register. All patients alive 14 months after diagnosis were sent a questionnaire regarding their rehabilitation needs, participation in various rehabilitation activities and unmet needs in six different dimensions (physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial). We linked the answers to socioeconomic, demographic variables and information on comorbidities from national registers to assess their association with expression of rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and having unmet needs. Socioeconomic variables included highest attained education (short, medium, high), income (low, medium, high), labour market affiliation (working, pensioners, otherwise outside the labour market) and cohabitation status (cohabiting/single). Comorbidity was classified according to the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) and grouped into CCI 0 (no comorbidity), CCI 1 (mild comorbidity) and CCI 2 (moderate to severe comorbidity).

Results: A total of 3,439 patients participated (70%). One third of the cancer patients had experienced a need for physical and psychological rehabilitation, followed by a work-related need expressed by one fifth, a sexually related need by 17%, a family-oriented by 14% and finally a financial need expressed by 13%. Half of the patients participated in at least one rehabilitation activity, and unmet needs for rehabilitation were most common in the sexual, financial and family-oriented areas. We found that female gender and younger age were associated with increased odds of expressing needs and participating in activities. Among those who had expressed a need for help, we found that men had increased odds of having emotionally unmet needs and that elderly patients were more likely to have unmet needs in a number of areas. Patients with breast cancer had increased odds of participating in physical activities compared with patients with other cancer types. We found several significant associations between SES and expression of rehabilitation needs, participation in activities and unmet needs. In general, women and to a lesser extent men with short education and low income were less likely to participate and were more likely to have unmet needs. For women, living alone increased the odds of expressing needs in physical, emotional and financial areas and for having unmet needs in a number of areas. Men outside the workforce and men living alone had increased odds of having unmet physical needs. Comorbidity was at all levels statistically significantly associated with expression of physical rehabilitation needs, and furthermore moderate to severe comorbidity significantly associated with other areas of needs and participation in physical activities. Results from the stratified analyses showed that most often significant results were related to being older than 65 years and having colorectal or prostate cancer.

Conclusion and perspectives: This study has shown that one third of the cancer patients expressed a need for physical and psychological rehabilitation, that half of patients participated in rehabilitation activities and that unmet needs were most common in the emotional, sexual and financial areas. A substantial variation in

rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs was observed with regard to age, gender, cancer type and SES. Comorbidity was strongly associated with expression of physical rehabilitation needs. Identification of these variations can help guide healthcare professionals in a clinical setting and help target future interventions for patients in cancer rehabilitation.

Summary in Danish

Denne ph.d. afhandling er udført i løbet af min ansættelse ved Forskningsenheden for Almen Praksis i Odense, Syddansk Universitet. Den består af en oversigt og tre artikler, der alle er publicerede eller indsendt til publikation i peer-reviewede videnskabelige tidsskrifter.

Baggrund: Kræftpatienter er i risiko for at få fysiske og psykosociale følger af deres kræftsygdom og behandlingen heraf. Målet med rehabilitering er, at 'mennesker med nedsat funktion eller handikap opnår og vedligeholder en optimal fysisk, sensorisk, intellektuel, psykologisk og social funktion'. Således er rehabilitering vidt omspændende og kan omfatte fysisk, psykologisk, arbejdsrelateret og økonomisk rådgivning eller tilbud. Det er estimeret at op til 70 % af alle danske kræftpatienter diagnosticeret i en et-års periode kan have et rehabiliteringsbehov, men evidensen på området er sparsom. Implementering og udbud af tilbud er dog nationalt meget varierende, og der er meget sparsom viden omkring kræftpatienters deltagelse i rehabilitering. Uopfyldte rehabiliteringsbehov er formentlig udtalte på det fysiske, psykiske og seksuelle område, men hovedvægten af evidens på dette område omfatter studier, hvor kræftpatienter er inkluderet på forskellige tidspunkter i deres forløb. I forhold til at planlægge og implementere kræftrehabiliteringsbehov, og for at kunne målrette indsatsen på dette område er der behov for viden om patient karakteristika associeret med disse forhold.

Formål: Blandt incidente kræftpatienter i en 14 måneders periode efter diagnose var formålet at:

- Afdække omfanget af rehabiliteringsbehov, deltagelse i rehabiliteringsaktiviteter og uopfyldte rehabiliteringsbehov, og derudover om køn, alder og kræfttype var associeret med disse forhold (Artikel I)
- Afdække om patienternes socioøkonomiske status var associeret med rehabiliteringsbehov, deltagelse i rehabiliteringsaktiviteter og uopfyldte behov (Artikel II)
- Afdække om patienternes komorbiditet var associeret med rehabiliteringsbehov, deltagelse i rehabiliteringsaktiviteter og uopfyldte behov (Artikel III)

Metode: Studiet blev gennemført som en populations-baseret kohorteundersøgelse blandt incidente kræftpatienter i perioden 1. oktober 2007 til 30. september 2008 i Region Syddanmark og Region Midtjylland. Patienterne blev identificeret på baggrund af administrative data fra de regionale patientadministrative systemer, og tidligere kræfttilfælde blev ekskluderet på baggrund af oplysninger fra Landspatientregisteret. Alle patienter, der var i live 14 måneder efter diagnose, blev sendt et spørgeskema om deres rehabiliteringsbehov, deltagelse i forskellige rehabiliteringsaktiviteter og uopfyldte behov på seks forskellige områder (fysisk, følelsesmæssigt, familiemæssigt, seksuelt, arbejdsrelateret og økonomisk). Vi

koblede svarene til socioøkonomiske, demografiske variable og information om komorbiditet fra nationale registre, for at afdække hvorvidt disse variable var associeret med rehabiliteringsbehov, deltagelse i aktiviteter og uopfyldte behov. Socioøkonomiske variable inkluderede højest fuldførte uddannelse (kort, mellem, lang), indkomst (lav, mellem, høj), arbejdsmarkedstilknytning (i arbejde, pensionist, på anden måde udenfor arbejdsmarkedet) og samlivsstatus (samlevende/enlig). Komorbiditet blev klassificeret i henhold til 'Charlson Comorbidity Index' (CCI) og grupperet i CCI 0 (ingen komorbiditet), CCI 1 (mild komorbiditet) og CCI≥2 (moderat til svær komorbiditet).

Resultater: 3,439 patienter deltog (70 %). En tredjedel af kræftpatienterne havde oplevet et behov for fysisk og psykisk rehabilitering, efterfulgt af et arbejdsrelateret behov af en femtedel, et seksuelt relateret behov af 17 %, et familiemæssigt behov af 14 % og endeligt et økonomisk relateret behov oplevet af 13 %. Halvdelen af patienterne deltog i mindst en rehabiliteringsaktivitet, og uopfyldte behov var hyppigst på det seksuelle, økonomiske og familiemæssige område. Vi fandt, at det at være kvinde samt yngre alder var associeret med øgede odds for at udtrykke behov og for at deltage i aktiviteter. Blandt de der havde udtrykt behov for hjælp fandt vi, at mænd havde øgede odds for at have uopfyldte følelsesmæssige behov, og at ældre generelt havde større odds for at have uopfyldte behov. Patienter med brystkræft havde øgede odds for at deltage i fysiske aktiviteter sammenlignet med patienter med andre kræfttyper. Vi fandt adskillige signifikante associationer mellem socioøkonomiske faktorer og rehabiliteringsbehov, deltagelse i aktiviteter og uopfyldte behov. Generelt set havde kvinder, og i mindre grad mænd, med kort uddannelse og lav indkomst nedsatte odds for deltagelse og øgede odds for at have uopfyldte behov. Kvinder, der boede alene, havde øgede odds for at have fysiske, følelsesmæssige og økonomiske behov, og i øvrigt uopfyldte behov på en række områder. Mænd uden for arbejdsmarkedet og mænd, der boede alene, havde øgede odds for at have uopfyldte fysiske behov. Komorbiditet var uanset sværhedsgrad statistisk signifikant associeret med fysiske rehabiliteringsbehov, og derudover var moderat til svær komorbiditet associeret med andre områder af behov og deltagelse i fysiske aktiviteter. Resultater fra de stratificerede analyser viste at signifikante resultater oftest var relateret til det at være ældre end 65 år og det at have colorektal eller prostatakræft.

Konklusion og perspektiver: Dette studie har vist at en tredjedel af kræftpatienter udtrykte behov for fysiske og psykisk rehabilitering i de første 14 måneder efter diagnose, at halvdelen af patienterne deltog i rehabiliteringsaktiviteter og at uopfyldte behov var mest hyppige på det følelsesmæssige, seksuelle og økonomiske område. En betydelig variation i rehabiliteringsbehov, deltagelse i rehabiliteringsaktiviteter og uopfyldte behov blev fundet i forhold til køn, alder, kræfttype og socioøkonomi. Komorbiditet var stærkt associeret med det at have et fysisk rehabiliteringsbehov. Identificering af disse variationer kan vejlede sundhedsprofessionelle i den kliniske hverdag samt hjælpe med at målrette interventioner for patienter indenfor kræftrehabilitering.

References

1. Grønvold M, Pedersen C, Jensen CR, Faber MT, Johansen AT. The Cancer Patient's World: An investigation of what Danish Cancer Patiens need [in Danish]. Copenhagen; The Danish Cancer Society; 2006.

2. Mikkelsen TH, Sondergaard J, Jensen AB, Olesen F. Cancer rehabilitation: psychosocial rehabilitation needs after discharge from hospital? Scand J Prim Health Care. 2008;26(4):216-21.

3. von Heymann-Horan AB, Dalton SO, Dziekanska A, Christensen J, Andersen I, Mertz BG, et al. Unmet needs of women with breast cancer during and after primary treatment: a prospective study in Denmark. Acta Oncol. 2013 Feb;52(2):382-90.

4. Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From Cancer Patient to Cancer Survivor: Lost in Transition.Washington, D.C.: Comittee on Cancer Survivorship. Improving Care and Quality of life, National CancerPolicy Board, Institute of Medicine, and National Research Counsil; 2006.

5. Earle CC. Failing to plan is planning to fail: improving the quality of care with survivorship care plans. J Clin Oncol. 2006 Nov 10;24(32):5112-6.

6. Gamble GL, Gerber LH, Spill GR, Paul KL. The future of cancer rehabilitation: emerging subspecialty. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2011 May;90(5 Suppl 1):S76-87.

7. Gerber LH. Cancer rehabilitation into the future. Cancer. 2001 Aug 15;92(4 Suppl):975-9.

8. Gilbert SM, Miller DC, Hollenbeck BK, Montie JE, Wei JT. Cancer survivorship: challenges and changing paradigms. J Urol. 2008 Feb;179(2):431-8.

9. The National Cancer Plan II: Recommendations from the National Board of Health regarding improvements of the efforts in cancer care [in Danish]. Copenhagen: The National Board of Health; 2005.

10. Enhanced efforts in cancer care - a health professional proposal [in Danish]. Copenhagen: The National Board of Health; 2010.
11. Hjortbak BJ, Bangshaab J, Johansen JS, Lund H. Challenges in rehabilitation in Denmark [in Danish]. Aarhus: Rehabiliteringsforum Danmark; 2011.

12. Richardson A, Medina J, Brown V, Sitzia J. Patients' needs assessment in cancer care: a review of assessment tools. Support Care Cancer 2007 Oct;15(10):1125-44.

13. Sanson-Fisher R, Girgis A, Boyes A, Bonevski B, Burton L, Cook P. The unmet supportive care needs of patients with cancer. Supportive Care Review Group. Cancer. 2000 Jan 1;88(1):226-37.

14. Guidance on Cancer Services. Improving Supportive and Palliative Care for Adults with Cancer. The Manual. London: The National Institute for Clinical Excellence; 2004.

15. Zebrack B. Information and service needs for young adult cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer. 2009 Apr;17(4):349-57.

16. Smith AW, Reeve BB, Bellizzi KM, Harlan LC, Klabunde CN, Amsellem M, et al. Cancer, comorbidities, and health-related quality of life of older adults. Health Care Financ Rev. 2008 Summer;29(4):41-56.

17. Keegan TH, Lichtensztajn DY, Kato I, Kent EE, Wu XC, West MM, et al. Unmet adolescent and young adult cancer survivors information and service needs: a population-based cancer registry study. J Cancer Surviv. 2012 Sep;6(3):239-50.

18. Schmid-Buchi S, Halfens RJ, Muller M, Dassen T, van den Borne B. Factors associated with supportive care needs of patients under treatment for breast cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2013 Feb;17(1):22-9.

19. Schmitz KH, Stout NL, Andrews K, Binkley JM, Smith RA. Prospective evaluation of physical rehabilitation needs in breast cancer survivors: a call to action. Cancer. 2012 Apr 15;118(8 Suppl):2187-90.

20. Chase DM, Monk BJ, Wenzel LB, Tewari KS. Supportive care for women with gynecologic cancers. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2008 Feb;8(2):227-41.

21. Steele R, Fitch MI. Supportive care needs of women with gynecologic cancer. Cancer Nurs. 2008 Jul-Aug;31(4):284-91.

22. Li J, Girgis A. Supportive care needs: are patients with lung cancer a neglected population? Psychooncology. 2006 Jun;15(6):509-16.

23. Steginga SK, Occhipinti S, Dunn J, Gardiner RA, Heathcote P, Yaxley J. The supportive care needs of men with prostate cancer (2000). Psychooncology. 2001 Jan-Feb;10(1):66-75.

24. Beesley V, Eakin E, Steginga S, Aitken J, Dunn J, Battistutta D. Unmet needs of gynaecological cancer survivors: implications for developing community support services. Psychooncology. 2008 Apr;17(4):392-400.

25. Arber A, Faithfull S, Plaskota M, Lucas C, de Vries K. A study of patients with a primary malignant brain tumour and their carers: symptoms and access to services. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2010 Jan;16(1):24-30.

26. Sanders SL, Bantum EO, Owen JE, Thornton AA, Stanton AL. Supportive care needs in patients with lung cancer. Psychooncology. 2010 May;19(5):480-9.

27. Molassiotis A, Wilson B, Blair S, Howe T, Cavet J. Unmet supportive care needs, psychological wellbeing and quality of life in patients living with multiple myeloma and their partners. Psychooncology. 2011 Jan;20(1):88-97.

28. Smith DP, Supramaniam R, King MT, Ward J, Berry M, Armstrong BK. Age, health, and education determine supportive care needs of men younger than 70 years with prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2007 Jun 20;25(18):2560-6.

29. Minstrell M, Winzenberg T, Rankin N, Hughes C, Walker J. Supportive care of rural women with breast cancer in Tasmania, Australia: changing needs over time. Psychooncology. 2008 Jan;17(1):58-65.

30. Schmid-Buchi S, Halfens RJ, Dassen T, van den Borne B. A review of psychosocial needs of breastcancer patients and their relatives. J Clin Nurs. 2008 Nov;17(21):2895-909.

31. Mehlsen MY, Jensen AB, Zachariae B. [Psychosocial problems and needs among cancer patients]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2007 Apr 30;169(18):1682-7.

32. Armes J, Crowe M, Colbourne L, Morgan H, Murrells T, Oakley C, et al. Patients' supportive care needs beyond the end of cancer treatment: a prospective, longitudinal survey. J Clin Oncol. 2009 Dec 20;27(36):6172-9.

33. Tvede CF, Brandstrup B, Engholm G, Tonnesen H. [Potential number of rehabilitated cancer patients in Denmark--an estimate]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2003 Jan 6;165(2):123-8.

34. Adamsen L, Quist M, Andersen C, Moller T, Herrstedt J, Kronborg D, et al. Effect of a multimodal high intensity exercise intervention in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2009;339:b3410.

35. Mishra SI, Scherer RW, Geigle PM, Berlanstein DR, Topaloglu O, Gotay CC, et al. Exercise interventions on health-related quality of life for cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;8:CD007566.

36 . Mishra SI, Scherer RW, Snyder C, Geigle PM, Berlanstein DR, Topaloglu O. Exercise interventions on health-related quality of life for people with cancer during active treatment. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;8:CD008465.

37 . Scott DA, Mills M, Black A, Cantwell M, Campbell A, Cardwell CR, et al. Multidimensional rehabilitation programmes for adult cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;3:CD007730.

38. Fors EA, Bertheussen GF, Thune I, Juvet LK, Elvsaas IK, Oldervoll L, et al. Psychosocial interventions as part of breast cancer rehabilitation programs? Results from a systematic review. Psychooncology. 2011 Sep;20(9):909-18.

39. Galway K, Black A, Cantwell M, Cardwell CR, Mills M, Donnelly M. Psychosocial interventions to improve quality of life and emotional wellbeing for recently diagnosed cancer patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;11:CD007064.

40. Gray RE, Goel V, Fitch MI, Franssen E, Chart P, Greenberg M, et al. Utilization of professional supportive care services by women with breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2000 Dec;64(3):253-8.

41. Plass A, Koch U. Participation of oncological outpatients in psychosocial support. Psychooncology. 2001 Nov-Dec;10(6):511-20.

42. 10 years of research and development at the Dallund Rehabilitation Centre [in Danish]. Copenhagen: the Danish Cancer Society; 2011.

43. Hoybye MT, Dalton SO, Christensen J, Larsen LR, Kuhn KG, Jensen JN, et al. Research in Danish cancer rehabilitation: social characteristics and late effects of cancer among participants in the FOCARE research project. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(1):47-55.

44. Fast track referral programmes for breast cancer [In Danish] The National Board of Health; 2012. Available from: http://www.sst.dk/publ/Publ2012/06juni/KraeftPkforl/Brystkraeft3udg.pdf.

45. Fast track cancer referral programmes for prostate cancer [In Danish]: The National Board of Health; 2012. Available from: http://www.sst.dk/publ/Publ2012/06juni/KraeftPkforl/Prostatakraeft3udg.pdf.

46. La Cour K, Johannesen H. Cancer rehabilitation in municipalities - experience gathering from 11 municipalities [in Danish]. Odense: Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark; 2010.

47. Fast track cancer referral programmes [in Danish] Copenhagen: The National Board of Health; 2007 [cited [cited 2013]]. Available from:

https://www.sst.dk/Behandlingsforloeb%20og%20rettigheder/Kraeftbehandling/Pakkeforloeb.aspx.

48. Harrison JD, Young JM, Price MA, Butow PN, Solomon MJ. What are the unmet supportive care needs of people with cancer? A systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2009 Aug;17(8):1117-28.

49. Houts PS, Yasko JM, Kahn SB, Schelzel GW, Marconi KM. Unmet psychological, social, and economic needs of persons with cancer in Pennsylvania. Cancer. 1986 Nov 15;58(10):2355-61.

50. Hansen DG, Larsen PV, Holm LV, Rottmann N, Bergholdt SH, Sondergaard J. Association between unmet needs and quality of life of cancer patients: a population-based study. Acta Oncol. 2013 Feb;52(2):391-9.

51. Osoba D, Rodrigues G, Myles J, Zee B, Pater J. Interpreting the significance of changes in health-related quality-of-life scores. J Clin Oncol. 1998 Jan;16(1):139-44.

52. Snyder CF, Blackford AL, Brahmer JR, Carducci MA, Pili R, Stearns V, et al. Needs assessments can identify scores on HRQOL questionnaires that represent problems for patients: an illustration with the Supportive Care Needs Survey and the QLQ-C30. Qual Life Res. 2010 Aug;19(6):837-45.

53. Snyder CF, Garrett-Mayer E, Brahmer JR, Carducci MA, Pili R, Stearns V, et al. Symptoms, supportive care needs, and function in cancer patients: how are they related? Qual Life Res. 2008 Jun;17(5):665-77.

54. Ross L, Petersen MA, Johnsen AT, Lundstrom LH, Groenvold M. Are different groups of cancer patients offered rehabilitation to the same extent? A report from the population-based study "The Cancer Patient's World". Support Care Cancer. 2012 May;20(5):1089-100.

55. World Health Organisation. Rehabilitation definition. World Health Organisation; 2013 [cited 2013]. Available from: http://www.who.int/topics/rehabilitation/en/.

56. Rehabilitation in Denmark: A White Paper about the concept of rehabilitation [in Danish]. Aarhus: Marselisborgcentret; 2004.

57. World Health Organisation. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). World Health Organisation; 2013 [cited 2013]. Available from: http://www.who.int/classifications/icf/en/.

58. ICF - the Danish instructions and examples from practice: International classification of functioning, disability and health [in Danish]. Århus: MarselisborgCentret and the National Board of Health; 2005.

59. A policy paper about the assessment of the possibility of suggesting a shared instrument with the purpose of overall needs assessment of cancer patients in rehabilitation and palliative care [in Danish]. Copenhagen: Danish Health and Medicines Authority; 2012.

60. The Cancer Registry 2011 [in Danish]. Copenhagen: the Danish Health and Medicines Authority; 2012.

61. Progression of demography [in Danish] Copenhagen: Statistics Denmark; 2013. Available from: http://www.dst.dk/pukora/epub/Nyt/2010/NR219.pdf

62. Phillips JL, Currow DC. Cancer as a chronic disease. Collegian. 2010;17(2):47-50.

63. Pedersen KM, Christiansen T, Bech M. The Danish health care system: evolution--not revolution--in a decentralized system. Health Econ. 2005 Sep;14(Suppl 1):S41-57.

64. Pedersen KM, Andersen JS, Sondergaard J. General practice and primary health care in Denmark. J Am Board Fam Med. 2012 Mar;25 Suppl 1:S34-8.

65. Christiansen T. Organization and financing of the Danish health care system. Health Policy. 2002 Feb;59(2):107-18.

66. National cancer plan. Status and proposals regarding initiatives in relation to cancer care [in Danish]. Copenhagen: The National Board of Healht; 2000: 2000.

67. Christiansen T. Ten years of structural reforms in Danish healthcare. Health Policy. 2012 Jul;106(2):114-9.

68. The structural reform - in summary [in Danish]. Copenhagen: the Ministry of the Interior and Health; 2005.

69. The Danish Cancer Society Copenhagen: The Danish Cancer Society. Available from: http://www.cancer.dk/?gclid=CI-vsaO0jroCFcm23god-AsAMA.

70. National care programme regarding rehabilitation and palliative care in relation to cancer - part of a overall care programme for cancer [in Danish]. Copenhagen: The National Board of Health; 2012.

71. Diderichsen F, Andersen I, Manuel C, Andersen AM, Bach E, Baadsgaard M, et al. Health Inequalitydeterminants and policies. Summary. Scand J Public Health. 2012 Nov;40(8 Suppl):6-8.

72. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA, Lynch JW, Davey Smith G. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). J Epidemiol Community Health. 2006 Jan;60(1):7-12.

73. Galobardes B, Lynch J, Smith GD. Measuring socioeconomic position in health research. Br Med Bull. 2007;81-82:21-37.

74. Liberatos P, Link BG, Kelsey JL. The measurement of social class in epidemiology. Epidemiol Rev. 1988;10:87-121.

75. Lund R, Due P, Modvig J, Holstein BE, Damsgaard MT, Andersen PK. Cohabitation and marital status as predictors of mortality--an eight year follow-up study. Soc Sci Med. 2002 Aug;55(4):673-9.

76. Aizer AA, Chen MH, McCarthy EP, Mendu ML, Koo S, Wilhite TJ, et al. Marital Status and Survival in Patients With Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013 Sep 23.

77. Mackenbach JP, Stirbu I, Roskam AJ, Schaap MM, Menvielle G, Leinsalu M, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in health in 22 European countries. N Engl J Med. 2008 Jun 5;358(23):2468-81.

78. Diderichsen F, Andersen I, Manuel C, Andersen AM, Bach E, Baadsgaard M, et al. Health inequalitydeterminants and policies. Scand J Public Health. 2012 Nov;40(8 Suppl):12-105.

79. Jensen LF, Pedersen AF, Andersen B, Vedsted P. Identifying specific non-attending groups in breast cancer screening--population-based registry study of participation and socio-demography. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:518.

80. Dalton SO, Schuz J, Engholm G, Johansen C, Kjaer SK, Steding-Jessen M, et al. Social inequality in incidence of and survival from cancer in a population-based study in Denmark, 1994-2003: Summary of findings. Eur J Cancer. 2008 Sep;44(14):2074-85.

81. Wurgler MW, Sonne LT, Kilsmark J, Voss H, Sogaard J. Danish heart patients' participation in and experience with rehabilitation. Scand J Public Health. 2012 Mar;40(2):126-32.

82. Nielsen KM, Faergeman O, Foldspang A, Larsen ML. Cardiac rehabilitation: health characteristics and socio-economic status among those who do not attend. Eur J Public Health. 2008 Oct;18(5):479-83.

83. Wieland GD. From bedside to bench: research in comorbidity and aging. Sci Aging Knowledge Environ. 2005 Sep 28;2005(39):pe29.

84. Cohen HJ, Lan L, Archer L, Kornblith AB. Impact of age, comorbidity and symptoms on physical function in long-term breast cancer survivors (CALGB 70803). J Geriatr Oncol. 2012 Apr 1;3(2):82-9.

85. Dalton SO, Johansen C. New paradigms in planning cancer rehabilitation and survivorship. Acta Oncol. 2013 Feb;52(2):191-4.

86. Hewitt M, Rowland JH, Yancik R. Cancer survivors in the United States: age, health, and disability. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2003 Jan;58(1):82-91.

87. Land LH, Dalton SO, Jorgensen TL, Ewertz M. Comorbidity and survival after early breast cancer. A review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2012 Feb;81(2):196-205.

88. Boje CR, Dalton SO, Gronborg TK, Primdahl H, Kristensen CA, Andersen E, et al. The impact of comorbidity on outcome in 12 623 Danish head and neck cancer patients: a population based study from the DAHANCA database. Acta Oncol. 2013 Feb;52(2):285-93.

89. Jorgensen TL, Hallas J, Friis S, Herrstedt J. Comorbidity in elderly cancer patients in relation to overall and cancer-specific mortality. Br J Cancer. 2012 Mar 27;106(7):1353-60.

90. Land LH, Dalton SO, Jensen MB, Ewertz M. Impact of comorbidity on mortality: a cohort study of 62,591 Danish women diagnosed with early breast cancer, 1990-2008. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012 Feb;131(3):1013-20.

91. Luchtenborg M, Jakobsen E, Krasnik M, Linklater KM, Mellemgaard A, Moller H. The effect of comorbidity on stage-specific survival in resected non-small cell lung cancer patients. Eur J Cancer. 2012 Dec;48(18):3386-95.

92. Sperling C, Noer MC, Christensen IJ, Nielsen ML, Lidegaard O, Hogdall C. Comorbidity is an independent prognostic factor for the survival of ovarian cancer: a Danish register-based cohort study from a clinical database. Gynecol Oncol. 2013 Apr;129(1):97-102.

93. Osthus AA, Aarstad AK, Olofsson J, Aarstad HJ. Comorbidity is an independent predictor of healthrelated quality of life in a longitudinal cohort of head and neck cancer patients. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2013 May;270(5):1721-8.

94. Wedding U, Rohrig B, Klippstein A, Brix C, Pientka L, Hoffken K. Co-morbidity and functional deficits independently contribute to quality of life before chemotherapy in elderly cancer patients. Support Care Cancer. 2007 Sep;15(9):1097-104.

95. Wedding U, Pientka L, Hoffken K. Quality-of-life in elderly patients with cancer: a short review. Eur J Cancer. 2007 Oct;43(15):2203-10.

96. Grov EK, Fossa SD, Dahl AA. Is somatic comorbidity associated with more somatic symptoms, mental distress, or unhealthy lifestyle in elderly cancer survivors? J Cancer Surviv. 2009 Jun;3(2):109-16.

97. Bellury L, Pett MA, Ellington L, Beck SL, Clark JC, Stein KD. The effect of aging and cancer on the symptom experience and physical function of elderly breast cancer survivors. Cancer. 2012 Dec 15;118(24):6171-8.

98. Puts MT, Papoutsis A, Springall E, Tourangeau AE. A systematic review of unmet needs of newly diagnosed older cancer patients undergoing active cancer treatment. Support Care Cancer. 2012 Jul;20(7):1377-94.

99. Danish Regions - statistics [in Danish] Copenhagen: Danish Regions; 2010 [cited 2013]. Available from: http://www.regioner.dk/om+regionerne/statistik+ny.

100. Distribution of new cancer cases in Danish Regions [in Danish] copenhagen: Statens Serum Institut; . Available from:

http://www.ssi.dk/Sundhedsdataogit/Dataformidling/Sundhedsdata/Kraft/Nye%20krafttilfalde%20fordelt%2 0pa%20regioner.aspx.

101. Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health. 2011 Jul;39(7 Suppl):22-5.

102. Thygesen LC, Daasnes C, Thaulow I, Bronnum-Hansen H. Introduction to Danish (nationwide)registers on health and social issues: structure, access, legislation, and archiving. Scand J Public Health. 2011Jul;39(7 Suppl):12-6.

103. Sørensen HT, Christensen T, Schlosser HK, Pedersen L. Use of Medical Databases in ClinicalEpidemiology. Second Edition. Aarhus: Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital,Denmark; 2009.

104. Basis registration of inpatients [in Danish] Copenhagen: The National Board of Health; 2011. Available from: http://www.sst.dk/publ/Publ2010/DOKU/Faellesindhold/Faellesindhold2011.pdf.

105. Lynge E, Sandegaard JL, Rebolj M. The Danish National Patient Register. Scand J Public Health. 2011 Jul;39(7 Suppl):30-3.

106. Andersen JS, Olivarius Nde F, Krasnik A. The Danish National Health Service Register. Scand J Public Health. 2011 Jul;39(7 Suppl):34-7.

107. Jensen VM, Rasmussen AW. Danish Education Registers. Scand J Public Health. 2011 Jul;39(7 Suppl):91-4.

108. Baadsgaard M, Quitzau J. Danish registers on personal income and transfer payments. Scand J Public Health. 2011 Jul;39(7 Suppl):103-5.

109. Petersson F, Baadsgaard M, Thygesen LC. Danish registers on personal labour market affiliation. Scand J Public Health. 2011 Jul;39(7 Suppl):95-8.

110. Bergholdt SH. The general practitioners' role in cancer rehabilitation: A randomised, controlled trial [PhD Thesis]. Odense: National Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation, Research Unit of General Practice, University of Southern Denmark; 2013.

111. Aranda S, Schofield P, Weih L, Yates P, Milne D, Faulkner R, et al. Mapping the quality of life and unmet needs of urban women with metastatic breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2005 Jul;14(3):211-22.

112. Aranda S, Schofield P, Weih L, Milne D, Yates P, Faulkner R. Meeting the support and information needs of women with advanced breast cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Cancer. 2006 Sep 18;95(6):667-73.

113. Rasmussen E. The day you get cancer. Copenhagen: Ashehoug; 2003.

114. Shimozuma K, Ganz PA, Petersen L, Hirji K. Quality of life in the first year after breast cancer surgery: rehabilitation needs and patterns of recovery. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 1999 Jul;56(1):45-57.

115. Grunfeld E. Looking beyond survival: how are we looking at survivorship? J Clin Oncol. 2006 Nov 10;24(32):5166-9.

116. Stanton AL. Psychosocial concerns and interventions for cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2006 Nov 10;24(32):5132-7.

117. Ganz PA, Coscarelli A, Fred C, Kahn B, Polinsky ML, Petersen L. Breast cancer survivors: psychosocial concerns and quality of life. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 1996;38(2):183-99.

118. Ronson A, Body JJ. Psychosocial rehabilitation of cancer patients after curative therapy. Support Care Cancer. 2002 May;10(4):281-91.

119. Main DS, Nowels CT, Cavender TA, Etschmaier M, Steiner JF. A qualitative study of work and work return in cancer survivors. Psychooncology. 2005 Nov;14(11):992-1004.

120. Spelten ER, Sprangers MA, Verbeek JH. Factors reported to influence the return to work of cancer survivors: a literature review. Psychooncology. 2002 Mar-Apr;11(2):124-31.

121. Kennedy F, Haslam C, Munir F, Pryce J. Returning to work following cancer: a qualitative exploratory study into the experience of returning to work following cancer. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2007 Jan;16(1):17-25.

122. Pryce J, Munir F, Haslam C. Cancer survivorship and work: symptoms, supervisor response, co-worker disclosure and work adjustment. J Occup Rehabil. 2007 Mar;17(1):83-92.

123. Morrell J, Pryce J. Work and cancer. How cancer affecft working lives. England: Ashford Colour Press; 2005.

124. From needs to offers: Rehabilitation of cancer patients. [in Danish]. Copenhagen: Nordic Cancer Union; 2004.

125. Rehabilitation of cancer patients. Report from working group about rehabilitation of cancer patients. Copenhagen: County Counsils Assication and The Ministry of the Interior and Health; 2003.

126. Movsas SB, Chang VT, Tunkel RS, Shah VV, Ryan LS, Millis SR. Rehabilitation needs of an inpatient medical oncology unit. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2003 Nov;84(11):1642-6.

127. Soothill K, Morris SM, Harman J, Francis B, Thomas C, McIllmurray MB. The significant unmet needs of cancer patients: probing psychosocial concerns. Support Care Cancer. 2001 Nov;9(8):597-605.

128. Barg FK, Cronholm PF, Straton JB, Keddem S, Knott K, Grater J, et al. Unmet psychosocial needs of Pennsylvanians with cancer: 1986-2005. Cancer. 2007 Aug 1;110(3):631-9.

129. Boudioni M, McPherson K, Moynihan C, Melia J, Boulton M, Leydon G, et al. Do men with prostate or colorectal cancer seek different information and support from women with cancer? Br J Cancer. 2001 Sep 1;85(5):641-8.

130. Berglund G, Petersson LM, Eriksson KR, Haggman M. "Between men": patient perceptions and priorities in a rehabilitation program for men with prostate cancer. Patient Educ Couns. 2003 Mar;49(3):285-92.

131. Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1993 Mar 3;85(5):365-76.

132. Hodgkinson K, Butow P, Hunt GE, Pendlebury S, Hobbs KM, Lo SK, et al. The development and evaluation of a measure to assess cancer survivors' unmet supportive care needs: the CaSUN (Cancer Survivors' Unmet Needs measure). Psychooncology. 2007 Sep;16(9):796-804.

133. Shacham S. A shortened version of the Profile of Mood States. J Pers Assess. 1983 Jun;47(3):305-6.

134. Roth AJ, Kornblith AB, Batel-Copel L, Peabody E, Scher HI, Holland JC. Rapid screening for psychologic distress in men with prostate carcinoma: a pilot study. Cancer. 1998 May 15;82(10):1904-8.

135. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983 Jun;67(6):361-70.

136. te Velde A, Sprangers MA, Aaronson NK. Feasibility, psychometric performance, and stability across modes of administration of the CARES-SF. Ann Oncol. 1996 Apr;7(4):381-90.

137. Mikkelsen T. Cancer rehabilitation in Denmark - with particular focus on the present and future role of general practice [PhD Thesis]. Aarhus: University of Aarhus; 2009.

138. Ingleton C, Skilbeck J, Clark D. Needs assessment for palliative care: three projects compared. Palliat Med. 2001 Sep;15(5):398-404.

139. Franks PJ, Salisbury C, Bosanquet N, Wilkinson EK, Lorentzon M, Kite S, et al. The level of need for palliative care: a systematic review of the literature. Palliat Med. 2000 Mar;14(2):93-104.

140. Osse BH, Vernooij-Dassen MJ, de Vree BP, Schade E, Grol RP. Assessment of the need for palliative care as perceived by individual cancer patients and their families: a review of instruments for improving patient participation in palliative care. Cancer. 2000 Feb 15;88(4):900-11.

141. Vedsted P, Sokolowski I, Heje HN. Data quality and confirmatory factor analysis of the Danish EUROPEP questionnaire on patient evaluation of general practice. Scand J Prim Health Care.2008;26(3):174-80.

142. Wallston KA, Wallston BS, DeVellis R. Development of the Multidimensional Health Locus of Control (MHLC) Scales. Health Educ Monogr. 1978 Spring;6(2):160-70.

143. Peterman AH, Fitchett G, Brady MJ, Hernandez L, Cella D. Measuring spiritual well-being in people with cancer: the functional assessment of chronic illness therapy--Spiritual Well-being Scale (FACIT-Sp). Ann Behav Med. 2002 Winter;24(1):49-58.

144. Kvale S. Interview. An introduction to the kvalitative research interview [in Danish]. Copenhagen: Hans Reitzels forlag; 2000.

145. Larsen MB. Diagnosing cancer in a time of change - from delay to fast track [PhD Thesis]. Aarhus: Aarhus University; 2012.

146. Larsen MB, Hansen RP, Hansen DG, Olesen F, Vedsted P. Secondary care intervals before and after the introduction of urgent referral guidelines for suspected cancer in Denmark: a comparative before-after study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013 Sep 10;13(1):348.

147. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis. 1987;40(5):373-83.

148. Dalton SO, Steding-Jessen M, Gislum M, Frederiksen K, Engholm G, Schuz J. Social inequality and incidence of and survival from cancer in a population-based study in Denmark, 1994-2003: Background, aims, material and methods. Eur J Cancer. 2008 Sep;44(14):1938-49.

149. Mao JJ, Armstrong K, Bowman MA, Xie SX, Kadakia R, Farrar JT. Symptom burden among cancer survivors: impact of age and comorbidity. J Am Board Fam Med. 2007 Sep-Oct;20(5):434-43.

150. Yang W, Zilov A, Soewondo P, Bech OM, Sekkal F, Home PD. Observational studies: going beyond the boundaries of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010 May;88 Suppl 1:S3-9.

151. Maher J, McConnell H. New pathways of care for cancer survivors: adding the numbers. Br J Cancer. 2011 Nov 8;105 Suppl 1:S5-10.

152. Cullberg J. Crisis and development [in Danish]. Fifth edition ed. Copenhagen: Hans Reitzels forlag; 2007.

153. Kirkwood BR, Sterne AC. Essential medical statistics. Australia: Blackwell Science Ltd; 2003.

154. Evaluation of the National Patient Register 1990 [in Danish]. Copenhagen: The National Board of Health; 1993.

155. Norgaard M, Skriver MV, Gregersen H, Pedersen G, Schonheyder HC, Sorensen HT. The data quality of haematological malignancy ICD-10 diagnoses in a population-based hospital discharge registry. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2005 Jun;14(3):201-6.

156. Lidegaard O, Hammerum MS. [The National Patient Registry as a tool for continuous production and quality control]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2002 Sep 16;164(38):4420-3.

157. Lidegaard O, Vestergaard CH, Hammerum MS. [Quality monitoring based on data from the Danish National Patient Registry]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2009 Feb 2;171(6):412-5.

158. Nickelsen TN. [Data validity and coverage in the Danish National Health Registry. A literature review]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2001 Dec 31;164(1):33-7.

159. Thygesen SK, Christiansen CF, Christensen S, Lash TL, Sorensen HT. The predictive value of ICD-10 diagnostic coding used to assess Charlson comorbidity index conditions in the population-based Danish National Registry of Patients. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2011;11:83.

160. Ibfelt EH, Kjaer SK, Hogdall C, Steding-Jessen M, Kjaer TK, Osler M, et al. 'Socioeconomic position and survival after cervical cancer: influence of cancer stage, comorbidity and smoking among Danish women diagnosed between 2005 and 2010. Br J Cancer. 2013 Sep 12.

161. Carlsen K, Dalton SO, Diderichsen F, Johansen C. Risk for unemployment of cancer survivors: A Danish cohort study. Eur J Cancer. 2008 Sep;44(13):1866-74.

162. Carlsen K, Dalton SO, Frederiksen K, Diderichsen F, Johansen C. Are cancer survivors at an increased risk for divorce? A Danish cohort study. Eur J Cancer. 2007 Sep;43(14):2093-9.

163. Statistics Denmark. High quality variables [cited 2013]. Available from: http://www.dst.dk/da/TilSalg/Forskningsservice/Dokumentation/hoejkvalitetsvariable.aspx.

164. Statistics Denmark. Family type [cited 2013]. Available from: http://www.dst.dk/da/TilSalg/Forskningsservice/Dokumentation/hoejkvalitetsvariable/familie-familie-type.aspx.

165. Statistics Denmark. Family income [cited 2013]. Available from: http://www.dst.dk/da/Statistik/dokumentation/kvalitetsdeklarationer/familieindkomster.aspx.

166. Statistics Denmark. Highest attained education [cited 2013]. Available from: http://www.dst.dk/da/TilSalg/Forskningsservice/Dokumentation/hoejkvalitetsvariable/hoejst-fuldfoerteuddannelse.aspx.

167. Streiner DL, Norman GR. Health measurement scales. A practical guide to their development and use. Third edition ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2003.

168. Baker F, Denniston M, Zabora J, Polland A, Dudley WN. A POMS short form for cancer patients: psychometric and structural evaluation. Psychooncology. 2002 Jul-Aug;11(4):273-81.

169. Sarfati D. Review of methods used to measure comorbidity in cancer populations: no gold standard exists. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012 Sep;65(9):924-33.

170. de Groot V, Beckerman H, Lankhorst GJ, Bouter LM. How to measure comorbidity. a critical review of available methods. J Clin Epidemiol. 2003 Mar;56(3):221-9.

171. Thorsen L, Gjerset GM, Loge JH, Kiserud CE, Skovlund E, Flotten T, et al. Cancer patients' needs for rehabilitation services. Acta Oncol. 2011 Feb;50(2):212-22.

172. Needs and experiences during and after treatment among cancer patients. The Barometer Survey 2013 [in Danish]. Copenhagen: the Danish Cancer Society; 2013.

173. Midtgaard J, Christensen JF, Tolver A, Jones LW, Uth J, Rasmussen B, et al. Efficacy of multimodal exercise-based rehabilitation on physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and patient-reported outcomes in cancer survivors: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Oncol. 2013 Sep;24(9):2267-73.

174. Wessels H, de Graeff A, Wynia K, de Heus M, Kruitwagen CL, Woltjer GT, et al. Gender-related needs and preferences in cancer care indicate the need for an individualized approach to cancer patients. Oncologist. 2010;15(6):648-55.

175. Mackenzie CS, Gekoski WL, Knox VJ. Do family physicians treat older patients with mental disorders differently from younger patients? Can Fam Physician. 1999 May;45:1219-24.

176. Schmid-Buchi S, Halfens RJ, Dassen T, van den Borne B. Psychosocial problems and needs of posttreatment patients with breast cancer and their relatives. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2011 Jul;15(3):260-6.

177. Luutonen S, Vahlberg T, Eloranta S, Hyvari H, Salminen E. Breast cancer patients receiving postoperative radiotherapy: distress, depressive symptoms and unmet needs of psychosocial support. Radiother Oncol. 2011 Aug;100(2):299-303.

178. Uchida M, Akechi T, Okuyama T, Sagawa R, Nakaguchi T, Endo C, et al. Patients' supportive care needs and psychological distress in advanced breast cancer patients in Japan. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2011 Apr;41(4):530-6.

179. Boesen E, Boesen S, Christensen S, Johansen C. Comparison of participants and non-participants in a randomized psychosocial intervention study among patients with malignant melanoma. Psychosomatics. 2007 Nov-Dec;48(6):510-6.

180. Larsen FB. How are you? Self-rated health and inequality in health [in Danish]. Aarhus 2003. ISBN 87-989497-0-5 181. Elsted JI. Social inequalitites in health and their explanations. NOVA: Oslo; 2000. ISBN 82-7894-096-7.

182. Siminoff LA, Graham GC, Gordon NH. Cancer communication patterns and the influence of patient characteristics: disparities in information-giving and affective behaviors. Patient Educ Couns. 2006 Sep;62(3):355-60.

183. Goldzweig G, Andritsch E, Hubert A, Walach N, Perry S, Brenner B, et al. How relevant is marital status and gender variables in coping with colorectal cancer? A sample of middle-aged and older cancer survivors. Psychooncology. 2009 Aug;18(8):866-74.

184. Gudbergsson SB, Torp S, Flotten T, Fossa SD, Nielsen R, Dahl AA. A comparative study of cancer patients with short and long sick-leave after primary treatment. Acta Oncol. 2011 Apr;50(3):381-9.

185. Eaker S, Wigertz A, Lambert PC, Bergkvist L, Ahlgren J, Lambe M. Breast cancer, sickness absence, income and marital status. A study on life situation 1 year prior diagnosis compared to 3 and 5 years after diagnosis. PLoS One. 2011;6(3):e18040.

186. Carlsen K, Oksbjerg Dalton S, Frederiksen K, Diderichsen F, Johansen C. Cancer and the risk for taking early retirement pension: a Danish cohort study. Scand J Public Health. 2008 Mar;36(2):117-25.

187. Vissers PA, Thong MS, Pouwer F, Zanders MM, Coebergh JW, van de Poll-Franse LV. The impact of comorbidity on Health-Related Quality of Life among cancer survivors: analyses of data from the PROFILES registry. J Cancer Surviv. 2013 Aug 6.

188. Susser SR, McCusker J, Belzile E. Comorbidity information in older patients at an emergency visit: self-report vs. administrative data had poor agreement but similar predictive validity. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008 May;61(5):511-5.

189. Damkjaer LH, Deltour I, Suppli NP, Christensen J, Kroman NT, Johansen C, et al. Breast cancer and early retirement: Associations with disease characteristics, treatment, comorbidity, social position and participation in a six-day rehabilitation course in a register-based study in Denmark. Acta Oncol. 2011 Feb;50(2):274-81.

190. Bjoernshave B, Korsgaard J, Jensen C, Vinther Nielsen C. Participation in pulmonary rehabilitation in routine clinical practice. Clin Respir J. 2011 Oct;5(4):235-44.

191. Holm LV, Hansen DG, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Larsen PV, Kragstrup J, et al. Participation in cancer rehabilitation and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study. Support Care Cancer. 2012 Nov;20(11):2913-24.

192. Holm LV, Hansen DG, Larsen PV, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Bergholdt SH, et al. Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation: a population-based cohort study. Acta Oncol. 2013 Feb;52(2):410-22.

193. Clark AM, King-Shier KM, Thompson DR, Spaling MA, Duncan AS, Stone JA, et al. A qualitative systematic review of influences on attendance at cardiac rehabilitation programs after referral. Am Heart J. 2012 Dec;164(6):835-45 e2.

194. Nwosu AC, Bayly JL, Gaunt KE, Mayland CR. Lung cancer and rehabilitation--what are the barriers? Results of a questionnaire survey and the development of regional lung cancer rehabilitation standards and guidelines. Support Care Cancer. 2012 Dec;20(12):3247-54.

195. Meillier LK, Nielsen KM, Larsen FB, Larsen ML. Socially differentiated cardiac rehabilitation: can we improve referral, attendance and adherence among patients with first myocardial infarction? Scand J Public Health. 2012 May;40(3):286-93.

The papers

I Participation in cancer rehabilitation and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study. Holm LV, Hansen DG, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Larsen PV, Kragstrup J, Søndergaard J. *Support Care Cancer* 2012; 20:2913-2924

II Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation: a population-based cohort study. Holm LV, Hansen DG, Larsen PV, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Bergholdt SB, Kragstrup J, Søndergaard J. *Acta Oncol* 2013; 52:410-422

III Influence of comorbidity on cancer patients' rehabilitation, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study. Holm LV, Hansen DG, Kragstrup J, Johansen C, Christensen R, Vedsted P, Søndergaard J. (Submitted for publication). ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Participation in cancer rehabilitation and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study

Lise Vilstrup Holm • Dorte Gilså Hansen • Christoffer Johansen • Peter Vedsted • Pia Veldt Larsen • Jakob Kragstrup • Jens Søndergaard

Received: 13 December 2011 / Accepted: 14 February 2012 / Published online: 14 March 2012 © The Author(s) 2012. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract

Purpose To investigate associations between cancer survivors' sex, age, and diagnosis in relation to their (1) need for rehabilitation, (2) participation in rehabilitation activities, and (3) unmet needs for rehabilitation in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis.

Methods A population-based cohort study was performed on incident cancer patients diagnosed from 1 October 2007 to 30 September 2008. Fourteen months after diagnosis, participants completed a questionnaire developed to measure the aspects of rehabilitation. Logistic regression analyses were used to explore the association between sex, age, and diagnosis, and the outcome variables for rehabilitation. *Results* A total of 3,439 patients participated, yielding an overall response rate of 70%. One third of the cancer patients reported a need for physical rehabilitation and one third for psychological rehabilitation. Half of the patients participated in at least one activity. Unmet needs were most often reported in psychological, sexual, and financial areas. Women expressed more needs, participated more often in

L. V. Holm (⊠) • D. G. Hansen • P. V. Larsen • J. Kragstrup • J. Søndergaard National Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation,

Research Unit of General Practice, University of Southern Denmark, JB Winsløws vej 9A, 5000 Odense C, Denmark e-mail: lholm@health.sdu.dk

C. Johansen Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Strandboulevarden 49, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark

P. Vedsted
Research Unit for General Practice, University of Aarhus, Vennelyst Boulevard 6,
8000 Aarhus C, Denmark rehabilitation activities, and had, to a higher extent, their emotional needs fulfilled. Breast cancer patients participated more often in physical rehabilitation. Elderly who expressed rehabilitation needs more often had them unresolved.

Conclusions A substantial variation in rehabilitation needs, participation in activities, and unmet needs in relation to sex, age, and cancer type was observed. Cancer care ought to systematically address the wide range of needs in all groups through integration of systematic needs assessment and targeted supply of offers.

Keywords Cancer · Patient · Rehabilitation · Unmet needs · Participation

Introduction

Cancer survivors experience physical, psychological, workrelated, and financial challenges and are potentially in need of individual and targeted rehabilitation [1, 2]. The World Health Organization (WHO) has defined rehabilitation as: "a process intended to enable people with disabilities to reach and maintain optimal physical, sensory, intellectual, psychological and social function" [3]. Hence, rehabilitation is wide-ranging and may encompass physical, psychological, work-related interventions, and financial support.

There is little knowledge about the overall number of cancer patients in need of rehabilitation efforts at different time points in the cancer trajectory. A Dutch cross-sectional study of patients with breast and bowel cancer (n=147) found that 26% of the patients indicated a need for rehabilitation [4], while a cross-sectional study from Norway including the ten most frequent cancer types (n=1,325) observed that 63% of the cancer patients reported a need for at least one rehabilitation service [5]. Based on nationwide and population-based

D Springer

register data, it has been estimated that up to 70% of all Danish cancer patients diagnosed within 1 year may have a need of rehabilitation of some kind [6]. Differences in the estimations of rehabilitation needs most likely reflect that most studies include different cancer types, obtain information at different points in time following diagnosis, and finally, define rehabilitation in various ways.

Besides needs, aspects of rehabilitation can also be illustrated through participation in rehabilitation and unmet needs. Two studies including only one or a few types of cancers (mainly breast cancer; n=132 resp. n=731) have assessed cancer patients' actual utilization of rehabilitation activities, and typically, a third of the patients participated in an activity [7, 8]. The unmet needs for rehabilitation among cancer patients seem to be pronounced with regard to a variety of physical, psychological, and sexual problems [9, 10]. In smaller surveys among breast cancer patients, the problems have been shown to persist beyond the treatment phase [11, 12], and generally, most of the evidence in this area is derived from small studies including only patients with one type of cancer and most often, breast cancer [13–16].

It is reasonable to hypothesize that there is a substantial variation in cancer patients' needs for and participation in rehabilitation, which, to some degree, can be explained by patient- and disease-related factors. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate associations between cancer survivors' sex, age, and diagnosis in relation to their (1) need for rehabilitation, (2) participation in rehabilitation activities, and (3) unmet needs for rehabilitation in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis.

Materials and methods

Design

We performed a population-based cohort study including incident cancer patients, except patients with nonmelanoma skin cancer, diagnosed from 1 October 2007 to 30 September 2008 in the Regions of Southern and Central Denmark (2.4 million residents) by obtaining information from hospital-based and national administrative registers. Information about rehabilitation issues was obtained from a patient questionnaire administered 14 months after diagnosis.

Setting

The Danish health care system is primarily a publicly funded system [17]. More than 98% of the Danish population is listed with a general practitioner (GP), who acts as a gatekeeper to the rest of the health care system [18]. Since

Springer

2007, the 98 municipalities have had the responsibility for most rehabilitation of patients with chronic disease, including cancer, while hospitals are still responsible for highly specialized rehabilitation [19]. The activities may include physiotherapy, other physical training, counseling with psychologist, dietary advice, counseling with social worker, occupational therapy, patient education, and smoking cessation counseling, but the offers vary across the country. Like other health services, rehabilitation provided by the public healthcare system and the municipalities is free of charge.

Cancer patients may participate in rehabilitation activities outside the public healthcare system and the municipalities. The Danish Cancer Society is a private patient organization offering patient support and counseling free of charge at counseling centers all over the country [20]. Furthermore, patients may seek self-financed rehabilitation from, e.g., private physiotherapists, psychologists, and alternative practitioners.

Study population

The study population was defined by the following means:

All residents of Denmark are assigned a unique ten-digit personal identification number, which includes information on date of birth and sex. This Personal Identification Number (CPR) is the key variable in linkages between public, health, and disease registries in the country [21].

From the regional hospitals' Patient Administrative System [22], we obtained information on all patients diagnosed with cancer (ICD 10 codes DC00-96, DD37-48) during the study period. The cancers were grouped into breast cancer, prostate, colo-rectal, gynecological, malignant melanoma, lung, lymphoma, head and neck, and other cancers. Furthermore, the cancers should be given an additional code, "the AZCA-1 code," which was the code for the first time the department had an encounter with the patient regarding the cancer. We included only patients aged 18 years or older listed with a GP in the two regions. Based on the National Patient Registry [23], we identified all patients in our sample with a previous diagnosis of cancer to ensure that the study population comprised incident cancer patients only.

Following identification by the administrative sampling procedure, each patient's GP was mailed a questionnaire to confirm that a cancer was diagnosed.

This cohort of incident cancer patients was established for the use in several research projects, and 6 months following date of diagnosis, patients were mailed a questionnaire, which included a request for them to confirm that they had cancer for the first time and giving them the possibility of declining the use of the information given by their GP. Prior to the distribution of the 14month patient questionnaires, vital status and postal address were confirmed by linkage to the Civil Registration System [21], which is continuously updated on these matters. Non-responders were sent a reminder after 3 weeks. All letters included the questionnaire and a prepaid return envelope.

Development of the 14-month patient questionnaire

The patient questionnaire comprised 171 items and was designed to give information about various aspects of cancer rehabilitation [24], including those presented in this study. Ad hoc questions covering the three different aspects of rehabilitation (1) perceived needs, (2) participation, and (3) unmet needs were developed with an empirical background established through extensive literature review, as well as a report and a PhD thesis on the subject [25, 26], keeping WHO's definition of rehabilitation in mind. The list of rehabilitation activities was guided by activities present in the municipalities, as well as activities provided to residents by the Danish Cancer Society.

The questionnaire was pilot-tested and revised in a threestep procedure. Researchers active in the field of cancer rehabilitation were asked to comment on content, layout, volume, and intelligibility of the draft. Subsequently, ten cancer patients were asked to fill in the questionnaire, and in a semi-structured interview with the first author, these patients provided comments on content, layout, volume, and intelligibility. Based on all these pilot activities, questions were revised and a new draft was completed. The last pilot study included 100 cancer patients, who were asked to fill in a mailed version, enabling us to examine discrimination and acceptability and make the final corrections. The overall participation rate in this pilot study was 75%.

Data on rehabilitation

The rehabilitation variables covered self-assessed perceived need for rehabilitation, participation in rehabilitation activities, and unmet rehabilitation needs from time of cancer diagnosis until the day of filling in the questionnaire.

"Need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period" and "unmet rehabilitation after 14 months" were asked for thematically, i.e., "physical," "emotional," "family oriented," "sexual," "work-related," and "financial" areas.

As an example, the following questions were asked with regard to physical needs:

- To what extent from diagnosis and until now have you needed professional help with physical problems? (response: "not at all," "to a small extent," "to some extent," and "to a great extent")
- Until now, to what extent have you had your needs fulfilled in terms of help with physical problems? (response: "not at all," "to a small extent," "to some extent," "to a great extent," and "not relevant")

Similar questions were asked for all areas. Patients were categorized as having an "unmet need" if they had expressed a "need for rehabilitation" during the 14-month period, and the need, to some extent, was not fulfilled after 14 months.

"Participation in rehabilitation activities" was assessed by asking:

 Have you from diagnosis and until now participated in any of the following activities due to problems caused by your cancer disease? (listing of possible providers/activities)

Three categories of activities were defined based on profession of the provider/activity: (1) "Physical activities" (physiotherapist, occupational therapist, chiropractor, patient education, smoking cessation counseling, nutritional information, physical training, and alternative practitioner including acupuncturist and reflexologist), (2) "Psychological activities" (psychologist, marriage counselor or sexologist, supportive group sessions or patient associations, and spiritual counseling), and (3) "work-related/financial activities" (social worker, union representative or employer, financial or insurance counselor). Furthermore, the variable "Participation in one or more activities" was defined based on the abovementioned categories.

Statistical analysis

Need for rehabilitation was dichotomized into "no need" ("not at all") and "need" (combining "to a small extent," "to some extent", and "to a great extent"), and similarly, unmet need was dichotomized into "unmet need" and "met need." Answers in the "not relevant" category were excluded from the analyses. For analyses regarding "unmet rehabilitation needs after 14 months," only patients expressing a "need for rehabilitation" were included.

Univariate and multiple logistic regression analyses were used to explore the association between sex, age, and diagnosis, and the rehabilitation variables. In presence of an interaction between age group and sex, the analyses were stratified on sex. All tests were twosided, and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Adjusted odds ratios (OR_{adj}) are presented with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). Analyses were performed using Stata Release 11 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Results

Of the 4,947 subjects eligible at 14 months, 3,439 returned the questionnaire (70%) (Fig. 1). Table 1 shows

D Springer



responders and non-responders with regard to sex, age, and diagnoses.

Need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period

Self-perceived need for physical and psychological rehabilitation was equally frequent, 32% and 31%, respectively (Table 2). Overall, the higher the age, the less likely the patients were to express a need for rehabilitation. Women expressed rehabilitation needs in emotional, physical, family oriented, and work-related areas more often than men.

Participation in rehabilitation activities

Overall, 52% had participated in at least one rehabilitation activity (Table 3). Physical activities were used by 42%, psychological by 17%, and work-related/finance-related activities by 12%. The single most used activity was physiotherapy (31%), followed by physical training (15%), psychologist (11%), dietician (10%), alternative practitioner (including acupuncturist or reflexologist) (7%), and social

Springer

worker (6%) (data not shown). Women were more likely to participate in physical and psychological activities, while no sex difference was observed with regard to counseling about work/economy. The oldest patients were less likely to participate in activities. Patients with breast cancer participated more frequently in physical activities compared with other cancer patients.

Unmet rehabilitation needs after 14 months

Among patients who had expressed a need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period, unmet needs were most common for sexual problems (50%) and least common for physical problems (17%) (Table 4). Financial issues were still unsolved for one third. Men were more likely to have emotional unmet needs than women, and higher age was associated with a greater likelihood of unmet needs in all areas, except for physical and financial problems. Compared with patients with breast cancer, unmet needs for physical rehabilitation were more common among patients with colo-rectal, gynecological, and head and neck cancers.

 Table 1
 Medical and demographic characteristics of responders and non-responders in a cohort study of cancer rehabilitation

	Responders, <i>n</i> (%) 3,439 (69.5)	Non-responders, <i>n</i> (%) 1,508 (30.5)
Sex	100	
Men	1,466 (42.6)	712 (47.2)
Women	1,973 (57.4)	796 (52.8)
Age (years)		
18-39	152 (4.4)	118 (7.8)
40-49	331 (9.6)	154 (10.2)
50-59	660 (19.2)	292 (19.4)
60–69	1,263 (36.8)	419 (27.8)
70–79	802 (23.3)	338 (22.4)
80+	231 (6.7)	187 (12.4)
Cancer diagnoses		
Breast	976 (28.4)	314 (20.8)
Prostate	501 (14.6)	179 (11.9)
Colo-rectal	522 (15.2)	213 (14.1)
Gynecological	230 (6.7)	120 (7.9)
Malignant melanoma	233 (6.8)	102 (6.8)
Lung	188 (5.5)	113 (7.5)
Lymphoma	104 (3.0)	44 (2.9)
Head and neck	125 (3.6)	81 (5.4)
Other	560 (16.2)	342 (22.7)

Discussion

Main findings

Needs for physical and psychological rehabilitation were equally frequent. One third of the cancer patients alive at 14 months post- diagnosis experienced these needs. Women were more likely to express a need for rehabilitation; they took part more often in activities relevant for psychological and physical problems and had, to a higher extent, fulfilled their emotional needs. In general, older cancer patients were less likely to express a need for and participate in rehabilitation. Unmet needs among elderly who wanted professional help were, however, more frequent compared with younger patients.

Strengths and weaknesses

Our results are based on a large population-based, consecutively sampled cohort of patients diagnosed with an incident cancer during a 1-year period in two representative regions in Denmark. The sampling was based on administrative data. Misclassification of the cancer diagnosis is a potential limitation. However, the regional hospital's Patient Administrative System is used for administrative purposes, and the validity is high [23]. In addition, we reduced misclassification by asking the GPs whether the cancer diagnosis was correct.

Due to incomplete use of the additional AZCA-1 code which was not known until after the sampling, 38% of potentially eligible patients were not identified by the administrative sampling procedure. However, it was random patients who did not get the code, and analyses showed only minor differences between the patients included and the full sample of all eligible patients (data not shown). The two most pronounced differences were that of the primarily included patients 19% had breast cancer compared with 16% in the full sample. This could have slightly overestimated our results regarding need for and participation in rehabilitation. Secondly, an under-sampling of the oldest patients (+80 years) was seen compared with the full sample (13% vs. 17%). This could have underestimated the absolute figures for unmet rehabilitation needs. However, as we calculated the relative associations and adjusted for differences in sex, age, and cancer type, this selection bias can be regarded as negligible.

The response rate was high among the patients who received the questionnaire. Among responders, there was a slight overrepresentation of women, the 60–69-year-olds and patients with breast cancer (Table 1). Hence, the absolute figures for needs and activities might be overestimated. This could also be caused by the fact that individuals who respond may tend to be those in need and active in relation to rehabilitation. However, as this might have made the group included in the analyses slightly more homogeneous with less variation, the relative associations found in this study may actually be underestimated.

Participants were asked about needs and activities for a 14-month period, but the cancer disease and cancer-related activities are likely to be of major importance to most patients and therefore remembered for a long time. Hence, recall bias is supposedly low.

An important question is whether our results are generalizable. In Denmark, there are relatively small regional differences with respect to organization of the health care system and prevalence of diseases. Therefore, we assume that our results are generalizable to all of Denmark. Furthermore, our findings that patient characteristics were associated with needs, participation, and unmet needs are likely to be generalizable to other countries with similar health care systems. It must be kept in mind that the results represent cancer patients who survived for more than 1 year and therefore may not apply to short-time survivors.

Comparison with other studies

Similar to our results, a Norwegian study including the ten most frequent cancer types (n=1,325) showed that need for physical rehabilitation followed by psychological rehabilitation

D Springer

	Physical area	rea				Emotional area	l			Family oriented area	iented area	_	
	n=3,242					<i>n</i> =3,254				n=3,250			
	(%) u	OF	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(I)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	OR	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Needs, total Sex	1,028 (31.7)	- (2		ī		997 (30.6)	1	I		453 (13.9)	1		ī
Men	352 (25.4)		1.00	1.00		327 (23.5)	1.00	1.00		145 (10.4)	1.00	00	1.00
Women	676 (36.5)		1.69**	1.36^{**} $(1.01-1.70)$	-1.70)	670 (35.9)	1.82**	1.72** (1.72** (1.37–2.17)	308 (16.6)		1.70^{**}	1.40* (1.04-1.88)
Age (years)													
18-39	54 (36.0)		1.00	1.00		82 (54.3)	1.00	1.00		47 (31.3)) 1.00	00	1.00
40-49	149 (46.4)		1.54*	1.35 (0.90-2.03)	.03)	176 (53.8)	0.98	0.86 (0.2	0.86(0.57 - 1.28)	96 (29.3)		1	0.82 (0.53-1.27)
50-59	263 (41.3)		1.25	1.13 (0.77–1.65)	.65)	279 (43.8)	0.66*	0.59** (0.59 * (0.40 - 0.85)	135 (21.2)		0.59**	0.55** (0.36-0.83)
69-09	339 (27.8)		0.68*	0.63* (0.43-0.91)	(0.91)	304 (25.0)	0.28**	0.25** (0.25^{**} ($0.17-0.36$)	117 (9.6)		0.23**	0.22** (0.14-0.33)
70-79	172 (23.6)		0.55**	0.53** (0.36-0.78)	-0.78)	125 (17.0)	0.17^{**}	0.16^{**} (0.16^{**} ($0.11-0.24$)	48 (6.6)		0.15**	0.15^{**} (0.09–0.24)
80+	51 (27.4)		0.67	0.64 (0.39–1.03)	.03)	31 (16.4)	0.17^{**}	0.15** (0.15^{**} ($0.09-0.26$)	10 (5.3)		0.12^{**}	0.12** (0.06-0.25)
Cancer diagnosis													
Breast	367 (39.5)		1.00	1.00		338 (36.2)	1.00	1.00		152 (16.3)		00	1.00
Prostate	96 (20.7)		0.40^{**}	0.70* (0.50-0.99)	(66.0	89 (19.1)	0.42**	1.16 (0.8	1.16(0.80 - 1.66)	30 (6.4)		0.35**	0.85 (0.51-1.43)
Colo-rectal	142 (29.0)		0.62**	0.84 (0.65–1.10)	.10)	109 (22.2)	0.51^{*}	0.88 (0.0	0.88 (0.66 - 1.18)	50 (10.2)		0.58**	0.96 (0.66–1.41)
Gynecological	69 (31.9)		0.72*	0.72* (0.52-0.99)	(66.0	79 (36.1)	0.99	1.00 (0.7	1.00(0.72 - 1.38)	43 (19.6)		5	1.25 (0.85-1.85)
Malignant melanoma	49 (22.4)		0.44^{**}	0.48^{**} ($0.33-0.68$)	-0.68)	51 (23.2)	0.53^{**}	0.52** (0.52^{**} $(0.35-0.75)$	19 (8.6)		0.49**	0.43* (0.25-0.73)
Lung	71 (39.7)		1.01	1.43*(1.01-2.04)	2.04)	70 (39.3)	1.14	2.19** ($2.19^{**}(1.52-3.16)$	28 (15.6)		5	$1.65^{*}(1.03-2.66)$
Lymphoma	35 (34.3)		0.80	0.92 (0.59–1.44)	.44)	49(48.0)	1.63*	2.24 **(2.24 **(1.42 - 3.51)	24 (23.8)		0	1.90° $(1.12-3.23)$
Head and neck	32 (26.		0.56**	0.69 (0.43–1.09)	(60.	39 (33.3)	0.88	1.29 (0.8	1.29(0.82 - 2.04)	15 (12.9)	-	9	0.97 (0.52–1.80)
Other	167 (31.9)		0.72**	0.92 (0.70–1.20)	.20)	173 (32.9)	0.87	1.29 (0.	1.29 (0.98–1.70)	92 (17.6)	1.09	6	1.42* (1.01–2.02)
	Sexual area						Work-related area	l area		Fina	Financial area		
	<i>n</i> =3,197						n = 1,276			n=1	n=1,895		
	n (%) (ORcrude	Men $n=1,3$ (95% CI)	Men <i>n</i> =1,366 ORadj ^b (95% CI)	Women $n^{=}$ (95% CI)	Women $n = 1,829$ ORadj ^b (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(I) n (%)		ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Needs, total Sex	529 (16.6)	I	I		I		252 (19.8)	I	I	257	257 (13.4)	I	ī
Men	308 (22.5)	1.00	T		I		77 (14.3)	1.00	1.00	118	118 (13.8)	1.00	1.00
Women	221 (12.1)	0.47**	I		I		175 (23.7)	1.87^{**}	1.55* (1.01–2.39)		139 (13.4)	76.0	0.86 (0.60–1.25)
Age (years)													
18–39	34 (22.5)	1.00	1.00		1.00		23 (22.3)	1.00	1.00	20	20 (16.7)	1.00	1.00
40-49	77 (23.7)	1.07	0.83 (0.35–2.02)	5-2.02)	0.91 (0	0.91 (0.51–1.62)	73 (32.0)	1.64	1.43 (0.82–2.51)		51 (19.5)	1.21	1.33 (0.74–2.38)
50 50	122 (71 0)	0.01	CV 07 00 0	1001	01110	0 61 (0 35 1 06)	10 000 111	1 41			1 0 0 0		

🙆 Springer

Table 2 (continued)										
	Sexual area				Work-related area	l area		Financial area	a	
	n=3,197				n = 1,276			<i>n</i> =1,895		
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORcrude Men $n=1,366$ ORadj ^b (95% CI)	Women $n=1,829$ ORadj ^b (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORcrude ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORcrude ORadj ^a (95% CI)
69-09	203 (17.0) 0.71	0.71	0.72 (0.34–1.51)	0.25** (0.14-0.44)	32 (9.8)	0.38**	0.37** (0.20-0.69)	66 (10.8)	0.61	0.65 (0.37–1.15)
70–79	(69 (9.7)	0.37^{**}	0.33** (0.15-0.72)	0.04^{**} ($0.01-0.11$)	6 (3.6)	0.13^{**}	0.12** (0.05-0.32)	18 (5.6)	0.30^{**}	$0.30^{**} (0.15 - 0.61)$
80+	13 (7.1)	0.26**	$0.26^{**} (0.10 - 0.69)$	$0.06^{**} (0.01 - 0.26)$	2 (4.0)	0.14^{*}	0.14* (0.03-0.63)	5 (6.0)	0.32*	0.35 (0.12-1.00)
Cancer diagnosis										
Breast	111 (12.1)	1.00	I	1.00	94 (23.9)	1.00	1.00	62 (11.7)	1.00	1.00
Prostate	159 (34.3)	3.79**	2.44** (1.67–3.56)	I	15 (9.7)	0.34^{**}	1.11 (0.52-2.36)	22 (8.2)	0.67	0.93 (0.49–1.78)
Colo-rectal	68 (14.2)	1.20	1.00	1.11 (0.65–1.89)	31 (16.8)	0.64	1.17 (0.69–1.98)	32 (11.7)	0.99	1.17 (0.70–1.96)
Gynecological	41 (19.1)	1.71^{**}	I	1.83** (1.21–2.77)	26 (30.2)	1.38	1.36 (0.80-2.32)	22 (17.3)	1.58	1.64 (0.96–2.82)
Malignant melanoma	16 (7.3)	0.57*	0.34^{**} ($0.15-0.75$)	0.34^{**} ($0.16-0.75$)	8 (8.3)	0.29^{**}	0.36* (0.16-0.80)	13 (10.0)	0.84	0.83 (0.43-1.62)
Lung	27 (15.7)	1.35	0.99 (0.53–1.84)	1.53 (0.74–3.16)	8 (15.7)	0.59	1.09 (0.47–2.54)	18 (17.1)	1.56	2.00* (1.07-3.75)
Lymphoma	15 (15.0)	1.28	0.87 (0.40–1.87)	0.76 (0.29–2.02)	9 (19.6)	0.78	0.93 (0.41–2.10)	11 (16.2)	1.46	1.39 (0.67–2.91)
Head and neck	12 (10.4)	0.84	0.31** (0.13-0.72)	1.49 (0.54-4.11)	14 (25.5)	1.09	1.57 (0.74–3.32)	12 (15.0)	1.33	1.20 (0.58–2.50)
Other	80 (15.4)	1.32	0.81 (0.52–1.25)	1.07 (0.64 - 1.78)	47 (22.5)	0.93	1.38 (0.84–2.28)	65 (20.8)	1.99	2.03** (1.28-3.22)
For each area (physica	l, emotional, fa	umily orients	ed, sexual, work-related, ¿	For each area (physical, emotional, family oriented, sexual, work-related, and financial) number, frequencies and crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to sex, age, and cancer	encies and cru	de and adju	sted odds ratios (ORs)	are shown wi	th regard to	sex, age, and cancer

diagnosis ^a Adjusted for sex, age group, and cancer diagnosis

98

 $^{\rm b}$ Adjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis $*_{p<0.05}$ $*_{p<0.01}$

🙆 Springer

	One or more activities	activities		One or more physical activities	physical a	ctivities	One or mor	e psycholc	One or more psychological activities	One or more activities	e work-rel	One or more work-related/financial activities
	n=3,257			n=3,439			n=3,439			<i>n</i> =3,439		
	(%) <i>u</i>	ORcrude	ORcrude ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) <i>u</i>	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORcrude ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORcrude ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Participation, total	1,697 (52.1)	1	1	1,447 (42.1)	1	1	586 (17.0)	3	1	403 (11.7)	0	1
Sex												
Men	545 (39.4)	1.00	1.00	438 (29.9)	1.00	1.00	152 (10.4)	1.00	1.00	134 (9.1)	1.00	1.00
Women	1,152 (61.5)	2.46**	1.54** (1.25–1.90)	1009 (51.1)	2.46**	1.41** (1.14-1.73)	434 (22.0)	2.44**	$1.90^{**}(1.43-2.52)$	269 (13.6)	1.56^{**}	1.03 (0.74–1.43)
Age (years)												
18-39	102 (67.1)	1.00	1.00	68 (44.7)	1.00	1.00	63 (41.5)	1.00	1.00	55 (36.2)	1.00	1.00
40-49	234 (72.2)	1.27	0.88 (0.57–1.37)	197 (59.5)	1.82^{**}	1.29 (0.85–1.96)	118 (35.6)	0.78	0.59* (0.39-0.89)	87 (26.3)	0.63*	0.50** (0.32-0.78)
50-59	443 (69.7)	1.13	0.81 (0.54–1.22)	344 (52.1)	1.34	1.02 (0.70-1.50)	184 (27.9)	0.55**	0.42** (0.29-0.63)	163 (24.7)	0.58**	0.48** (0.32-0.72)
69-09	600 (49.6)	0.48^{**}	0.34** (0.23-0.51)	546 (43.2)	0.94	0.74 (0.51–1.08)	154 (12.2)	0.20^{**}	0.16** (0.11-0.24)	71 (5.6)	0.11^{**}	$0.09^{**}(0.06-0.13)$
70–79	257 (34.7)	0.26^{**}	0.21** (0.14-0.32)	238 (29.7)	0.52**	0.48** (0.33-0.71)	53 (6.6)	0.10^{**}	$0.09^{**}(0.06-0.14)$	19 (2.4)	0.04^{**}	0.04** (0.02-0.07)
80+	61 (31.4)	0.22^{**}	0.18** (0.11-0.29)	54 (23.4)	0.38**	0.34** (0.21-0.55)	14 (6.1)	0.10^{**}	$0.08^{**} (0.04 - 0.15)$	8 (3.5)	0.06**	0.05** (0.02-0.12)
Cancer diagnosis												
Breast	694 (73.9)	1.00	1.00	652 (66.8)	1.00	1.00	239 (24.5)	1.00	1.00	152 (15.6)	1.00	1.00
Prostate	163 (35.0)	0.19**	0.41** (0.30-0.57)	139 (27.7)	0.19**	0.34** (0.25-0.47)	34 (6.8)	0.22^{**}	0.77 (0.47–1.24)	23 (4.6)	0.26^{**}	0.65 (0.36–1.17)
Colo-rectal	192 (39.8)	0.23**	0.36** (0.27-0.47)	149 (28.5)	0.20^{**}	0.28** (0.22-0.36)	70 (13.4)	0.48^{**}	0.91 (0.65–1.27)	47 (9.0)	0.54**	0.84 (0.56–1.27)
Gynecological	107 (47.8)	0.32**	0.31** (0.23-0.42)	78 (33.9)	0.26^{**}	0.25** (0.19-0.34)	47 (20.4)	0.79	0.76 (0.53–1.11)	30 (13.0)	0.81	0.77 (0.49–1.21)
Malignant melanoma	71 (32.3)	0.17**	0.16** (0.11-0.22)	52 (22.3)	0.14^{**}	0.16** (0.11-0.22)	25 (10.7)	0.37**	0.32** (0.20-0.52)	12 (5.2)	0.29**	0.20** (0.10-0.38)
Lung	93 (52.0)	0.38**	$0.62^{**}(0.43-0.89)$	75 (39.9)	0.33**	0.46** (0.33-0.65)	31 (16.5)	0.61^{*}	1.22 (0.78–1.92)	15 (8.0)	0.47^{**}	0.82 (0.44–1.50)
Lymphoma	54 (54.0)	0.41^{**}	0.47** (0.30-0.74)	45 (43.3)	0.38**	0.44** (0.28-0.67)	25 (24.0)	0.98	1.24 (0.74–2.08)	30 (28.9)	2.20^{**}	2.36** (1.39-4.03)
Head and neck	69 (58.5)	0.50*	0.65 (0.42-1.01)	54 (43.2)	0.38**	0.49** (0.32-0.74)	27 (21.6)	0.85	1.35 (0.81–2.25)	11 (8.8)	0.52*	0.49* (0.24-0.99)
Other	254 (48.0)	0.33**	0.44** (0.33-0.57)	203 (36.3)	0.28**	0.37** (0.29-0.48)	88 (15.7)	0.57**	$0.83 \ (0.60 - 1.15)$	83 (14.8)	0.94	1.01 (0.69–1.47)
For each area (one or more activities, one or more adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to ^a Adjusted for sex, age group, and cancer diagnosis	or more activi s (ORs) are sh age group, and	ities, one own with 1 cancer d	physical ac 5 sex, age,	tivities, one or more and cancer diagnosis	more psycl nosis	hological activities,	and one of n	tore work-	related/financial acti	vities) numb	er, freque	ncies and crude and

 Δ Springer

p < 0.05**p < 0.01

	Physical area			Emotional area	a		Family oriented area	ed area	
	<i>n</i> =922			n = 883			n = 380		
	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total Sex	159 (17.3)	1	1	209 (23.7)	T	I	122 (32.1)	ī	ī
Men Women Age (years)	63 (19.8) 96 (15.9)	1.00 0.76	1.00 0.96 (0.60–1.54)	85 (31.1) 124 (20.3)	$1.00 \\ 0.56^{**}$	1.00 0.58** (0.37–0.92)	43 (34.4) 79 (31.0)	1.00 0.86	1.00 1.06 (0.58–1.93)
<60 ≥60 Cancer diagnosis	64 (15.3) 95 (18.9)	1.00	1.00 1.17 (0.81–1.70)	91 (18.3) 118 (30.7)	1.00 1.98**	1.00 2.05** (1.47–2.85)	65 (26.9) 57 (41.3)	1.00 1.92**	1.00 2.03** (1.27-3.25)
Breast Prostate	40 (12.1) 16 (18.4)	1.00 1.63	1.00 1.46 (0.65–3.27) 1.02* (1.07-2.48)	55 (17.7) 24 (30.8)	1.00 2.06*	1.00 0.94 (0.45–1.97) 0.28 (0.41 1.40)	33 (26.4) 7 (28.0)	1.00 1.08	1.00 0.83 (0.26–2.62) 1.62 (0.27 2.62)
Gynecological	28 (22.1) 14 (24.6)	2.36*	2.33* (1.17–4.65)	17 (23.9)	1.15	0.78 (0.41 - 1.49) 1.47 (0.79 - 2.74)	10(30.3)	1.21	1.02 (0.72 - 3.06) 1.16 (0.49 - 2.72)
Malignant melanoma Lung	4 (9.8) 15 (22.7)	0.78 2.13*	0.75 (0.25 - 2.26) 1.97 (0.97 - 4.01)	17 (37.8) 16 (28.6)	2.81^{**} 1.85	2.51^{*} (1.24–5.05) 1.31 (0.66–2.60)	5(31.3) 10(40.0)	1.27 1.86	1.29 (0.40 - 4.13) 1.46 (0.57 - 3.72)
Lymphoma Head and neck Other	7 (21.9) 9 (32.1) 26 (16 9)	2.03 3.43** 1 47	1.95 (0.76–5.00) 3.32** (1.34–8.22) 1.41 (0.77–2.57)	15 (34.1) 13 (35.1) 34 (22 7)	2.39* 2.51* 1.36	2.05 (0.99–4.27) 2.00 (0.90–4.43) 0.98 (0.56–1.72)	9 (40.9) 6 (42.9) 26 (33 3)	1.93 2.09 1 30	2.19 (0.81–5.89) 2.09 (0.64–6.85) 1.48 (0.72–3.04)
	Sexual area			Work-related area	d area	· ·	Financial area	ca	· ·
	<i>n</i> =454			n=222-230			n = 230		
	(%) <i>u</i>	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) <i>u</i>	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total	225 (49.6)	I	1	43 (18.7)	1	I	79 (34.4)	T	I
Men	124 (46.8)	1.00	1.00	18 (26.1)	1.00	1.00	42 (39.3)	1.00	1.00
Women	101 (53.4)	1.31	$0.80 \ (0.42 - 1.55)$	25 (15.5)	0.52	0.53 (0.19–1.47)	37 (30.1)	0.67	0.53 (0.24–1.19)
Age (years)									
<60	105 (47.7)	1.00	1.00	33 (16.6)	1.00	1.00	53 (33.3)	1.00	1.00
≥60 	120 (51.3)	1.15	1.83** (1.16–2.89)	10 (32.3)	2.40*	2.98* (1.14–7.80)	26 (36.6)	1.16	1.08 (0.58–2.03)
Cancer diagnosis Rreast	(26 (56 8)	1 00	1 00	(1717)	1 00	1 00	10 (38 0)	1 00	1 00
Prostate	51 (36.4)	0.44**	0.24^{**} (0.10–0.56)	2 (15.4)	1.11	0.30 (0.04–2.35)	10 (55.6)	2.04	1.06 (0.27–4.13)
Colo-rectal	29 (48.3)	0.71	0.52 (0.23–1.17)	4 (14.8)	1.06	0.55 (0.13–2.36)	6 (23.1)	0.49	0.32 (0.09–1.08)
Gynecological	16 (48.5)	0.71	0.68 (0.30–1.52)	5 (19.2)	1.45	1.45 (0.45-4.62)	6 (28.6)	0.65	0.65 (0.21-1.96)

 Δ Springer

	Sexual area			Work-related area	area		Financial area	a	
	<i>n</i> =454			n=222-230			n=230		
	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Malignant melanoma	8 (72.7)	2.02	1.68 (0.40-6.99)	0 (0)	1	1	3 (23.1)	0.49	0.31 (0.07–1.46)
Lung	14 (66.7)	1.52	1.13 (0.39-3.27)	4 (50.0)	6.08*	4.02 (0.75-21.7)	7 (43.8)	1.27	0.86 (0.25-3.02)
Lymphoma	8 (53.3)	0.87	0.72 (0.22-2.36)	2 (22.2)	1.74	1.65 (0.29-9.26)	4 (36.4)	0.93	0.69 (0.17-2.88)
Head and neck	7 (63.6)	1.33	1.24 (0.32-4.81)	4 (28.6)	2.43	1.63 (0.36-7.29)	6 (50.0)	1.63	0.97 (0.23-4.10)
Other	38 (55.9)	0.96	0.77 (0.35-1.69)	10 (25.0)	2.03	1.25 (0.39-4.05)	18 (28.6)	0.65	0.43 (0.16–1.13)
For each area (physical, diamosis	emotional, family o	oriented, sexual,	For each area (physical, emotional, family oriented, sexual, work-related, and financial) number, frequencies and crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to sex, age, and cancer diamosis	ial) number, frequ	encies and crud	le and adjusted odds ratio	s (ORs) are show	m with regard to	o sex, age, and cancer
^a Adjusted for sex, age group, and cancer diagnosis	group, and cancer c	liagnosis							
* <i>p</i> <0.05									
**p<0.01									

D Springer

Table 4 (continued)

was the most frequent [5]. They also reported that breast cancer patients were more likely to report a need for physical rehabilitation, and we showed that they are more frequent participants in physical activities. This most likely reflects a rehabilitation need in relation to physical problems such as limitation in arm mobility and lymphedema, and furthermore, that preventive physiotherapy is systematically offered at some hospitals to this patient group. Interventions with a physical component have been found to improve physical functioning, strengths, emotional wellbeing, and reduce fatigue among cancer survivors [27], and a more systematic approach may therefore benefit all cancer patients.

Our results showed that, compared with men, women, to a higher extent, expressed needs and participated in rehabilitation. This could reflect that women to a higher extent have a need for rehabilitation, more often articulate a need for help, or that current rehabilitation offers appeal more to women, i.e., activities match female demands and values. A cross-sectional study of 1,876 Danish cancer survivors participating in a 1-week residential rehabilitation course, offered to all cancer patients, support this explanation, as 85% of the participants were women [28]. In another crosssectional study of 396 cancer patients with various diagnoses, significant gender differences were found with regard to health care preferences [29]. Furthermore, our results show that men have significantly higher emotional unmet needs, indicating that rehabilitation efforts should be gender-tailored.

Only a few smaller cross-sectional studies have assessed utilization of rehabilitation activities among cancer patients [7, 8]. As these studies mainly included patients with breast cancer or assessed utilization of one single activity, direct comparison with our study is difficult. However, utilization of activities in these studies was also significantly higher among younger age groups. Our study adds to present knowledge that younger patients in general express a greater need for rehabilitation, presumably related to multiple challenges to handle in that period of life. At the same time, it could be an indication that the health care system does not always identify the needs among elderly, for whom it may be more difficult to ask for and seek out services. We found that elderly, who had expressed rehabilitation needs, more often had them unresolved.

A Danish survey including cancer patients at various sites (n=1,490) found that half of the patients who needed psychological counseling did not receive it [9]. In our study, we distinguished between three different psychological unmet needs, showing a much higher extent of sexually unmet needs compared with emotional and family oriented unmet needs. We believe that it is crucial to discriminate between different psychological needs, and our findings underline a need for health care professionals to address delicate issues, including sexual problems. Several studies of women with

breast cancer have confirmed that unmet needs in both the sexual and psychological area are of relevance. [12, 14–16, 30, 31].

Conclusion and implications

In conclusion, one third of the total group of cancer patients reported a need for physical rehabilitation and in one third, a need for psychological rehabilitation. Half of the patients participated in one or more rehabilitation activities. Unmet needs were most often reported in the psychological, sexual, and financial areas. We observed a substantial variation in these matters pertinent to disease and patient characteristics. This study suggests that cancer care ought to systematically address the wide range of needs in all groups through integration of systematic needs assessment and targeted supply of offers. Emphasis should be put on development of assessment and monitoring tools for use in everyday clinical practice.

Acknowledgment The authors wish to thank all patients for participating in the study. We also wish to thank Lise Keller Stark, Research Unit of General Practice, University of Southern Denmark, for proofreading.

Conflict interests statement The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper. The authors have full control over all primary data and agree to allow the journal the review data if requested.

Funding This study is funded by the Danish Cancer Society, the Novo Nordisk Foundation, The Health Insurance Foundation, and the Region of Southern Denmark. The National Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation is funded by the Danish Cancer Society.

Ethical approval The study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency (file number 2008-41-1887).

According to the Regional Scientific Ethics Committee, the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee System Act does not apply to this Project.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License which permits any use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and the source are credited.

References

- Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E (2006) From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C. Comittee on Cancer Survivorship. Improving Care and Quality of Life, National Cancer Policy Board, Institute of Medicine, and National Research Council
- Mikkelsen TH, Søndergaard J, Jensen AB, Olesen F (2008) Cancer rehabilitation: psychosocial rehabilitation needs after discharge from hospital? Scand J Prim Care 26:216–221
- http://www.who.int/topics/rehabilitation/en. Accessed 11 November 2011

- Van Harten WH, van Noort O, Warmerdam R, Henricks H, Seidal E (1998) Assessment of rehabilitation needs in cancer patients. Int J Rehabil Res 21:247–257
- Thorsen L, Gjerset GM, Loge JH, Kiserud CE, Skovlund E, Fløtten T, Fossa SD (2011) Cancer patients' needs for rehabilitation services. Acta Oncol 50:212–222
- Tvede CF, Brandstrup B, Engholm G, Tonnesen H (2003) Potential number of rehabilitated cancer patients in Denmark—an estimate. [in Danish]. Ugeskr Laeger 165:123–128
- Gray RE, Goel V, Fitch MI, Franssen E, Chart P, Greenberg M, Bakker D, Labrecque M, Hollowaty E, Raylene G, Hampson AW (2000) Utilization of professional supportive care services by women with breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 64:253– 258
- Plass A, Koch U (2001) Participation of oncological outpatients in psychosocial support. Psycho Oncol 10:511–520
- Ross L, Petersen MA, Johnsen AT, Lundstrøm LH, Groenvold M (2011) Are different groups of cancer patients offered rehabilitation to the same extent? A report from the population-based study "The Cancer Patient's World". Support Care Cancer. doi:10.1007/ s00520-011-1189-6
- Zebrack B (2009) Information and service needs for young adult cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 17:349–357
- Hodgkinson K, Butow P, Hunt GE, Pendlebury S, Hobbs KM, Wain G (2007) Breast cancer survivors' supportive care needs 2– 10 years after diagnosis. Support Care Cancer 15:515–523
- Schmid-Büchi S, Halfens RJG, Dassen T, van den Borne B (2011) Psychosocial problems and needs of posttreatment patients with breast cancer and their relatives. Eur J Oncol Nurs 15:260–266
- Liao Y-C, Liao W-Y, Shun S-C, Yu C-J, Yang P-C, Lai Y-H (2011) Symptoms, psychological distress, and supportive care needs in lung cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 19:1743–1751. doi:10.1007/s00520-010-1014-7
- Aranda S, Schoifield P, Weih L, Yates P, Milne D, Faulkner R, Voudouris N (2005) Mapping the quality of life and unmet needs of urban women with metastatic breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Care 11:211–222
- Luutonen S, Vahlberg T, Eloranta S, Hyväri H, Salminen E (2011) Breast cancer patients receiving postoperative radiotherapy: distress, depressive symptoms and unmet needs of psychosocial support. Radiother Oncol. 100:299–303
- Minstrell M, Winzenberg T, Rankin N, Hughes C, Walker J (2008) Supportive care of rural women with breast cancer in Tasmania, Australia: changing needs over time. Psycho Oncol 17:58–65
- Pedersen KM, Christiansen T, Bech M (2005) The Danish health care system: evolution—not revolution—in a decentralized system. Health Econ 14:41–57
- Christiansen T (2002) Organization and financing of the Danish health care system. Health Pol 59:107–118
- Hellbom M, Bergelt C, Bergenmar M, Gijsen B, Loge JH, Rautalathi M, Smaradottir A, Johansen C (2011) Cancer rehabilitation: a Nordic and European perspective. Acta Oncol 50:179–186
- 20. http://www.cancer.dk/. Accessed 8 December 2011
- Frank L (2000) Epidemiology. When an entire country is a cohort. Science 287:2398–2399
- 22. Johnsen SP, Larsson H, Tarone RE, McLaughlin JK, Nørgård B, Friis S, Sørensen HT (2005) Risk of hospitalization for myocardial infarction among users of rofecoxib, celecoxib and other NSAIDs: a population-based case–control study. Arch Intern Med 165:978– 984
- Andersen TF, Madsen M, Jorgensen J, Mellemkjær L, Olsen JH (1999) The Danish National Hospital Register. A valuable source of data for modern health sciences. Dan Med Bull 46:263–268
- Hansen DG, Bergholdt SH, Holm L, Kragstrup J, Bladt T, Søndergaard J (2011) A complex intervention to enhance the involvement of general practitioners in cancer rehabilitation.

D Springer

Protocol for a randomised controlled trial and feasibility study of a multimodal intervention. Acta Oncol 50:299–306

- 25. Groenvold M, Pedersen C, Jensen CR, Faber MT, Johnsen AT (2006) The cancer patient's world: a study of what Danish cancer patients need—results, assessments and proposals. Research Unit, Palliative Medical Department, H:S/Bispebjerg Hospital. [in Danish]
- 26. Mikkelsen TH (2009) Cancer rehabilitation in Denmark—with particular focus on the present and future role of general practice. Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Aarhus. PhD thesis
- Pekmezi DW, Demark-Wahnefried W (2011) Updated evidence in support of diet and exercise interventions in cancer survivors. Acta Oncol 50:167–178
- Høybye MT, Dalton SO, Christensen J, Larsen LR, Kuhn KG, Jensen JN, Carlsen K, Johansen C (2008) Research in Danish

cancer rehabilitation: social characteristics and late effects of cancer among participants in the FOCARE research project. Acta Oncol 47:47–55

- 29. Wessels H, De Graeff A, Wynia K, De Heus M, Kruitwagen CLJJ, Woltjer GTGJ, Teunissen SCCM, Voest EE (2010) Gender-related needs and preferences in cancer care indicate the need for an individualized approach to cancer patients. Oncologist 15:648–655
- Uchida M, Akechi T, Okuyama T, Sagawa R, Nakguchi T, Endo C, Yamashita H, Toyama T, Furukawa TA (2011) Patients' supportive care needs and psychological distress in advanced breast cancer patients in Japan. Jpn J Clin Oncol 41:530–536
- Schmid-Büchi S, Halfens RJG, Dassen T, van den Borne B (2008) A review of psychosocial needs of breast-cancer patients and their relatives. J Clin Nurs 17:2895–2909

Deringer

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation: A population-based cohort study

LISE VILSTRUP HOLM¹, DORTE GILSÅ HANSEN¹, PIA VELDT LARSEN¹, CHRISTOFFER JOHANSEN², PETER VEDSTED³, STINNE HOLM BERGHOLDT¹, JAKOB KRAGSTRUP¹ & JENS SØNDERGAARD¹

¹Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation, Research Unit of General Practice, University of Southern Denmark, Odense C, Denmark, ²Institute of Cancer Epidemiology, Danish Cancer Society, Copenhagen, Denmark and ³Research Centre for Cancer Diagnosis in Primary Care, Research Unit for General Practice, University of Aarhus, Aarhus C, Denmark

Abstract

Objectives. In a healthcare system with equal access we analysed possible associations between cancer survivors' socioeconomic status (SES) and their: 1) need for rehabilitation; 2) participation in rehabilitation activities; and 3) unmet needs for rehabilitation in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis. Methods. A population-based cohort study including incident cancer patients diagnosed from 1 October 2007 to 30 September 2008 in Denmark. Fourteen months after diagnosis participants completed a mailed out questionnaire developed to measure different aspects and dimensions of rehabilitation. Individual information on cohabitation status, education, income and labour market status was retrieved from national registers. Logistic regression analyses were used to explore associations between socioeconomic status and rehabilitation outcomes. Results. A total of 3439 patients responded (70%). Significant interactions between SES and sex were demonstrated and further analyses were therefore stratified for gender. In general, women and to a lesser extent men with short education and low income participated less often in activities and had in some areas more unmet needs. Women living alone more often expressed a rehabilitation need in the physical, emotional and financial area and had to a higher extent unmet needs in a number of areas. Men living alone and men outside the workforce had increased odds of unmet needs in the physical area. Conclusions. Despite equal access to care, SES had a significant impact on cancer survivors' rehabilitation. In general, the associations were most pronounced for female cancer patients. We suggest that special attention should be paid to socioeconomically disadvantaged groups by taking into account differences in SES in a clinical setting and when developing targeted rehabilitation programmes.

Cancer survivors are at risk of experiencing adverse physical and psychosocial effects of their cancer and its treatment [1,2]. The goal of rehabilitation is to 'enable people with disabilities to reach and maintain optimal physical, sensory, intellectual, psychological and social function' [3]. Hence, rehabilitation comprises multidisciplinary efforts, e.g. physical, psychological, and work- related interventions.

In order to organise targeted efforts it is important to gain knowledge about the many aspects of cancer survivors' needs for rehabilitation, participation in rehabilitation activities and their unmet needs. In recent published studies needs for rehabilitation vary between 30% and 70% [4–7], which may reflect methodological differences across studies, but may also mirror the fact that cancer patients represent a heterogeneous group with respect to patient- and disease-related factors. We recently published data from a population-based cohort study of 3439 Danish cancer survivors, in which we observed a substantial variation in the above characteristics, illustrated by the fact that women and younger patients were more likely to express rehabilitation needs and utilise activities. However, among those who expressed this need for professional help, unmet needs were more common among elderly patients, and in the emotional area men more frequently had unresolved needs [7].

Correspondence: Lise Vilstrup Holm, Research Unit of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, J.B. Winsløws Vej 9A, DK-5000 Odense C, Denmark. Tel: +45 65504195. Fax: +45 65503980. E-mail: lholm@health.sdu.dk

104

(Received 8 August 2012; accepted 26 October 2012)

ISSN 0284-186X print/ISSN 1651-226X online © 2013 Informa Healthcare DOI: 10.3109/0284186X.2012.745014

Several studies, including studies from Denmark and other countries characterised by having free access to health services at all levels, have shown social inequality in the cancer incidence and survival across all cancer sites [8,9]. However, no studies have investigated to what extent socioeconomic status (SES) influences the expression of needs, participation in cancer rehabilitation activities and unmet needs.

In order to address these questions we conducted a population-based cohort study of more than 3000 cancer survivors followed up in a 14-month period from date of diagnosis.

Material and methods

Design

We performed a population-based cohort study including incident cancer patients, except patients with non-melanoma skin cancer, diagnosed from 1 October 2007 to 30 September 2008 in the Regions of Southern and Central Denmark (2.4 million residents) by obtaining information from hospital-based and national administrative registers. Information about rehabilitation issues was obtained from a patient questionnaire administered 14 months after diagnosis.

The study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency (File number 2008-41-1887). According to the Regional Scientific Ethics Committee, the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee System Act does not apply to this project.

Setting

The Danish healthcare system is primarily publicly funded. More than 98% of the Danish population are listed with a general practitioner (GP), who acts as gatekeeper to the rest of the healthcare system. Since 2007, the 98 municipalities in Denmark have been responsible for most rehabilitation of patients with chronic diseases, including cancer, while hospitals are responsible for highly specialised rehabilitation. Rehabilitation activities may include physiotherapy, other physical training, counselling with psychologist, dietary advice, counselling with social worker, occupational therapy, patient education and smoking cessation counselling, but the offers vary across the country. Like other health services, rehabilitation provided by the public healthcare system and the municipalities is free of charge.

Cancer patients may participate in rehabilitation activities outside the public healthcare system and the municipalities, e.g. free of charge in the setting of the private patient organisation, The Danish Cancer Society, or self-financed at, e.g. private physiotherapists, psychologists and alternative practitioners.

Study population

All residents of Denmark are assigned a unique 10-digit personal identification number (CPR) permitting linkage between registers [10].

From the regional hospitals' Patient Administrative System [11] we obtained information on all adult patients (18 + years) diagnosed with cancer during the study period (ICD-10 codes DC00-96, DD37-48), assigned the registration code 'AZCA-1', indicating first encounter at the department regarding the cancer, and listed with a GP in one of the two regions. Based on the National Patient Register [12] all patients with a previous diagnosis of cancer were excluded. The cancers were grouped according to localisation (Table I).

Following identification by the administrative sampling procedure each patient's GP was mailed a questionnaire to confirm the cancer diagnosis.

This study cohort was established for several research projects, and six months following date of diagnosis patients were mailed a questionnaire asking them to confirm that they had cancer for the first time and giving them the possibility of declining the use of the information provided by their GP. Prior to the distribution of the 14-month patient questionnaires, vital status and postal address were confirmed by linkage to the Civil Registration System [13]. Non-responders were sent a reminder after three weeks. All letters included the questionnaire and a prepaid envelope.

Data on socioeconomic status

From Statistics Denmark [14] socioeconomic information was retrieved on an individual level for the year 2006 (the year before diagnosis), except for income which was retrieved for the years 2002-2006 to calculate a five-year average. Education was categorised according to the length of highest attained educational level: <10 years (primary and lower secondary school), 10-12 years (vocational education and upper secondary school), >12 years (short-, medium- and long-term higher education) [15]. Equivalent disposable income for a single family member comprised all income (wages, salaries, all types of supplementary benefits and pensions) after taxation for the entire household adjusted for number of persons in the household. Disposable income was calculated on the basis of the five-year average income of responders and categorised as low (1st quartile), medium (2nd and 3rd quartile) and high (4th quartile) [16]. Labour market status Table I. Medical and socio-demographic characteristics of responders and non-responders.

	Responders n (%)	Non–responders n (%)	
	3439 (69.5)	1508 (30.5)	pª
Sex			
Men	1466 (42.6)	712 (47.2)	0.003
Women	1973 (57.4)	796 (52.8)	
Age (years)			< 0.001
18-39	152 (4.4)	118 (7.8)	
40-49	331 (9.6)	154 (10.2)	
50-59	660 (19.2)	292 (19.4)	
60-69	1263 (36.8)	419 (27.8)	
70-79	802 (23.3)	338 (22.4)	
80+	231 (6.7)	187 (12.4)	
Cancer diagnoses			< 0.001
Breast	976 (28.4)	314 (20.8)	
Prostate	501 (14.6)	179 (11.9)	
Colorectal	522 (15.2)	213 (14.1)	
Gynaecological	230 (6.7)	102 (6.8)	
Malignant melanoma	233 (6.8)	120 (7.9)	
Lung	188 (5.5)	113 (7.5)	
Lymphoma	104 (3.0)	44 (2.9)	
Head and neck	125 (3.6)	81 (5.4)	
Other	560 (16.2)	342 (22.7)	
Cohabitation status*			< 0.001
Cohabiting/married	2574 (75.1)	977 (65.6)	
Living alone	854 (24.9)	513 (34,4)	
Highest attained education*			< 0.001
<10 years	1284 (38.3)	639 (45.1)	
10-12 years	1305 (38.9)	546 (38.6)	
> 12 years	763 (22.8)	230 (16.3)	
Income*			< 0.001
Low (1st quartile)	858 (25.0)	557 (37.3)	
Medium (2nd and 3rd quartile)	1717 (50.0)	661 (44.3)	
High (4th quartile)	858 (25.0)	275 (18.4)	
Labour market status*	000 000	THE MONTH	< 0.001
Working	1527 (45.2)	604 (41.2)	0.001
Pensioners	1565 (46.4)	690 (47.1)	
Outside the workforce	283 (8.4)	172 (11.7)	

*Percentage of missing data between 0.4% and 3.6%. $^a\chi^2\text{-test.}$

was categorised as working, pensioners (early retirement pension and old age pension) and outside the workforce (unemployed, receiving social security, and disability pension). Cohabitation status was categorised as living with a partner (married/cohabitating) or living alone (divorced, widowed or never married) [15].

Data on rehabilitation

The patient questionnaire comprised 171 items and addressed various aspects of cancer rehabilitation [17]. Development of the questionnaire is described in a previous paper [7].

'Need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period' and 'unmet rehabilitation after 14 months' were asked for in a similar way for each of six areas: 'physical', 'emotional', 'family-oriented' 'sexual', 'work-related' and 'financial'. As an example the following questions were asked with regard to physical needs:

- To what extent from diagnosis and until now have you needed professional help with physical problems? ('not at all', 'to a small extent', 'to some extent' and 'to a great extent')
- Until now, to what extent have you had your needs fulfilled in terms of help with physical problems? ('not at all', 'to a small extent', 'to some extent', 'to a great extent' and 'not relevant')

Patients were categorised as having an 'unmet need' if they had expressed a 'need for rehabilitation' during the 14-month period and the need to some extent was not fulfilled after 14 months.

'Participation in rehabilitation activities' was assessed by asking:

Have you from diagnosis and until now participated in any of the following activities due

RIGHTSLINKO



Figure 1. Inclusion of patients into the study.

to problems caused by your cancer disease? (listing of possible providers/activities)

Participation was categorised into three different dimensions of rehabilitation based on the profession of the provider/activity: 1) 'Physical activities' (physiotherapist, occupational therapist, chiropractor, patient education, smoking cessation counselling, nutritional information, physical training, alternative practitioner including acupuncturist and reflexologist); 2) 'Psychological activities' (psychologist, marriage counsellor or sexologist, supportive group sessions or patient associations, and spiritual counselling); and 3) 'Work-related/financial activities' (social worker, union representative or employer, financial or insurance consultant). Combining the three above-mentioned dimensions the variable 'Participation in at least one activity' was constructed and is an expression of participation in at least one of the above activities.

Statistical analysis

The need for rehabilitation was dichotomised into 'no need' ('not at all) and 'need' (combining 'to a small extent', 'to some extent' and 'to a great extent'), and similarly, unmet need was dichotomised into 'unmet need' and 'met need'. Answers in the 'not relevant' category were excluded from the analyses.

 χ^2 -tests were conducted to test the difference between responders and non-responders with regard to sex, age, diagnosis and socioeconomic variables. All potentially eligible patients were due to administrative errors not invited for this study. Therefore χ^2 -test were also conducted in order to test the difference between these two groups.

We assessed interactions between SES and cancer type (breast, prostate, colorectal), SES and sex and SES and age groups (divided into \pm 60 years) through stratified analyses. Univariate and multiple logistic regression analyses were used to explore associations between socioeconomic status and rehabilitation. The multiple regression analyses were adjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis (definitions of categories as shown in Table I). All tests were two-sided and p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Adjusted odds ratios (OR_{adj}) are presented with 95% confidence intervals (CI). Analyses were performed using Stata Release 11 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

RIGHTSLINK()

Table II. Needs for rehabilitation during 14 months following time of diagnosis. For each area number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour marked status.

		Physical n=1388-			Emotiona $n = 1390$ -		Family–orio n = 1390	
	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR
Needs, total								
Men	1352 (25.4)	-	_	327 (23.5)	-	_	145 (10.4)	
Women	676 (36.5)	~	-	670 (36.0)			380 (16.6)	-
Cohabitation status								
Men								
Cohabiting/ married	286 (25.4)	1.00	1.00	259 (22.9)	1.00	1.00	117 (10.4)	1.00
Living alone	66 (26.0)	1.03	0.98 (0.71-1.35)	65 (25.8)	1.17	1.01 (0.72-1.41)	27 (10.7)	1.03
Women			a construction of the second se					0.000
Cohabiting/ married	474 (35.9)	1.00	1.00	465 (35.2)	1.00	1.00	227 (17.2)	1.00
Living alone Highest attained	201 (37.9)	1.09	1.34* (1.07–1.68)	204 (37.8)	1.12	1.59** (1.26-2.00)	80 (14.9)	0.84
education								
Men	101 102 0	1.00	1.00	02 (20 0	1.00	1.00	20 10 0	
<10 years	104 (23.2)	1.00	1.00	93 (20.6)	1.00	1.00	39 (8.6)	1.00
10-12 years	159 (26.0)	1.16	1.10 (0.82–1.47)	147 (24.1)	1.22	1.02 (0.75-1.40)	72 (11.8)	1.43
>12 years	78 (27.3)	1.24	1.16 (0.82-1.64)	77 (26.9)	1.42*	1.18 (0.82-1.71)	28 (9.7)	1.14
Women						1.100		
<10 years	248 (34.0)	1.00	1.00	230 (31.4)	1.00	1.00	109 (15.0)	1.00
10-12 years	224 (34.8)	1.04	0.89 (0.70-1.13)	217 (33.8)	1.11	0.86 (0.67–1.10)	98 (15.3)	1.02
>12 years	190 (42.9)	1.46**	1.13 (0.87–1.48)	214 (47.4)	1.96**	1.34* (1.03-1.10)	94 (20.8)	1.50**
Income								
Men								
Low (1st quartile) Medium (2nd and 3rd quartile)	63 (19.9) 199 (29.3)	1.00 1.66**	1.00 1.54 (1.09–2.17)	55 (17.4) 185 (27.0)	1.00 1.76**	1.00 1.32 (0.92–1.91)	28 (8.8) 90 (13.1)	1.00 1.56
High (4th quartile)	90 (23.2)	1.22	1.10 (0.74-1.64)	87 (22.7)	1.40	1.06 (0.69-1.62)	27 (7.0)	0.78
Women		Care		an training	(1997) (1997)			
Low (1st quartile)	157 (34.8)	1.00	1.00	147 (31.9)	1.00	1.00	70 (15.4)	1.00
Medium (2nd and 3rd quartile)	349 (36.7)	1.08	0.86 (0.66-1.11)	356 (37.5)	1.28*	0.81 (0.62-1.06)	175 (18.4)	1.25
High	170 (38.0)	1.15	0.86 (0.63-1.17)	167 (37.11)	1.26	0.77 (0.56-1.06)	63 (14.0)	0.90
(4th quartile)		1942	5100 AC100 510 4	201 10 10 10				2010
Labour market status								
Men								
Working	182 (29.9)	1.00	1.00	191 (31.5)	1.00	1.00	85 (14.0)	1.00
Pensioners	143 (20.9)	0.62**	0.62* (0.43-0.91)	106 (15.4)	0.39**	0.74 (0.49-1.12)	44 (6.4)	0.42**
Outside the workforce	23 (31.5)	1.08	1.04 (0.61-1.80)	23 (31.9)	1.02	1.04 (0.60-1.81)	12 (16.9)	1.25
Women								
Working	368 (41.8)	1.00	1.00	389 (43.9)	1.00	1.00	184 (20.7)	1.00
Pensioners	206 (27.9)	0.54**	0.87 (0.62-1.23)	175 (23.7)	0.40**	1.02(0.71-1.44)	64 (8.7)	0.37**
Outside the workforce	91 (46.4)	1.21	1.29 (0.93–1.78)	93 (47.0)	1.13	1.32 (0.95–1.83)	51 (25.6)	1.32

^aAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

Results

Of the 4947 subjects eligible at 14 months, 3439 returned the questionnaire (70%) (Figure 1). Table I shows that there were statistically significant

differences between responders and non-responders with regard to all variables included. There was a slight overrepresentation in the group of responders of women, 60–69-year-olds, patients with breast

108
Table II. Needs for rehabilitation during 14 months following time of diagnosis. For each area number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour marked status. *(Continued)*.

		Sexual n = 1368			Work–rela n = 380				ial area 6–1039
OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ª (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)
	308 (22.5)	-	_	72 (19.0)	_	-	118 (13.8)		-
~	221 (12.1)	~	~	169 (28.3)	~	7	139 (13.4)	~	-
1.00	254 (22.9)	1.00	1.00	54 (18.3)	1.00	1.00	91 (13.5)	1.00	1.00
0.84 (0.53-1.33)	52 (20.6)	0.87	0.91 (0.64-1.29)	16 (19.5)	1.08	1.01 (0.53-1.93)	26 (14.9)	1.13	0.98 (0.60-1.61
1.00	187 (14.3)	1.00	1.00	133 (28.1)	1.00	1.00	87 (11.5)	1.00	1.00
1.14 (0.85-1.54)	34 (6.6)	0.42**	0.57** (0.38–0.86)	36 (29.0)	1.05	1.11 (0.71-1.75)	51 (18.0)	1.69**	2.26** (1.51-3.37)
1.00	98 (22.2)	1.00	1.00	13 (14.3)	1.00	1.00	32 (11.5)	1.00	1.00
1.17 (0.76-1.80) 0.86 (0.50-1.47)	137 (22.8) 68 (23.7)	1.04 1.09	$\begin{array}{c} 1.02 \ (0.75 - 1.40) \\ 0.99 \ (0.69 - 1.45) \end{array}$	40 (22.6) 17 (16.7)		1.99 (0.97-4.09) 1.43 (0.62-3.28)	59 (16.2) 22 (11.6)		1.20 (0.74-1.96) 0.81 (0.44-1.49)
1.00	63 (8.9)	1.00	1.00	45 (30.2)		1.00	51 (13.6)		1.00
0.74 (0.54–1.02) 0.93 (0.66–1.30)	80 (12.6) 75 (16.8)	1.48* 2.07**	1.04 (0.72-1.50) 1.22 (0.83-1.81)	58 (26.6) 61 (27.2)		0.77 (0.48–1.25) 0.77 (0.47–1.25)	50 (13.9) 33 (11.7)		0.78 (0.50–1.22 0.59* (0.35–0.98
1.00 1.15 (0.71–1.87)	51 (16.4) 153 (22.7)	1.00 1.50*	1.00 1.15 (0.78–1.68)	8 (26.7) 41 (22.0)		1.00 0.85 (0.34-2.17)	17 (9.1) 77 (18.9)	1.00 2.32	1.00 1.47 (0.81–2.69
0.57 (0.31-1.05)	103 (27,1)	1.90**	1.27 (0.83-1.93)	23 (14.1)	0,45	0.61 (0.22-1.69)	24 (9.2)	1.01	0.59 (0.29–1.21
1.00 0.73 (0.52–1.03)	33 (7.5) 127 (13.5)	1.00 1.92**	1.00 1.05 (0.68–1.62)	22 (40.0) 100 (28.7)		1.00 0.53* (0.28-0.98)	36 (16.3) 83 (15.3)		1.00 0.57* (0.36–0.92)
0.50** (0.33–0.76)	61 (13.7)	1.94**	1.01 (0.62–0.63)	47 (24.4)	0.48*	0.44* (0.23–0.85)	20 (7.3)	0.40**	0.23** (0.12-0.42
1.00	157 (26.3)	1.00	1.00	64 (18.5)	1.00	1.00	82 (17.9)		1.00
0.92 (0.48–1.76) 1.52 (0.75–3.06)	127 (18.7) 20 (28.2)	0.64** 1.10	0.80 (0.55-1.18) 1.25 (0.70-2.23)	4 (16.0)	0.84	 0.75 (0.23–2.39)	24 (7.2) 9 (18.8)	0.35** 1.06	0.75 (0.35-1.59 1.03 (0.46-2.30
1.00	148 (16.8)	1.00	1.00	149 (28.0)	1.00	1.00	90 (14.0)		1.00
1.15 (0.70–1.88) 1.56* (1.07–2.28)	32 (4.5) 36 (18.4)	0.23** 1.11	$\begin{array}{c} 0.91 \ (0.51 - 1.60) \\ 1.29 \ (0.85 - 1.96) \end{array}$		1.19	- 1.26 (0.68-2.33)	18 (6.4) 29 (27.9)	0.42** 2.37**	0.78 (0.35-1.76 2.73** (1.65-4.54

 aAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis, $^*p\!<\!0.05,\,^{**}p\!<\!0.01.$

cancer, patients who were cohabiting/married and patients who had a higher education and income. Analyses showed significant interactions between SES and gender, and further analyses were therefore stratified for gender.

Need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period

For women, analyses showed that those living alone significantly more often expressed rehabilitation needs in the physical, emotional and financial area, compared to those who were cohabiting/married (Table II). A high education increased the odds of a need in the emotional area, but reduced the odds of having a financial need. Women outside the workforce expressed a rehabilitation need in the financial area more often. A high income reduced the odds of expressing a rehabilitation need in some areas.

For male cancer patients similar tendencies were seen, but the associations were less pronounced and non-significant.

Participation in rehabilitation activities

Overall, women with a higher education and to some extent higher income had significantly increased odds of participating in activities (Table III). Women who were pensioners or women otherwise outside the workforce participated less often in rehabilitation activities compared to women working. Women living alone had increased odds of participating in psychological activities.

For men, a higher income increased odds of participating in physical activities, while a high education was associated with participation in psychological activities. Male pensioners and men outside the workforce showed a tendency towards less participation in all areas, but only statistically significant in the work-related/financial area.

Unmet rehabilitation needs after 14 months

Table IV presents unmet needs among the male and female patients, who had expressed a need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period.

Women living alone had unmet needs in the family-oriented and sexual area. Women with a high education were less likely to have unmet needs in the physical and emotional area. There was a tendency towards women outside the workforce more often having unresolved needs. However, only in the work-related area this showed statistical significance.

Regarding men, a high education also predicted reduced odds of unmet needs in the physical area, while living alone increased the odds in the same area. Men outside the workforce more often had unresolved needs in the physical and sexual area.

Stratified analyses for different cancer types and age groups (data not shown)

Stratified analyses for women with breast and colorectal cancer showed similar tendencies, although for breast cancer results were often more pronounced. With regard to single women expressing a need for and participating in psychological rehabilitation, this was only found for breast cancer. Analyses on men with prostate and colorectal cancer revealed minor differences, e.g. a higher income reduced need for rehabilitation in the sexual area for colorectal cancer, while it increased for prostate cancer. However none of the results were statistically significant.

Comparing stratified analyses on different age groups, we found some differences, with the most pronounced being that older patients had significantly increased odds of expressing need for physical rehabilitation, which was not found among younger patients.

Discussion

Main results

SES significantly influenced cancer survivors' rehabilitation with regard to needs, participation and unmet needs. In general, women and to a lesser extent men with short education and low income participated less often in activities and had in some areas more unmet needs. Women living alone more often expressed a rehabilitation need in the physical, emotional and financial area and had to a higher extent unmet needs in a number of areas. Men living alone and men outside the workforce had increased odds of unmet needs in the physical area.

Strengths and limitations

This study has a population-based approach including a large consecutively sampled cohort of incident cancer patients during a one-year period in two representative regions in Denmark. The sampling was based on register data, and the validity of diagnoses is considered high [12]. In addition, misclassification was minimised by asking the GPs to confirm the cancer diagnosis. Information on SES from Statistics Denmark has high validity and completeness and allowed for analysis of different socioeconomic factors [16,18–20].

The aim of our study was to investigate overall associations between SES and rehabilitation. Due to interaction between SES and gender, we stratified analyses for gender. Some degree of interactions between SES and, respectively, cancer type and age group cannot be ruled out, and it could have been relevant to provide detailed information for each cancer type and age group in relation to the influence of SES on rehabilitation. However, the size of our material did not allow us present results for each of these subgroups of cancer patients and the sub-analyses performed on specific cancer types and age groups only indicated minor effect modifications.

Acta Oncol Downloaded from informal ealthcare.com by University of Southern Denmark on 10/10/13For personal use only.

Table III. Participation in rehabilitation activities during 14 months following time of diagnosis. For each category of activity number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour marked status.

		at least one activity $n = 1384 - 1873$	activity -1873		physical activities $n = 1466 - 1973$	iysical activities 1 = 1466–1973	bs	psychological activities n = 1466–1973	hological activities 1 = 1466–1973	work	related/financial a n = 1466–1973	work related/financial activities n = 1466 - 1973
	(%) u	OR	OR _{adi} " (95% CI)	(%) u	ORcrude	OR _{adi} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR	OR _{adi} a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR	OR _{adi} a (95% CI)
Participation, total Men	545 (39.4)	4	4	438 (29.9)	1	1	152 (10.4)	Т	4	134 (9.1)		1
Women Cohabitation status	1152 (61.5)	1-	,-	1009 (51.5)	r) -	434 (22.0)) -	j	269 (13.6)		
Men Cohabiting/married Living alone	435 (38.7) 105 (41.7)	1.13	1.00 1.02 (0.76–1.36)	357 (30.0) 77 (28.7)	1.00 0.94	1.00 0.90 (0.67–1.22)	118 (9.9) 30 (11.2)	1.15	1,00 0.95 (0.61–1.49)	103 (8.7) 31 (11.6)	1.00	1.00 1.01 (0.63-1.62)
Women Cohabiting/married Living alone	833 (63.2) 318 (57.8)	1.00 0.80*	1.00 1.09 (0.86–1.38)	727 (52.6) 281 (48.0)	1.00 0.83	1.00 1.07 (0.86–1.34)	309 (22.3) 124 (21.2)	1.00 0.93	1.00 1.38* (1.06– 1.80)	205 (14.8) 63 (10.8)	1.00 0.69*	1.00 1.05 (0.75–1.47)
Highest attained education	1											
Men												
<10 years 10-12 years	161 (35.6) 246 (40.7)	1.00	1.00 (0.80-1.36)	133 (26.8) 195 (31.1)	1.00	1.00 1.11 (0.85–1.45)	39 (7.9) 61 (9.7)	1.00	1.00 0.96 (0.62–1.48)	26 (5.2) 73 (11.6)	1.00 2.39**	1.00 1.74* (1.05-
>12 years	125 (43.6)	1.39*	1.20 (0.88–1.65)	98 (32.9)	1.34	1.22 (0.88-1.68)	45 (15.1)	2.09**	1.65* (1.02- 2.67)	31 (10.4)	2.10**	2.89) 1.47 (0.81–2.67)
Women												
<10 years 10-12 years >12 years	378 (51.4) 409 (62.9) 350 (77.8)	1.00 1.60** 3.31**	1.00 1.34* (1.05–1.70) 2.55** (1.90–3.43)	332 (42.2) 357 (52.7) 306 (65.8)	1.00 1.52** 2.63**	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00\\ 1.38^{**} (1.10-\\ 1.74)\\ 2.26^{**} (1.73-\\ 2.96)\end{array}$	112 (14.2) 151 (22.3) 167 (35.9)	1.00 1.73** 3.38**	1.00 1.31 (0.98–1.75) 2.17** (1.61–2.93)	71 (9.0) 92 (13.6) 103 (22.2)	1.00 1.58** 2.87	1.00 1.03 (0.72–1.47) 1.48* (1.03– 2.13)
Income												
Men Low (1st quartile)	87 (27.4)	1.00	1.00	72 (20.5)	1.00	1.00	24 (6.8)	1.00	1.00	21 (6.0)	1.00	1,00
Medium (2nd and 3rd quartile) High (4th quartile)	299 (43.8) 157 (41.2)	2.06** 1.85**	$1.63^{**}(1.19-2.24)$ $1.43^{*}(1.01-2.06)$	238 (33.2) 126 (31.9)	1.94** 1.82**	$\begin{array}{c} 1.67^{**} (1.21 - \\ 2.30) \\ 1.55^{*} (1.07 - 2.24) \end{array}$	82 (11.5) 44 (11.1)	1.77*	$\begin{array}{c} 1.15 \ (0.69{-}1.93) \\ 1.14 \ (0.64{-}2.04) \end{array}$	71 (9.9) 42 (10.6)	1.74^{*} 1.88^{*}	0.95 (0.53-1.70) 1.04 (0.55-1.97)
Women												
Low (1st quartile)	222 (47.5)	1.00	1.00	198 (39.1) 525 (52.5)	1.70**	1.00 1 40** /1 00	71 (14.0)	1.00	1.00	47 (9.3)	1.00	1.00
3rd quartile) High (4th quartile)	314 (69.2)	2.48**	1.83** (1.33–2.51)	286 (61.8)	2.51**	(1.79) $(2.07^{**} (1.52-$ 2.80)	122 (26.4)	2.19**	1.41 (0.98–2.05)	66 (14.3)	1.62*	0.74 (0.47–1.17)

Social inequality and cancer rehabilitation 417

to be reliable for the entire country. The healthcare system is free and with equal access to ensure a high level of social security coverage for all residents. Compared to countries without free access, the social inequalities observed must account for a minimum. It must be kept in mind that the study concerns patients, who survived for more than one year and the results may not apply to short-time survivors. Another limitation is that we did not have information on clinical parameters such as cancer stage and treatment. Confounding due to cancer stage and treatment might have underestimated our results on the effects on SES.

Comparison with other studies

Patients and in particular female patients, who attended rehabilitation activities, generally had higher SES than those who did not attend activities. Social position has previously been shown to be associated with cancer survivors' participation in rehabilitation, which was illustrated in two other studies from Denmark. Here the authors investigated 1876 cancer patients attending a rehabilitation intervention programme and a psychosocial intervention study of 399 patients with malignant melanoma, finding in both studies that participants were of higher SES and, furthermore, mainly women compared to nonparticipants [22,23]. Higher SES is probably a proxy for more personal and network resources, and a better ability to seek and demand additional help. Higher expectations to own health, quality of life, etc. in this patient group may also facilitate participation in activities and thus problem-solving. It is also possible that patients who have higher income and education may be provided with more biomedical information and psychosocial counselling by the physicians [24], or that rehabilitation services offered may seem less appealing to patients of lower SES groups. Our results were most pronounced for female cancer patients and may reflect the fact that women with high SES in general are better at articulating a rehabilitation need or that current offers appeal more to those women. However, the less pronounced results for men could also reflect the relative small number of male participants and consequently lower statistical power.

Overall, we observed a tendency to more unmet needs in all rehabilitation areas for patients living alone, with differences being significant in the physical area for men and in the family-oriented and sexual areas for women. There was also a tendency towards both men and women outside the workforce more often expressing unmet needs, although this was only significant for male patients in two areas and for women in one area, probably reflecting the limited number of patients in the analyses. Our findings are in line with

a cross-sectional study of 1490 Danish cancer patients and a Norwegian study of 1325 cancer patients, which both reported that patients living alone or patients who were unemployed were more likely to report unmet needs for rehabilitation [5,25]. Living with a partner might reflect the fact that the close social network has a 'rehabilitative effect' per se, but also that a partner could encourage the patient to seek help within the healthcare system as well among relatives and friends. Further, to support this argument a cross-sectional study of patients with colorectal cancer (n = 339) from Israel showed a significantly higher level of psychological distress among the unmarried patients [26]. Pertinent to this discussion, patients outside the workforce might represent a vulnerable group in relation to successful rehabilitation. Different explanations may contribute to this, such as a weaker social network, a worse financial situation, or the more manual working tasks in the lower SES groups. Several studies have shown that lower SES is a risk factor for early retirement, unemployment and long-term sick leave among cancer survivors [27-30]. Finally, patients with low SES may also have more unmet needs than patients with high SES because they have more, and more complex, problems and poorer health following their cancer.

Our results show that, in particular among female cancer patients, social inequality of clinical relevance exists in cancer rehabilitation despite free and equal access to health care and supports the fact that 'equal access' is not sufficient to avert social disparities. As cancer rehabilitation is not an integrated part of the standard cancer treatment, 'getting the help' may require additional resources from the patient, thus causing an even bigger barrier to 'equal access'.

Conclusion and implications

We found that SES has a significant impact on cancer survivors' rehabilitation with regard to needs for and participation in rehabilitation, and with regard to unmet needs. In general, the associations were most pronounced for female cancer patients. We suggest that special attention should be paid to the most vulnerable groups, i.e. patients with low education, patients outside the workforce and patients living alone, by taking into account differences in SES in a clinical setting and when developing targeted rehabilitation programmes for cancer survivors. Further research in this area is also needed to give detailed information on the importance of age and cancer types.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank all patients for participating in the study. We also wish to thank Lise Keller Table IV. Unmet needs for rehabilitation 14 months after diagnosis. For each area number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour marked status. (Continued).

		Sexual $n = 189$				ated area 5–157		Financia n = 107	
OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)
	124 (46.8)	_	-	15 (22.7)	-	-	65 (60.8)	-	-
-	101 (53.4)	-	-	24 (15.3)	-	-	37 (30.1)	-	
1.00 1.99 (0.74–5.36)	98 (45.2) 26 (56.5)	1.00 1.58	1.00 1.50 (0.77-2.94)	10 (20.0) 5 (33.3)	1.00 2.00	1.00 1.42 (0.31-6.53)	29 (35.4) 12 (50.0)	1.00 1.83	1.00 2.31 (0.84–6.3)
1.99 (0.14-5.50)	20 (30.3)	1.56	1.30 (0.77-2.94)) (33.3)	2.00	1.42 (0.51-0.55)	12 (50.0)	1.05	2.51 (0.84-0.5)
1.00	81 (50.0)	1.00	1.00	17 (13.9)	1.00	1.00	22 (26.5)	1.00	1.00
1.88* (1.02–3.48)	20 (74.1)	2.86*	2.59* (1.01-6.63)	7 (20.0)	1.54	1.41 (0.51–3.88)	15 (38.5)	1.73	1.28 (0.53-3.07
1.00	48 (59.3)	1.00	1.00	4 (36.4)	1.00	1.00	12 (40.0)	1.00	1.00
2.12 (0.80-5.62)	2) 52 (44.8) 0.56* 0.53* (0.2	0.53* (0.29-0.96)	8 (21.1)	0.47	0.67 (0.13-3.48)	19 (37.3)	0.89	1.13 (0.42-3.03	
1.28 (0.35-4.71)	20 (31.8)	0.32**	0.28** (0.13-0.58)	2 (12.5)	0.25	0.33 (0.04-2.76)	8 (38.1)	0.92	1.01 (0.30-3.44
1.00	33 (64.7)	1.00	1.00	6 (15.0)	1.00	1.00	16 (36.4)	1.00	1.00
0.75 (0.38-1.15)	35 (53.0)	0.62	0.59 (0.27-1.29)	8 (15.4)	1.03	1.19 (0.35-4.07)	13 (28.3)	0.69	0.64 (0.25-1.70
0.59 (0.28–1.26)	31 (44.9)	0.44^{*}	0.48 (0.22-1.04)	7 (11.7)	0.75	0.82 (0.24-2.78)	7 (24.1)	0.56	0.58 (0.18-1.84
1.00	23 (57.5)	1.00	1.00	3 (42.9)	1.00	1.00	5 (33.3)	1.00	1.00
3.36* (1.08-10.5)	68 (52.7)	0.82	0.80 (0.38-0.96)	55 (13.9)	0.22	0.21** (0.03-1.48)	30 (42.3)	1.46	1.58 (0.46-5.44
0.76 (0.17-3.39)	33 (34.7)	0.39*	0.43* (0.20-0.94)	7 (30.4)	0.58	0.69 (0.09-5.28)	7 (33.3)	1.00	0.82 (0.19-3.64
1.00	11 (44.0)	1.00	1.00	6 (33.3)	1.00	1.00	7 (25.9)	1.00	1.00
1.28 (0.61-2.68)	60 (54.1)	1.50	1.63 (0.66-4.01)	12 (12.8)	0.29*	0.25* (0.08-0.86)	25 (31.7)	1.32	1.37 (0.48-3.87
1.90 (0.78–4.61)	30 (56.6)	1.66	1.88 (0.69–5.11)	6 (13.3)	0.31	0.28 (0.08-1.08)	5 (29.4)	1.19	1.35 (0.32-5.72
1.00	53 (37.3)	1.00	1.00	14 (23.7)	1.00	1.00	26 (34.7)	1.00	1.00
0.72 (0.20-2.56)	57 (56.4)	2.18**	2.56** (1.35-4.85)		-	-	11 (55.0)	2.30	4.45 (0.96-20.7
0.84 (0.19–3.75)	12 (66.8)	3.36*	3.03* (1.01-9.06)	1 (33.3)	1.61	4.77 (0.22-102.9)	4 (44.4)	1.51	0.95 (0.21-4.32
1.00	65 (49.6)	1.00	1.00	16 (11.4)	1.00	1.00	21 (25.9)	1.00	1.00
0.84 (0.31-2.25)	15 (62.5)	1.69	0.62 (0.17-2.24)	-		11.1 ×	5 (35.7)	1.59	4.39 (0.71-27.1
1.99 (0.96-4.15)	18 (60.0)	1.52	1.30 (0.56-3.02)	7 (46.7)	6.84**	6.01** (1.85-20.0)	11 (42.3)	2.10	1.29 (0.46-3.59

^aAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

References

- Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: Lost in transition. The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C. Committee on Cancer Survivorship. Improving Care and Quality of Life, National Cancer Policy Board, Institute of Medicine, and National Research Council; 2006.
- [2] Mikkelsen TH, Søndergaard J, Jensen AB, Olesen F. Cancer rehabilitation: Psychosocial rehabilitation needs after discharge from hospital? Scand J Prim Care 2008;26:216–21.

[3] [cited 2011 Nov 11]. World Health Organization, Available from: http://www.who.int/topics/rehabilitation/en.

- [4] Van Harten WH, van Noort O, Warmerdam R, Henricks H, Seidal E. Assessment of rehabilitation needs in cancer patients. Int J Rehabil Res 1998;21:247–57.
- [5] Thorsen L, Gjerset GM, Loge JH, Kiserud CE, Skovlund E, Fløtten T, et al. Cancer patients' needs for rehabilitation services. Acta Oncol 2011;50:212–22.
- [6] Tvede CF, Brandstrup B, Engholm G, Tonnesen H. Potential number of rehabilitated cancer patients in Denmark – an estimate. [In Danish]. Ugeskr Laeger 2003;165:123–8.

420 L. V. Holm et al.

Table IV. Unmet needs for rehabilitation 14 months after diagnosis. For each area number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour marked status.

		Physica $n = 318$			Emotion n=273		Family–ori n = 12	
	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR
Unmet needs, total								
Men	63 (19.8)	-	-	85 (31.1)	-	-	43 (34.4)	-
Women	96 (15.4)	-	-	124 (20.3)	-	-	79 (31.0)	-
Cohabitation status				(=0.2)				
Men								
Cohabiting/married	45 (17.4)	1.00	1.00	65 (30.2)	1.00	1.00	33 (32.0)	1.00
Living alone	18 (30.5)	2.09*	2.36* (1.20-4.66)	20 (35.7)	1.28	1.34 (0.71-2.52)	10 (47.6)	1.93
Women	10 (5015)		2000 (1120 1100)		1100		10 (1110)	****
Cohabiting/married	62 (14.8)	1.00	1.00	80 (19.0)	1.00	1.00	52 (27.2)	1.00
Living alone	34 (18.6)	1.32	1.32(0.81-2.14)	44 (23.5)	1.32	1.16 (0.74–1.79)	27 (42.9)	2.00*
Highest attained	54 (18.0)	1.54	1.92 (0.81-2.14)	H (20.0)	1.52	1.10 (0.74-1.75)	21 (42.5)	2.00
education								
Men						5.44		
< 10 years	24 (26.1)	1.00	1.00	26 (32.9)	1.00	1.00	10 (28.6)	1.00
10-12 years	30 (21.0)	0.75	0.88 (0.42-1.54)	41 (33.3)	1.02	1.06 (0.57-1.97)	26 (41.3)	1.76
>12 years	8 (10.8)	0.34*	0.40* (0.16-0.97)	17 (26.2)	0.72	0.82 (0.39-1.73)	6 (25.0)	0.83
Women								
< 10 years	46 (20.8)	1.00	1.00	55 (27.0)	1.00	1.00	33 (38.8)	1.00
10-12 years	31 (16.2)	0.73	0.77 (0.45-1.30)	39 (19.8)	0.67	0.75 (0.46-1.23)	25 (29.4)	0.66
> 12 years	17 (9.6)	0.40^{**}	0.43** (0.23-0.81)	27 (13.5)	0.42**	0.47** (0.28-0.82)	19 (24.4)	0.51*
Income								
Men								
Low (1st quartile)	12 (23.1)	1.00	1.00	15 (32.6)	1.00	1.00	6 (24.0)	1.00
Medium (2nd and 3rd quartile)	38 (20.4)	0.86	0.90 (0.41-1.93)	53 (33.3)	1.03	1.12 (0.55-2.28)	33 (44.6)	2.55
High (4th quartile)	13 (16.3)	0.65	0.66 (0.27-1.62)	17 (25.0)	0.69	0.71 (0.31-1.66)	4 (15.4)	0.58
Women								
Low (1st quartile)	33 (23.7)	1.00	1.00	36 (27.5)	1.00	1.00	14 (27.5)	1.00
Medium (2nd and 3rd quartile)	50 (15.9)	0.61*	0.62 (0.37-1.04)	65 (19.7)	0.65	0.72 (0.44-1.19)	45 (29.4)	1.10
High (4th quartile)	13 (8.6)	0.30**	0.32** (0.15-0.64)	23 (15.4)	0.48*	0.55 (0.30-1.01)	20 (39.2)	1.71
Labour marked status	C. S. S. S.	0.2		1	0.36	1		0.00
Men								
Working	26 (15.8)	1.00	1.00	49 (29.2)	1.00	1.00	24 (32.0)	1.00
Pensioners	28 (21.9)	1.50	1.30 (0.63-2.67)	26 (32.1)	1.15	0.73 (0.36-1.51)	15 (42.9)	1.59
Outside the	9 (40.9)	3.70**	3.33* (1.21-9.19)	8 (42.1)	1.77	1.54 (0.55-4.34)	4 (36.4)	1.21
workforce					12190			
Women								
Working	45 (13.9)	1.00	1.00	58 (15.8)	1.00	1.00	40 (26.1)	1.00
Pensioners	31 (16.9)	1.26	1.21 (0.59-2.52)	45 (30.0)	2.28**	1.58 (0.82-3.05)	18 (36.0)	1.59
Outside the workforce	16 (18.4)	1.40	1.55 (0.81–2.97)	16 (19.8)	1.31	1.35 (0.71–2.57)	18 (41.9)	2.03*

*Adjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

Stark, Research Unit of General Practice, University of Southern Denmark, for proofreading.

Declaration of interest: The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

This study is funded by the Danish Cancer Society, the Novo Nordisk Foundation, The Health Insurance Foundation, and the Region of Southern Denmark. The National Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation is funded by the Danish Cancer Society.

Table IV. Unmet needs for rehabilitation 14 months after diagnosis. For each area number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown separately for men (grey) and women (white) with regard to cohabitation status, highest attained education, income and labour marked status. (Continued).

		Sexual $n = 189$				ated area 5–157		Financia n = 107	
OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	OR _{crude}	OR _{adj} ^a (95% CI)
	124 (46.8)	_	-	15 (22.7)	-	-	65 (60.8)	-	-
-	101 (53.4)	-	-	24 (15.3)	-	-	37 (30.1)	-	
1.00 1.99 (0.74–5.36)	98 (45.2) 26 (56.5)	1.00 1.58	1.00 1.50 (0.77-2.94)	10 (20.0) 5 (33.3)	1.00 2.00	1.00 1.42 (0.31-6.53)	29 (35.4) 12 (50.0)	1.00 1.83	1.00 2.31 (0.84–6.3)
1.99 (0.14-5.50)	20 (30.3)	1.56	1.30 (0.77-2.94)) (33.3)	2.00	1.42 (0.51-0.55)	12 (50.0)	1.05	2.51 (0.84-0.5)
1.00	81 (50.0)	1.00	1.00	17 (13.9)	1.00	1.00	22 (26.5)	1.00	1.00
1.88* (1.02–3.48)	20 (74.1)	2.86*	2.59* (1.01-6.63)	7 (20.0)	1.54	1.41 (0.51–3.88)	15 (38.5)	1.73	1.28 (0.53-3.07
1.00	48 (59.3)	1.00	1.00	4 (36.4)	1.00	1.00	12 (40.0)	1.00	1.00
2.12 (0.80-5.62)	2) 52 (44.8) 0.56* 0.53* (0.2	0.53* (0.29-0.96)	8 (21.1)	0.47	0.67 (0.13-3.48)	19 (37.3)	0.89	1.13 (0.42-3.03	
1.28 (0.35-4.71)	20 (31.8)	0.32**	0.28** (0.13-0.58)	2 (12.5)	0.25	0.33 (0.04-2.76)	8 (38.1)	0.92	1.01 (0.30-3.44
1.00	33 (64.7)	1.00	1.00	6 (15.0)	1.00	1.00	16 (36.4)	1.00	1.00
0.75 (0.38-1.15)	35 (53.0)	0.62	0.59 (0.27-1.29)	8 (15.4)	1.03	1.19 (0.35-4.07)	13 (28.3)	0.69	0.64 (0.25-1.70
0.59 (0.28–1.26)	31 (44.9)	0.44^{*}	0.48 (0.22-1.04)	7 (11.7)	0.75	0.82 (0.24-2.78)	7 (24.1)	0.56	0.58 (0.18-1.84
1.00	23 (57.5)	1.00	1.00	3 (42.9)	1.00	1.00	5 (33.3)	1.00	1.00
3.36* (1.08-10.5)	68 (52.7)	0.82	0.80 (0.38-0.96)	55 (13.9)	0.22	0.21** (0.03-1.48)	30 (42.3)	1.46	1.58 (0.46-5.44
0.76 (0.17-3.39)	33 (34.7)	0.39*	0.43* (0.20-0.94)	7 (30.4)	0.58	0.69 (0.09-5.28)	7 (33.3)	1.00	0.82 (0.19-3.64
1.00	11 (44.0)	1.00	1.00	6 (33.3)	1.00	1.00	7 (25.9)	1.00	1.00
1.28 (0.61-2.68)	60 (54.1)	1.50	1.63 (0.66-4.01)	12 (12.8)	0.29*	0.25* (0.08-0.86)	25 (31.7)	1.32	1.37 (0.48-3.87
1.90 (0.78–4.61)	30 (56.6)	1.66	1.88 (0.69–5.11)	6 (13.3)	0.31	0.28 (0.08-1.08)	5 (29.4)	1.19	1.35 (0.32-5.72
1.00	53 (37.3)	1.00	1.00	14 (23.7)	1.00	1.00	26 (34.7)	1.00	1.00
0.72 (0.20-2.56)	57 (56.4)	2.18**	2.56** (1.35-4.85)		-	-	11 (55.0)	2.30	4.45 (0.96-20.7
0.84 (0.19–3.75)	12 (66.8)	3.36*	3.03* (1.01-9.06)	1 (33.3)	1.61	4.77 (0.22-102.9)	4 (44.4)	1.51	0.95 (0.21-4.32
1.00	65 (49.6)	1.00	1.00	16 (11.4)	1.00	1.00	21 (25.9)	1.00	1.00
0.84 (0.31-2.25)	15 (62.5)	1.69	0.62 (0.17-2.24)	-		11.1 ×	5 (35.7)	1.59	4.39 (0.71-27.1
1.99 (0.96-4.15)	18 (60.0)	1.52	1.30 (0.56-3.02)	7 (46.7)	6.84**	6.01** (1.85-20.0)	11 (42.3)	2.10	1.29 (0.46-3.59

^aAdjusted for age group and cancer diagnosis, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

References

- Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: Lost in transition. The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C. Committee on Cancer Survivorship. Improving Care and Quality of Life, National Cancer Policy Board, Institute of Medicine, and National Research Council; 2006.
- [2] Mikkelsen TH, Søndergaard J, Jensen AB, Olesen F. Cancer rehabilitation: Psychosocial rehabilitation needs after discharge from hospital? Scand J Prim Care 2008;26:216–21.

[3] [cited 2011 Nov 11]. World Health Organization, Available from: http://www.who.int/topics/rehabilitation/en.

- [4] Van Harten WH, van Noort O, Warmerdam R, Henricks H, Seidal E. Assessment of rehabilitation needs in cancer patients. Int J Rehabil Res 1998;21:247–57.
- [5] Thorsen L, Gjerset GM, Loge JH, Kiserud CE, Skovlund E, Fløtten T, et al. Cancer patients' needs for rehabilitation services. Acta Oncol 2011;50:212–22.
- [6] Tvede CF, Brandstrup B, Engholm G, Tonnesen H. Potential number of rehabilitated cancer patients in Denmark – an estimate. [In Danish]. Ugeskr Laeger 2003;165:123–8.

- 422 L. V. Holm et al.
- [7] Holm LV, Hansen DG, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Larsen PV, Kragstrup J, et al. Participation in cancer rehabilitation and unmet needs: A population-based cohort study. Support Care Cancer Epub 2012 Mar 14.
- [8] Mackenbach JP, Stirbu I, Roskam AJR, Schaap MM, Menvielle G, Leinsalu M, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in health in 22 European countries. N Engl J Med 2008; 358:2468–81.
- [9] Dalton SO, Schüz J, Engholm G, Johansen C, Kjær SK, Steding-Jessen M, et al. Social inequality in incidence of and survival from cancer in a population-based study in Denmark, 1994– 2003: Summary of findings. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:2074–85.
- [10] Frank L. Epidemiology. When an entire country is a cohort. Science 2000;287:2398–9.
- [11] Johnsen SP, Larsson H, Tarone RE, McLaughlin JK, Nørgård B, Friis S, et al. Risk of hospitalization for myocardial infarction among users of rofecoxib, celecoxib and other NSAIDs: A population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med 2005;165:978–84.
- [12] Andersen TF, Madsen M, Jørgensen J, Mellemkjær L, Olsen JH. The Danish National Hospital Register. A valuable source of data for modern health sciences. Dan Med Bull 1999;46:263–8.
- [13] Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:22–5.
- [14] [cited 2012 Feb 26]. Statistics Denmark, Available from: http://www.dst.dk/.
- [15] Paulsen MS, Andersen M, Munck AP, Larsen PV, Hansen DG, Jacobsen IA, et al. Socioeconomic status influences blood pressure control despite equal access to care. Family Practice 2012;29:503–10.
- [16] Dalton SO, Steding-Jessen M, Gislum M, Frederiksen K, Engholm G, Schüz J. Social inequality and incidence of and survival from cancer in a population-based study in Denmark, 1994–2003: Background, aims, material and methods. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:1938–49.
- [17] Hansen DG, Berholdt SH, Holm L, Kragstrup J, Bladt T, Søndergaard J. A complex intervention to enhance the involvement of general practitioners in cancer rehabilitation. Protocol for a randomised controlled trial and feasibility study of a multimodal intervention. Acta Oncol 2011;50:299–306.
- [18] Jensen VM, Rasmussen AW. Danish education registers. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:91–4.
- [19] Baadsgaard M, Quitzau J. Danish registers on personal income and transfer payments. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:103–5.

- [20] Petersson F, Baadsgaard M, Thygesen LC. Danish Registers on personal labour marked affiliation. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:95–8.
- [21] Larsen MB, Jensen H, Hansen RP, Olesen F, Vedsted P. Identifying incident cancer patients using administrative register data (submitted).
- [22] Høybye MT, Dalton SO, Christensen J, Larsen LR, Kuhn KG, Jensen NG, et al. Research in Danish cancer rehabilitation: Social characteristics and late effects of cancer among participants in the FOCARE research project. Acta Oncol 2008;47:47–55.
- [23] Boesen E, Boesen S, Christensen S, Johansen C. Comparison of participants and non-participants in a randomized psychosocial intervention study among patients with malignant melanoma. Psychosomatics 2007;48: 510-6.
- [24] Siminoff LA, Graham GC, Gordon NH. Cancer communication patterns and the influence of patient characteristics: Disparities in information-giving and affective behaviors. Patient Educ Couns 2006;62:355–60.
- [25] Ross L, Petersen MA, Johnsen AT, Lundstrøm LH, Groendvold M. Are different groups of cancer patients offered rehabilitation to the same extent? A report from the population-based study "The Cancer Patient's World". Support Care Cancer 2012;20:1089–100.
- [26] Goldzweig G, Andritsch E, Hubert A, Walach N, Perry S, Brenner B, et al. How relevant is marital status and gender variables in coping with colorectal cancer? A sample of middle-aged and older cancer survivors. Psycho-Oncology 2009;18:866–74.
- [27] Gudbergsson SB, Torp S, Fløtten T, Fosså SD, Nielsen R, Dahl AA. A comparative study of cancer patients with short and long sick-leave after primary treatment. Acta Oncol 2011;50:381–9.
- [28] Eaker S, Wigertz A, Lambert PC, Bergkvist L, Ahlgren J, Lambe M. Breast cancer, sickness absence, income and marital status. A study on life situation 1 year prior diagnosis compared to 3 and 5 years after diagnosis. Plos One 2011;6:1–9.
- [29] Carlsen K, Dalton SO, Frederiksen K, Diderichsen F, Johansen C. Cancer and the risk for taking early retirement pension: A Danish cohort study. Scand J Public Health 2008;36:117–25.
- [30] Carlsen K, Dalton SO, Diderichsen F, Johansen C. Risk for unemployment of cancer survivors: A Danish cohort study. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:1866–74.

Influence of comorbidity on cancer patients' rehabilitation needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study

Short title:

Comorbidity and cancer rehabilitation

Authors:

Lise Vilstrup Holm¹, Dorte Gilså Hansen¹, Jakob Kragstrup^{1,2}, Christoffer Johansen³, Rene dePont Christensen¹, Peter Vedsted⁴, Jens Søndergaard¹

Affiliations:

¹Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation, Research Unit of General Practice, University of Southern Denmark, JB Winsløws Vej 9A, DK-5000 Odense C, Denmark

² Department of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Copenhagen, Øster Farigmagsgade 5, P.O.Box 2099, 1014 Copenhagen C, Denmark

³Institute of Cancer Epidemiology, Danish Cancer Society, Strandboulevarden 49, DK-2100 Copenhagen, Denmark

⁴Research Centre for Cancer Diagnosis in Primary Care, Research Unit for General Practice, University of Aarhus, Bartholins Allé 2, DK-8000 Aarhus C, Denmark

*Corresponding author:

Lise Vilstrup Holm, MD Research Unit of General Practice Institute of Public Health University of Southern Denmark JB Winsløws Vej 9A, DK-5000 Odense C, Denmark Tel: +45 6550 4195, Fax: +45 6550 3980, E-mail: lholm@health.sdu.dk

Word count: 3362 (abstract 248)

Key words: comorbidity, cancer, patient, rehabilitation, participation, unmet needs

Abstract

Purpose: To investigate possible associations between cancer survivors' comorbidity status and their 1) need for rehabilitation, 2) participation in rehabilitation activities and 3) unmet needs for rehabilitation in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis.

Methods: A population-based cohort study including incident cancer patients diagnosed from 1 October 2007 to 30 September 2008 in two regions in Denmark. Fourteen months after diagnosis participants completed a questionnaire measuring different aspects and dimensions of rehabilitation. Individual information on comorbidity was based on hospital contacts from 1994 and until diagnosis, subsequently classified according to the Charlson Comorbidity Index. Logistic regression analyses were used to explore the association between comorbidity and outcomes for rehabilitation. Analyses were conducted overall and stratified for gender, age and cancer type.

Results: A total of 3,439 patients responded (70%). Comorbidity at all levels was statistically significant associated with a physical rehabilitation need, and moderate to severe comorbidity was statistically significant associated with a need in the emotional, family-oriented and financial areas as well as participation in physical rehabilitation activities. Stratified analyses showed that significant results in most cases were related to being older than 65 years or having colorectal or prostate cancer.

Conclusions: Comorbidity at all levels was significantly associated with needs for physical rehabilitation. Moderate to severe comorbidity was further associated with other areas of need and participation in physical activities. This should be taken into account when planning rehabilitation interventions for cancer survivors. Differences among subgroups could help target interventions and should be explored further.

Introduction

Several studies conducted worldwide have shown that comorbidity increases overall mortality and in some cases also cancer-specific mortality across different cancer types [1-6]. Comorbidity seems to be able to predict health-related quality of life [7-8] and has been associated with unhealthy lifestyle and more somatic symptoms among cancer survivors [9]. With more than half of cancer survivors today being older than 65 years, comorbidity is brought into focus in the field of cancer rehabilitation [10-11].

The perceived needs and unmet needs of cancer patients have been thoroughly investigated and vary from physical/daily living problems to psychological, information, social and sexual problems [11-14], and few studies have investigated to what extent cancer patients participate in rehabilitation activities [14-16]. In order to guide the development of new services and tailor rehabilitation efforts to patients at most risk it is crucial to identify patient- and disease-related factors related to expression of needs, participation in activities and to what extent needs are fulfilled. In two previous studies of 3,439 Danish cancer survivors we observed substantial variation pertinent to cancer survivors' age, sex, diagnosis and socioeconomic status regarding expression of rehabilitation needs, participation in various rehabilitation activities and unmet needs [14,17]. Likewise it is reasonable to assume that comorbidity is positively associated with expression of needs and unmet needs and inversely associated with participation in rehabilitation activities. However, a recent systematic review concluded that there is a lack of knowledge about how comorbidity influences needs [18], and studies on the impact of comorbidity on cancer rehabilitation are most often limited to women with breast cancer, elderly cancer patients or relating only to physical symptoms or function with divergent results [19-22].

Thus, based on a large population-based cohort of mixed-site cancer survivors this study aimed to investigate the association between comorbidity and 1) needs for rehabilitation, 2) participation in rehabilitation activities and 3) unmet needs for rehabilitation in a 14-month period following date of diagnosis.

Material and methods

Design

We performed a population-based cohort study including incident cancer patients, except patients with non-melanoma skin cancer, diagnosed from 1 October 2007 to 30 September 2008 in the Regions of Southern and Central Denmark (2.4 million residents) using information from hospital-

based and national administrative registers. Information about rehabilitation issues was obtained from a patient questionnaire administered 14 months after diagnosis.

Setting

The Danish healthcare system is primarily publicly funded [23]. More than 98% of the Danish population is listed with a general practitioner (GP), who acts as a gatekeeper to the rest of the healthcare system [24]. Since 2007, the 98 municipalities in Denmark have been responsible for most of the rehabilitation of patients with chronic diseases, including cancer, while hospitals are responsible for the highly specialised rehabilitation [25]. Rehabilitation activities may include physiotherapy, other physical training, counselling with psychologist, dietary advice, counselling with social worker, occupational therapy, patient education and smoking cessation counselling, but the offers vary across the country. Like other health services, rehabilitation provided by the public healthcare system and the municipalities is free of charge. Cancer patients may participate in rehabilitation activities outside the public healthcare system and the municipalities, for example free of charge in the setting of the private patient organisation, the Danish Cancer Society [26], or self-financed at e.g. private physiotherapists, psychologists and alternative practitioners.

Study population

All residents of Denmark are assigned a unique ten-digit personal identification number (CPR) permitting linkage between registers [27].

From the regional hospitals' Patient Administrative System [28] we obtained information on all adult patients (18+ years) diagnosed with cancer during the study period (ICD-10 codes DC00-43, DC45-96, DD37-48), assigned the registration code "AZCA-1", indicating first encounter at the department regarding the cancer, and listed with a GP in one of the two regions. Based on the National Patient Register [29] all patients with a previous diagnosis of cancer were excluded. The cancers were grouped according to localisation (Table 1).

Following identification by the administrative sampling procedure each patient's GP was mailed a questionnaire to confirm the cancer diagnosis.

This study cohort was established for several research projects, and six months following date of diagnosis patients were mailed a questionnaire asking them to confirm that they had cancer for the first time and giving them the possibility of declining the use of the information provided by their GP. Prior to the distribution of the 14-month patient questionnaires, vital status and postal

address were confirmed by linkage to the Civil Registration System [27]. By linkage to national registers in Statistics Denmark we retrieved data on socioeconomic variables including highest attained education, income, labour market affiliation and cohabitation status [17].

Information on comorbidity status

Information on comorbidity was based on all in- and outpatient hospital contacts registered in the National Patient Register [29] from 1994 (ICD-10 diagnoses were registered from this year) and until date of cancer diagnosis. Comorbidity was classified according to the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) [30]. The CCI provides an overall score for comorbidity based on a weighted score from 1 to 6 assigned to 19 selected conditions. On the basis of the accumulated sum of scores, the comorbidity index was grouped into scores as 0 (no comorbidity), 1 (mild comorbidity) and ≥ 2 (moderate to severe comorbidity). As our study population includes only patients with first primary cancers, no cancers are included in the index [31].

Data on rehabilitation

The patient questionnaire comprised 171 items and addressed various aspects of cancer rehabilitation [32]. Development of the questionnaire is described in a previous paper [14].

"Need for rehabilitation during the 14-month period" and "unmet rehabilitation after 14 months" were asked for in a similar way for each of six areas: "physical", "emotional", "family-oriented" "sexual", "work-related" and "financial".

As an example the following questions were asked with regard to physical needs:

- 1. To what extent from diagnosis and until now have you needed professional help with physical problems? ("not at all", "to a small extent", "to some extent" and "to a great extent")
- 2. Until now, to what extent have you had your needs fulfilled in terms of help with physical problems? ("not at all", "to a small extent", "to some extent", "to a great extent" and "not relevant").

Patients were categorised as having an "unmet need" if they had expressed a "need for rehabilitation" during the 14-month period and the need to some extent was not fulfilled after 14 months.

"Participation in rehabilitation activities" was assessed by asking:

3. Have you from diagnosis and until now participated in any of the following activities due to problems caused by your cancer disease? (listing of possible providers/activities)

Participation was categorised into three different dimensions of rehabilitation based on the profession of the provider/activity: 1) "Physical activities" (physiotherapist, occupational therapist, chiropractor, patient education, smoking cessation counselling, nutritional information, physical training, alternative practitioner including acupuncturist and reflexologist), 2) "Psychological activities" (psychologist, marriage counsellor or sexologist, supportive group sessions or patient associations, and spiritual counselling), and 3) "Work-related/financial activities" (social worker, union representative or employer, financial or insurance consultant). Combining the three abovementioned dimensions the variable "Participation in at least one activity" was constructed and is an expression of participation in at least one of the above activities. Similar constructs were made for needs ("At least one need for rehabilitation") and unmet needs ("At least one unmet need for rehabilitation").

Statistical analyses

Need for rehabilitation was dichotomised into "no need" ("not at all") and "need" (combining "to a small extent", "to some extent" and "to a great extent"), and similarly, unmet need was dichotomised into "unmet need" and "no unmet need". Answers in the "not relevant" category were excluded from analyses. Participation in rehabilitation activities was defined as yes/no. Simple and multiple logistic regression analyses were used to explore associations between CCI score and the three outcomes for rehabilitation. The multiple regression analyses were adjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis. Our primary analyses comprised the whole cohort and were subsequently stratified for gender, age (< 65 years and \geq 65 years) and cancer type (breast, prostate, colorectal and the remaining cancers in one group). This stratification was done because we hypothesised that comorbidity status could interact with age, gender and cancer type.

In a secondary model we explored the influence of socioeconomic status by further adjusting the analyses comprising the whole cohort for socioeconomic factors, because in a previous study we found socioeconomic status to be associated with our outcomes for rehabilitation [17]. Socioeconomic factors included highest attained education, income, labour market affiliation and cohabitation status and were entered into the model separately. All tests were two-sided and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Adjusted odds ratios (OR_{adj}) are presented with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). Analyses were performed using Stata Release 12 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Results

Among the 4,947 subjects eligible at 14 months, 3,439 returned the questionnaire (70%) (Figure 1). Table 1 shows baseline patient characteristics. The group of non-respondents had a statistically significantly higher average CCI score compared to respondents. Overall, around a quarter of patients suffered from comorbidity, corresponding to a CCI score of one or more.

Needs for rehabilitation

In the physical area patients with both mild and moderate to severe comorbidity had increased odds of expressing a need for rehabilitation (Table 2). Patients with moderate to severe comorbidity had increased odds of expressing a rehabilitation need in the emotional, family-oriented and financial areas compared to those without comorbidity.

Stratified analyses of the different cancer types, sex and age groups (data not shown in table) The increased need for physical rehabilitation among patients comorbidity was seen for all subgroups, and was statistically significant on one or two levels for most patients groups, i.e. above the age of 65 years (OR 1.38 (95% CI 1.01-1.88) CCI 1 and OR 1.94 (95% CI 1.33-2.84) CCI >2 compared with CCI 0), less than 65 years (OR 1.44 (1.06-1.96) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0), women (OR 1.37 (1.01-1.85) CCI 1 and OR 1.78 (1.15-2.77) CCI >2 compared with CCI 0), men (OR 1.47 (1.07-2.02) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0), patients with colorectal cancer (OR 2.89 (1.43-5.84) CCI >2 compared with CCI 0) and prostate cancer (OR 1.98 (1.14-3.43) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0). The statistically significantly increased need for rehabilitation in the emotional area was found among men (OR 1.64 (1.04-2.59) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0), patients with prostate cancer (OR 2.29 (1.01-5.22) CCI>2 compared with CCI 0) and patients above 65 years (OR 1.60 (1.06-2.40) CCI >2 compared with CCI 0). In the family-oriented area significant results were accounted for by patients above the age of 65 years (OR 2.12 (1.20-3.73) CCI>2 compared with CCI 0), while in the financial area results were significant for men (OR 2.24 (1.08-4.62) CCI >2 compared with CCI 0) and patients above 65 years (OR 2.53 (1.12-5.68) CCI>2 compared with CCI 0).

Participation in rehabilitation activities

Patients with moderate to severe comorbidity had increased odds of participating in physical activities compared with patients with no comorbidity (Table 3).

Stratified analyses of the different cancer types, sex and age groups (data not shown in table) Although similar patterns were observed in subgroups, statistically significantly increased participation in physical activities was only seen among men (OR 2.00 (1.35-2.97) CCI>2 compared with CCI 0), patients with colorectal cancer (OR 3.15 (1.59-6.26) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0) and prostate cancer (OR 2.05 (1.01-4.14) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0). Regarding psychological activities patients with breast (OR 2.84 (1.36-5.94) CCI >2 compared with CCI 0) and prostate cancer (OR 3.46 (1.11-10.75) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0) participated more often. Patients less than 65 years had decreased odds of participating in work-related financial activities (OR 0.30 (0.11-0.76) CCI \geq 2 compared with CCI 0), while a non-significant tendency was seen in the opposite direction for patients above 65 years.

Unmet needs for rehabilitation after the 14-month period

No statistically significant associations between CCI score and expression of unmet needs were observed following adjustment (Table 4).

Stratified analyses of the different cancer types, sex and age groups (data not shown in table) A relatively limited number of patients were included in the subgroup analyses of unmet needs. Patients with prostate cancer had increased odds of unmet needs in the physical (OR 3.81 (1.10-13.19) CCI 1 compared with CCI 0).

The secondary model including further adjustment for socioeconomic factors

Further adjustment for socioeconomic factors showed similar results as our main model, where we only adjusted for age, gender and cancer type. One result regarding expression of a financial rehabilitation need did though not remain statistically significant when adjusted for socioeconomic variables.

Discussion

Main results

Comorbidity at all levels significantly increased the odds of expressing rehabilitation needs in the physical area. Moderate to severe comorbidity significantly increased the odds of having needs in the family-oriented, emotional and financial areas, although the latter did not remain statistically significant when further adjusted for socioeconomic factors. Patients with moderate to severe comorbidity were more likely to participate in physical rehabilitation. Stratified analyses of the different cancer types, sex and age groups revealed in a few areas slightly different patterns and in most cases significant results were related to being older than 65 years or having colorectal or prostate cancer.

Strengths and limitations

The advantages of this study include the large population-based cohort of incident cancer patients consecutively sampled during a one-year period, which formed the basis for the statistical power sufficient to detect clinically relevant effects of comorbidity. The sampling of cancer patients was based on highly valid register data [33], and furthermore, the GPs were asked to confirm the diagnosis. Hence, misclassification was low.

The CCI is the most widely used comorbidity index in the context of cancer, validated for many different cancer types and the use of administrative data [34]. Furthermore, the CCI has been rated in the top three of indexes useful in relation to cancer generally [34]. Information on comorbid diseases was obtained from the National Patient Register, and the accuracy of diagnosis coding for conditions included in the CCI has proven to be very high when compared with diagnoses obtained from medical records [35]. We found levels of comorbidity comparable with other studies using the register for accessing comorbidity among cancer patients [36]. The National Patient Register does, however, not consistently include information on diseases not requiring a hospital visit. Some of the conditions included in the Charlson Index, including diabetes (type 2) and chronic pulmonary disease, will not necessarily require a hospital contact, but can be diagnosed and treated solely in general practice. Consequently, there might be an underestimation of the prevalence of these specific comorbid conditions in this study, and thereby an underestimation of the impact of comorbidity on cancer patients' needs, participation in rehabilitation activities and unmet needs. Further, as the CCI was originally developed to predict the risk of 1-year mortality, some comorbid conditions that might affect a cancer rehabilitation course, such as musculoskeletal or psychiatric disorders, are not included.

The response rate was relatively high (70%), but patients with no comorbidity were slightly overrepresented (Table 1). Furthermore, due to incomplete use of the additional AZCA-1 code (the code indicating the first encounter at the department regarding the cancer), which was not recognised until after the sampling, 37% of the potentially eligible patients were not identified by the administrative sampling procedure and thus not included in the study [37]. An under-sampling of patients with comorbidity was seen (CCI 0 71%, CCI 1 18%, CCI 2 11% of the patients included vs. CCI 0 63%, CCI 1 21%, CCI 2 16% of the patients not included, p<0.001, X^2 -test). Consequently, selection bias may have caused a slight underestimation of the absolute figures of our outcomes for rehabilitation, but should not affect the direction of the associations found.

In this study we analysed different aspects of the rehabilitation process including needs, participation and unmet needs and assessed different dimensions, i.e. physical, psychological, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial problems. A validated questionnaire was not available, however, all the questions were inspired by already validated questionnaires and a thorough development process was conducted, including pilot testing among cancer survivors [14].

The results from this study are considered to be generalisable to other regions in Denmark owing to the fact that that there are only small regional differences with respect to organisation of the healthcare system and prevalence of diseases. Furthermore, all cancer types, except for very rare ones, are diagnosed and treated within the regions according to national guidelines and do not differ between the different hospitals. Generalisability to countries with similar healthcare settings is also likely.

Comparison with other studies

In accordance with our results a cross-sectional study of 1,325 Norwegian mixed-sited cancer patients found comorbidity to be significantly associated with a need for physical rehabilitation [19]. This is also in line with other studies that have demonstrated a higher somatic symptom burden among cancer survivors with comorbidity [9; 20]. An American case-control study of 1,904 cancer survivors and 29,092 controls further supports this, as the researchers found that cancer survivors reported a higher symptom burden with increasing comorbidities compared to controls, and the overall symptom burden increased with number of comorbidities [38]. For patients with

126

moderate to severe comorbidity we found, besides the association in the physical area, also an association with emotional, family-oriented and financial needs. This most likely reflects that with an increased burden of somatic comorbidity, this can also affect other areas of life. A study of 3,792 cancer survivors showed that comorbidity affected health-related quality of life, both with regard to pain, fatigue, physical and emotional function [39]. Thus, in order to effectively address rehabilitation needs among cancer survivors, the healthcare system will need not only manage the cancer disease but also to address multiple coexisting diseases. Our stratified analyses showed that significant results were most often related to being older than 65 years or having colorectal or prostate cancer. This may reflect a higher number and/or more severe comorbidities in these groups [3], but should be explored further in future research.

We found that, comorbidity was not associated with unmet needs in our overall analyses. This is in contrast to the Norwegian study mentioned above [19]. However, compared to our respondents where only one fifth had comorbidity, a total of 47% of the Norwegian patients reported to have comorbidity and, in addition to different somatic disorders, psychological disorders were also included. Hence, identifying the types of disorders included when defining comorbidity may be essential. Differences between patient-reported comorbidity and doctor-registered comorbidity may also be of influence [40].

A significant association was found between a CCI score of two or more and participation in physical rehabilitation activities, which could reflect the increased somatic symptom burden among those patients [9; 20]. In addition, only a few stratified analyses demonstrated either reduced or increased participation among patients with comorbidity. A Danish cohort study investigating participation in a six-day rehabilitation course among women with breast cancer found no difference in comorbidity status (measured by CCI with data obtained from the National Patient Register) between attenders (n=856) and non-attenders (n=1805) [41]. When looking at other chronic diseases, a Danish study regarding pulmonary rehabilitation similarly found no difference in comorbidity status between participants and non-participants [42]. We have previously shown that younger age, female gender, having breast cancer and higher socioeconomic status were associated with participation in activities [14,17], but whether or not patients participate in rehabilitation activities is probably the result of a much more complex process influenced by many different factors including psychosocial, family-related and contextual factors [43]. Furthermore, availability and knowledge of local rehabilitation offers by patients and healthcare professionals may also play a role [43-44].

Conclusion

In conclusion, comorbidity at all levels was statistically significant associated with expression of physical rehabilitation needs, and furthermore moderate to severe comorbidity was significantly associated with other areas of needs and participation in physical activities. We suggest this should be taking into account when planning rehabilitation interventions for cancer survivors. Results from the stratified analyses indicated that the patient groups most in need were patients treated for colorectal or prostate cancer and patients older than 65 years, and further exploration and intervention could be relevant here to enhance rehabilitation efforts in these subgroups.

Ethical approval

The study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency (File number 2008-41-1887). According to the Regional Scientific Ethics Committee, the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee System Act does not apply to this project

Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank all patients for participating in the study. We also wish to thank Lise Keller Stark, Research Unit of General Practice, University of Southern Denmark, for proofreading the manuscript.

Funding

This study is funded by the Danish Cancer Society, the Novo Nordisk Foundation, the Health Insurance Foundation, and the University of Southern Denmark. The National Research Centre for Cancer Rehabilitation is funded by the Danish Cancer Society.

Conflicts of interest statement

The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

References

- Land LH, Dalton SO, Jørgensen TL, Ewertz M (2012) Comorbidity and survival after early breast cancer. A review. Crit Rev Oncol/Hematol 81:196-205
- Bøje CR, Dalton SO, Grønborg TK, Primdahl H, Kristensen CA, Andersen E, Johansen J, Andersen LJ, Overgaard J (2013) The impact of comorbidity on outcome in 12 623 Danish head and neck cancer patients: a population-based study from DAHANCA database. Acta Oncol 52:285-293
- 3. Jørgensen TL, Hallas J, Friis S Herrstedt J (2012) Comorbidity in elderly cancer patients in relation to overall and cancer-specific mortality. Brit J Cancer 106:1353-1360
- Land LH, Dalton SO, Jensen M-B, Ewertz M (2012) Impact of comorbidity on mortality: a cohort study of 62,591 Danish women diagnosed with early breast cancer, 1990-2008. Breast Cancer Res Treat 131:1013-1020
- Lüchtenborg M, Jakobsen E, Krasnik M, Linklater KM, Mellemgaard A, Møller H (2012) The effect of comorbidity on stage-specific survival in resected non-small cell lung cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 48:3386-3395
- Sperling C, Noer MC, Christensen IB, Nielsen MLS, Lidegaard Ø, Høgdall C (2013) Comorbidity is an independent prognostic factor for the survival of ovarian cancer: a Danish register-based cohort study from a clinical database. Gynecol Oncol 129:97-102
- Østhus AA, Aarstad AKH, Olofsson J, Aarsted HJ (2013) Comorbidity is an independent predictor of health-related quality of life in a longitudinal cohort of head and neck cancer patients. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 270:1721-1728
- Wedding U, Röhrig B, Klippstein A, Brix C, Pientka L, Höffken K (2007) Co-morbidity and functional deficits independently contribute to quality of life before chemotherapy in elderly cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 15:1097-1104
- Grov EK, Fosså SP, Dahl AA (2009) Is somatic comorbidity associated with more somatic symptoms, mental distress, or unhealthy lifestyle in elderly cancer survivors? (2009) J Cancer Surviv 3:109-116
- Gamble GL, Gerber LH, Spill GR, Paul KL (2011) The future of cancer rehabilitation: Emerging subspecialty. AM J Phys Med Rehabil 90 (5):83-94
- 11. Hewitt M, Rowland JH, Yancik R (2003) Cancer survivors in the United States: Age, health and disability. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 58: 82-91.
- 12. Harrison JD, Young JM, Price MA, Butow PN, Solomon MJ (2009) What are the unmet supportive care needs of people with cancer? A systematic review. Support Care Cancer 17:1117-1128

- Groenvold M, Pedersen C, Jensen CR, et al. (2006) The cancer patient's world an investigation of the problems experienced by Danish cancer patients. Copenhagen: Danish Cancer Society [in Danish].
- Holm LV, Hansen DG, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Larsen PV, Kragstrup J, Søndergaard J (2012) Participation in cancer rehabilitation and unmet needs: a population-based cohort study. Support Care Cancer 20:2913-2924
- Plass A, Koch U (2001) Participation of oncological outpatients in psychosocial support. Psycho Oncol 10:511-520
- Gray RE, Goel V, Fitch MI, Franssen E, Chart P, Greenberg M, Bakker D, Labrecque M, Hollowaty E, Godel R, Hampson AW (2000) Utilization of professional supportive care services by women with breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 64:253-258
- Holm LV, Hansen DG, Larsen PV, Johansen C, Vedsted P, Bergholdt SH, Kragstrup J, Søndergaard J (2013) Social inequality in cancer rehabilitation: a population-based cohort study. Acta Oncol 52(2):410-22
- Puts MTE, Papoutsis A, Springall E, Tourangeau AE (2012) A systematic review of unmet needs of newly diagnosed older cancer patients undergoing active cancer treatment. Support Care Cancer 20:1377-1394
- 19. Thorsen L, Gjerset GM, Loge JH, Kiserud CE, Skovlund E, Fløtten T, Fosså SD (2011) Cancer patients' needs for rehabilitation services. Acta Oncol 50:212-222
- Bellury L, Pett MA, Ellington L, Beck SL, Clark JC, Stein KD (2012) The effect of aging and cancer on the symptom experience and physical function of elderly breast cancer survivors. Cancer 118:6171-6178
- Yoon J, Malin JL, Tisnado DM, Tao ML, Adams JL, Timmer MJ, Ganz PA, Kahl KL (2008) Symptom management after breast cancer treatment: is it influenced by patient characteristics? Breast Cancer Res Treat 108:69-77
- 22. Mikkelsen T, Sondergaard J, Sokolowski I, Jensen A, Olsen F (2009) Cancer survivors' rehabilitation needs in a primary health care context. Fam Pract 26:221-230
- Pedersen KM, Christensen T, Bech M (2005) The Danish health care system: evolution not revolution - in a decentralized system. Health Econ 14:41-57
- 24. Christensen T (2002) Organization and financing of the Danish health care system. Health Pol 59:107-118
- Helbom M, Bergelt C, Bergenmar M, Gijsen B, Loge JH, Rautalathi M, Smaradottir A, Johansen C (2011) Cancer rehabilitation: a Nordic and European perspective. Acta Oncol 50:179-186
- 26. http://www.cancer.dk/. Accessed 1 September 2013
- 27. Frank L (2000) Epidemiology. When an entire country is a cohort. Science 287:2398-2399

- 28. Johnsen SP, Larsson H, Tarone RE, McLaughlin JK, Nørgård B, Friis S, Sørensen HT (2005) Risk of hospitalization for myocardial infarction among users of rofecoxib, celecoxib and other NSAIDs: a population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med 165:978-984.
- 29. Lynge E, Sandegaard JL, Rebojl M (2011) The Danish National Patient Register. Scand J Public Health 39 (suppl 7):30-33
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, Mackenzie CR (1987) A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chron Dis 40 (5):373-383
- Dalton SO, Steding-Jessen M, Gislum M, Frederiksen K, Engholm G, Scüz J (2008) Social inequality and incidence of and survival from cancer in a population-based study in Denmark, 1994-2003: Background, aims, material and methods. Eur J Cancer 44:1938-1949
- 32. Hansen DG, Bergholdt SB, Holm L, Kragstrup J, Bladt T, Søndergaard J (2011) A complex intervention to enhance the involvement of general practitioners in cancer rehabilitation. Protocol for a randomised controlled trial and feasibility study of a multimodal intervention. Acta Oncol 50:299-306
- Andersen TF, Madsen M, Jørgensen J, Mellemkjær L, Olsen JH (1999) The Danish National Hospital Register. A valuable source of data for modern health sciences. Dan Med Bull 46:263-268
- 34. Sarfati D (2012) Review of methods to measure comorbidity in cancer populations: No gold standards exists. J Clin Epidemiol 65:924-933
- 35. Thygesen SK, Christiansen CF, Christensen S, Lash TL, Sørensen HT (2011) The predictive value of ICD-10 diagnostic coding used to assess Charlson Comorbidity index conditions in the population-based Danish National Registry of Patients. BMC Med Res Methodol 11:83
- 36. Land LH, Dalton SO, Jensen M-B, Ewertz M (2012) Influence of comorbidity on the effect of adjuvant treatment and age in patients with early-stage breast cancer. Br J Cancer 107 (11): 1901-1907
- 37. Larsen MB, Hansen RP, Hansen DG, Olesen F, Vedsted P (2013) Secondary care intervals before and after the introduction of urgent referral guidelines for suspected cancer in Denmark: a comparative before-after study. BMC Health Services Research 13:348
- 38. Mao JJ, Armstrong K, Bowman MA, Xie SX, Kadakia R, Farrar JT (2007) Symptom burden among cancer survivors: Impact of age and comorbidity. J Am Board Fam Med 20: 434-443
- 39. Vissers PAJ, Thong MSY, Pouwer F, Zanders MMJ, Coebergh JWW, van de Poll-Franse LV (2013) The impact of comorbidity on Health-Related Quality of Life among cancer survivors: analyses of data from the PROFILES registry. J Cancer Surviv doi:10.1007/s11764-013-0299
- 40. Susser RS, McCusker J, Belzile E (2008) Comorbidity information in older patients at an emergency visit: self-report vs. administrative data had poor agreement but similar predictive validity. J Clin Epidemiol 61: 511-515

- 41. Damkjær LH, Deltour ID, Suppli NP, Christensen J, Kroman NT, Johansen C, Dalton SO (2011) Breast cancer and early retirement: Associations with disease characteristics, treatment, comorbidity, social position and participation in a six-day rehabilitation course in a register-based study in Denmark. Acta Oncol 50: 274-281
- 42. Bjoernshave B, Korsgaard J, Jensen C, Nielsen CV (2011) Participation in pulmonary rehabilitation in routine clinical practice. Clin Respir J 5:235-244
- 43. Clarck AM, King-Shier KM, Thomsen DR, Spaling MA, Duncan AS, Stone JA, Jaglal SB, Angus JE (2012) A qualitative systematic review of influences on attendance at cardiac rehabilitation programs after referral. Am Heart J 164: 835-845
- 44. Nwosu AC, Bayly JL, Gaunt KE, Mayland CR (2012) Lung cancer and rehabilitation what are the barriers? Results of a questionnaire survey and the development of the regional lung cancer rehabilitation standards and guidelines. Support Care Cancer 20:3247-3254





	Responders	Non-responders		
	n (%)	n (%)	pª	
	3,349 (69.5)	1,508 (30.5)		
Sex			0.003	
Men	1,446 (42.6)	712 (47.2)		
Women	1,973 (57.4)	796 (52.8)		
Age (years)			<0.001	
18-39	152 (4.4)	118 (7.8)		
40-49	331 (9.6)	154 (10.2)		
50-59	660 (19.2)	292 (19.4)		
60-69	1,263 (36.8)	419 (27.8)		
70-79	802 (23.3)	338 (22.4)		
80+	231 (6.7)	187 (12.4)		
Cancer diagnosis			<0.001	
Breast	976 (28.4)	314 (20.8)		
Prostate	501 (14.6)	179 (11.9)		
Colo-rectal	522 (15.2)	213 (14.1)		
Gynecological	230 (6.7)	120 (7.9)		
Malignant melanoma	233 (6.8)	102 (6.8)		
Lung	188 (5.5)	113 (7.5)		
Lymphoma	104 (3.0)	44 (2.9)		
Head and neck	125 (3.6)	81 (5.4)		
Other	560 (16.2)	342 (22.7)		
CCI*			<0.001	
0	2,685 (78.1)	1,071 (71.4)		
1	516 (15.0)	271 (18.0)		
>2	236 (6.9)	160 (10.6)		

Table 1 Medical and demographic baseline characteristics of responders and non-responders in a cohort study of cancer rehabilitation

*Data on comorbidity was missing for two persons ${}^ax^2$ -test

	At least o	ne need for n=3,437	rehabilitation		Physical ar n=3,240			Emotional n=3,25		F	amily-orient n=3,24	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Needs, total	1,691 (49.2)	-	-	1,028 (31.7)	-	-	997 (30.7)	-	-	453 (14.0)	-	-
ссі												
0	1,342 (50.0)	1.00	1.00	789 (30.9)	1.00	1.00	814 (31.8)	1.00	1.00	365 (14.2)	1.00	1.00
1	239 (46.3)	0.86	1.13 (0.92-1.38)	161 (34.3)	1.17	1.43** (1.15- 1.78)	117 (24.7)	0.71**	0.96 (0.75-1.22)	59 (12.6)	0.86	1.12 (0.89-1.66)
>2	110 (46.6)	0.87	1.27 (0.95-1.68)	78 (36.5)	1.28	1.69 [*] * (1.24- 2.29)	66 (30.6)	0.95	1.55** (1.12-2.14)	29 (13.5)	0.94	1.61* (1.04- 2.49)

		Sexual are n=3,195			Work-related n=1,275			Financial a n=1,89	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Needs, total	529 (16.6)	-	-	252 (19.8)	-	-	257 (13.6)	-	-
ССІ									
0	416 (16.5)	1.00	1.00	219 (21.1)	1.00	1.00	205 (13.6)	1.00	1.00
1	76 (16.5)	0.99	1.10 (0.83-1.47)	26 (14.9)	0.66	1.04 (0.64-1.68)	35 (12.7)	0.93	1.14 (0.76-1.71)
<u>></u> 2	17 (17.4)	1.06	1.44 (0.96-2.14)	7 (10.8)	0.45	1.01 (0.42-2.37)	17 (15.2)	1.14	1.79* (1.01-3.17)

For each area (at least one need for rehabilitation, physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial) number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to comorbidity status (CCI)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05

**p<0.01

	А	n=3,255	,		One or mo physical activ n=3,255	vities	p	One or mo sychological a n=3,255	ctivities	v	One or mo vork-related ac n=3255	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)		ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Participation, total	1,696 (52.1)	-	-	1,447 (44.5)	-	-	585 (18.0)	-	-	403 (12.4)	-	-
CCI												
0	1,372 (53.6)	1.00	1.00	1,164 (45.5)	1.00	1.00	493 (19.3)	1.00	1.00	344 (13.4)	1.00	1.00
1	220 (46.2)	0.74**	1.05 (0.85-1.30)	184 (38.7)	0.75**	1.01 (0.81-1.25)	62 (13.0)	0.63**	0.91 (0.68-1.24)	49 (10.3)	0.74	1.18 (0.83-1.67)
<u>></u> 2	104 (47.3)	0.78*	1.34 (0.99-1.81)	99 (45.0)	0.98	1.57** (1.16- 2.13)	30 (13.6)	0.66*	1.22 (0.80-1.87)	10 (4.6)	0.31**	0.58 (0.29-1.14)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05

**p<0.01

	At least one	unmet need n=1,691	for rehabilitation		Physical ar n=922	ea		Emotional n=883		F	amily-orient n=380	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	N (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet needs, total	848 (50.2)	-	-	159 (17.3)	-	-	209 (23.7)	-	-	122 (32.1)	-	
CCI 0 1 ≥2	660 (49.2) 123 (51.5) 65 (59.1)	1.00 1.09 1.49*	1.00 1.07 (0.81-1.42) 1.41 (0.94-2.13)	119 (16.8) 28 (19.9) 12 (16.7)	1.00 1.23 0.99	1.00 1.06 (0.66-1.71) 0.84 (0.43-1.67)	165 (22.7) 32 (30.8) 12 (22.6)	1.00 1.51 0.99	1.00 1.28 (0.79-2.06) 0.68 (0.33-1.38)	93 (30.3) 18 (39.1) 11 (40.7)	1.00 1.48 1.58	1.00 1.10 (0.55-2.20) 1.11 (0.45-2.75)

Table 4 Unmet needs for rehabilitation 14 months after diagnosis as a function of comorbidity

		Sexual ar n=454			Work-related n=230	area		Financial n=230	
	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)	n (%)	ORcrude	ORadj ^a (95% CI)
Unmet									
needs, total	225 (49.6)	-	-	43 (18.7)	-	-	79 (34.4)	-	-
CCI									
0	175 (48.2)	1.00	1.00	35 (17.4)	1.00	1.00	64 (34.0)	1.00	1.00
1	33 (53.2)	1.22	1.23 (0.69-2.17)	3 (13.0)	0.71	0.78 (0.21-2.90)	9 (34.6)	1.03	0.96 (0.37-2.49)
<u>></u> 2	17 (58.6)	1.52	1.24 (0.54-2.86)	5 (83.3)	23.71*	10.31 (0.94- 113.61)	6 (37.5)	1.16	0.54 (0.15-1.92)

For each area (at least one unmet need for rehabilitation, physical, emotional, family-oriented, sexual, work-related and financial) number, frequencies, crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) are shown with regard to comorbidity status (CCI)

^aAdjusted for sex, age group and cancer diagnosis

*p<0.05

*p<0.01

Appendix A The 14-month patient questionnaire

Spørgsmål 1-8 handler om **fysiske problemer** som følge af din kræftsygdom. Tænk på hele perioden fra du fik kræft og indtil nu.

Tæn l I hvil	ov for hjælp « på, hvad du har haft behov for (uanset om du fik hjælp eller ej) ken grad gælder følgende udsagn? ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	I mindre grad	l nogen grad	l høj grad
1	Jeg har haft behov for genoptræning (fx gymnastik eller fysioterapi)				
2	Jeg har haft behov for hjælp til at klare daglige gøremål				
3	Jeg har haft behov for råd om, hvor meget jeg fysisk måtte anstrenge mig i dagligdagen				
4	Jeg har haft behov for råd om kost				
5	Jeg har haft behov for råd om rygestop				
6	Jeg har haft behov for professionel hjælp til fysiske problemer				

l hvil	yldelse af behov for hjælp ken grad gælder følgende udsagn? ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	I mindre grad	l nogen grad	l høj grad	lkke relevant
7	Jeg har indtil nu fået opfyldt mine behov for hjælp til fysiske problemer					
8	Min egen læge har sørget for, at jeg har fået hjælp til fysiske problemer					

Spørgsmål 9-23 handler om **følelser og meget personlige forhold** som følge af din kræftsygdom. Tænk på hele perioden fra du fik kræft og indtil nu.

Oplevede følelser eller problemer		ke	mindre grad	nogen grad	rad
Sæt	ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	I mind	I noge	l høj grad
9	Jeg har haft perioder, hvor jeg har følt mig deprimeret				
10	Jeg har haft svært ved at komme videre med livet				
11	Jeg har været bange for at skulle dø af sygdommen				
12	Jeg har haft skyldfølelse over for mine pårørende over at været blevet syg				
13	Jeg har været bekymret for, om mine pårørende fik tilstrækkelig hjælp og støtte under min sygdom				
14	Jeg har haft problemer med sexlivet				
15	Jeg har haft behov for professionel hjælp til psykiske problemer				
16	Jeg har haft behov for professionel hjælp til familiemæssige problemer				
17	Jeg har haft behov for professionel hjælp til seksuelle problemer				

l hvil	yldelse af behov for hjælp ken grad gælder følgende udsagn? et kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	I mindre grad	I nogen grad	l høj grad	Ikke relevant
18	Jeg oplevede samlet set, at der blev draget passende omsorg for mine pårørende					
19	Jeg har indtil nu fået opfyldt mine behov for hjælp til familiemæssige problemer					
20	Jeg har indtil nu fået opfyldt mine behov for psykisk støtte					
21	Jeg har indtil nu fået opfyldt mine behov for hjælp til seksuelle problemer					
22	Min egen læge har hjulpet mig med at håndtere mine bekymringer i forhold til mine pårørende					
23	Min egen læge har sørget for, at jeg har fået psykisk støtte					

Spørgsmål 24-33 handler om **problemer med arbejde og økonomi** som følge af din kræftsygdom. Tænk på hele perioden fra du fik kræft og indtil nu.

l hvil	evede problemer og bekymringer ken grad gælder følgende udsagn? ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	I mindre grad	I nogen grad	l høj grad	Ikke relevant
24	Jeg har været bekymret for ikke at kunne klare mit arbejde					
25	Jeg har haft behov for at holde kontakten med mine arbejdskolleger					
26	Jeg har haft behov for professionel hjælp til at fastholde kontakten til arbejdsmarkedet (fx flexjob)					
27	Jeg har været bekymret for, at min sygdom ville få økonomiske konsekvenser					
28	Min sygdom har haft økonomiske konsekvenser, der har medført betydelige forandringer i min daglige livsførelse					
29	Jeg har haft behov for professionel hjælp til at håndtere de økonomiske konsekvenser af min sygdom					

l hvil	vldelse af behov for hjælp ken grad gælder følgende udsagn? ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	I mindre grad	I nogen grad	l høj grad	Ikke relevant
30	Jeg har indtil nu fået opfyldt mine behov for hjælp til at håndtere arbejdsmæssige problemer					
31	Jeg har indtil nu fået opfyldt mine behov for hjælp til at håndtere økonomiske problemer					
32	Min egen læge har sørget for, at jeg har fået hjælp til at håndtere arbejdsmæssige problemer					
33	Min egen læge har sørget for, at jeg har fået hjælp til at håndtere økonomiske problemer					

Det næste spørgsmål handler om, hvor du har fået hjælp til problemer, som har været en følge af din kræftsygdom. Tænk på hele perioden fra du fik kræft og indtil nu.

lbu	ıd	
34	Har du benyttet nogle af følgende tilbud?	
	Sæt ét eller flere krydser	
1	Fysioterapeut	
	Ergoterapeut	
	Kiropraktor	
	Patientundervisning, fx kræftskole	
	Rygestoprådgivning	
	Kostvejledning hos diætist eller anden rådgiver	
	Motion på hold, i forening eller lignende	
	Zoneterapeut, akupunktør eller anden alternativ behandler	
	Psykolog eller psykoterapeut	
	Parterapeut eller sexolog	
	Selvhjælpsgrupper eller patientforeninger	
	Præst, kirke eller lignende	
	Socialrådgiver	
	Tillidsmand eller arbejdsgiver	
	Bank- eller forsikringsrådgiver	
	Andre tilbud	
	Jeg har ikke anvendt nogen af ovenstående tilbud	

Spørgsmål 35-41 drejer sig om, hvorvidt du samlet set har fået den hjælp og støtte, du havde brug for. *Med professionel hjælp* mener vi de tilbud, der er nævnt i spørgsmål 34.

Hvor	vldelse af behov samlet set enig er du i følgende udsagn? ét kryds på hver linje	Meget uenig	Uenig	Enig	Meget enig	Ved ikke	Ikke relevant
35	Jeg har selv sørget for at få professionel hjælp i forløbet						
36	De tilbud om professionel hjælp der var, passede ikke til mig						
37	Min familie eller venner har været af stor betydning for, at jeg har fået professionel hjælp i forløbet						
38	Min familie eller venner har i sig selv været en vigtig støtte i forløbet						
39	Andre personer med kræft har været en vigtig støtte i forløbet						
40	Jeg føler, der er blevet lagt en plan for, hvordan jeg bedst kommer til at leve, som før jeg fik kræft						
41	Jeg har alt i alt haft tilstrækkelig mulighed for at få hjælp						

Det næste spørgsmål handler ikke om selve kræftbehandlingen; men om, *hvor* du har fået hjælp til genoptræning og støtte til at klare din kræftsygdom. Tænk på hele perioden fra du fik kræft og indtil nu.

Hjæ	elp og støtte i dit forløb samlet set				
42	42 Hvor har du fået hjælp og støtte?				
	Sæt ét eller flere krydser				
	Sygehus				
	Kommune				
	Kræftens Bekæmpelse eller anden patientforening				
	Min egen læge				
	Selvbetalt behandler (fx fysioterapeut, psykolog eller lignende)				
	Alternativ behandler				
	Andet				
	Jeg har <i>ikke</i> fået hjælp og støtte nogen af ovenstående steder				

Har du manglet støtte til noget? (skriv)

Spørgsmål 43-55 handler om sammenhængen i dit forløb fra du fik din kræftsygdom og indtil nu.

Ople	evelse af sammenhæng	bir			ß		ant
	enig er du i følgende udsagn?	Meget uenig	ğ		Meget enig	Ved ikke	lkke relevant
Sæte	ét kryds på hver linje	Meg	Uenig	Enig	Meg	Ved	Ikke
43	Jeg oplevede, at samarbejdet mellem min egen læge og sygehuset fungerede tilfredsstillende						
44	Jeg oplevede, at samarbejdet mellem min egen læge og kommunen (fx hjemmeplejen) fungerede tilfredsstillende						
45	Jeg oplevede, at samarbejdet mellem sygehuset og kommunen (fx hjemmeplejen) fungerede tilfredsstillende						
46	Jeg er blevet tilbudt en genoptræningsplan på sygehuset						
47	Jeg følte mig tilstrækkeligt involveret i beslutninger, der blev taget						
48	Jeg følte mig velinformeret om det forløb, jeg skulle igennem						
49	Jeg oplevede, at de planer, der blev lagt for mit forløb, blev overholdt						
50	Jeg oplevede, at min egen læge havde kendskab til, hvad der skete på sygehuset						
51	Jeg oplevede, at min egen læge selv tilbød sin støtte						
52	Min egen læge har støttet mig tilstrækkeligt i hele mit sygdomsforløb						
53	Jeg vidste altid, hvem jeg kunne henvende mig til, hvis jeg havde problemer						
54	Ind imellem har jeg ønsket, at en fagperson, fx en læge eller sygeplejerske, ville kontakte mig af sig selv (fx for at høre hvordan jeg havde det eller tilbyde sin støtte)						D
55	Jeg oplevede samlet set, at hele forløbet var veltilrettelagt						

Spørgsmål 56-69 handler om **din vurdering af din egen læge**, når du ser tilbage på det seneste år. Hvis du har haft kontakt med flere forskellige læger, fx i et lægehus, tænk da på den læge du kender bedst.

med	er din vurdering af din egen læge i de seneste 12 måneder hensyn til … ét kryds på hver linje	Dårlig	Nogenlunde	God	Meget god	Enestående	Kan ikke svare
56	at få dig til at føle, at der er tid til dig i konsultationen						
57	at vise interesse for din situation						
58	at gøre det let for dig at fortælle om dine problemer						
59	at inddrage dig i beslutninger						
60	at lytte til dig						
61	at sørge for, hurtigt at lindre dine symptomer						
62	at hjælpe dig til at få det så godt, at du kan udføre dine normale aktiviteter						
63	at være omhyggelig ved behandlingen af dine problemer						
64	at undersøge dig						
65	at forklare formålet med undersøgelser og behandlinger						
66	at tale med dig om dine symptomer og din sygdom, så du føler dig velinformeret						
67	at hjælpe dig til at håndtere dine følelser omkring dine helbredsproblemer	Ξ					
68	at forberede dig på, hvad du kunne forvente af hospital, speciallæge eller andre behandlere						
69	at komme til at tale med lægen i telefonen						

Spørgsmål 70-74 handler om dit nuværende forhold til familie og venner.

 70
 Hvor ofte træffer du familie, du *ikke* bor sammen med? (sæt ét kryds)

 Dagligt eller næsten dagligt
 □

 Et par gange om ugen
 □

 Et par gange om måneden
 □

 Sjældnere end et par gange om måneden
 □

 Aldrig
 □

71	Hvor ofte træffer du venner eller bekendte? (sæt ét kryds)							
-	Dagligt eller næsten dagligt							
	Et par gange om ugen							
	Et par gange om måneden							
	Sjældnere end et par gange om måneden							
	Aldrig							

72	Hvis du har brug for hjælp til praktiske problemer, kan du da regne med at få hjælp fra andre? (sæt ét kryds)					
	Ja, helt sikkert					
	Ja, måske					
	Nej					
	Ved ikke					

73	Sker det nogensinde, at du er alene, selvo lyst til at være sammen med andre? (sæt e	
	Nej	
	Ja, men sjældent	
	Ja, en gang imellem	
	Ja, ofte	

74	Har du nogen, du kan betro dig til, hvis du har problemer? (sæt ét kryds)	
	Nej, ingen	
	Ja, en enkelt	
	Ja, 2-4	
	Ja, mange	

Spørgsmål 75-104 handler om dit nuværende helbred.

Sæt	ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	Lidt	En del	Meget
75	Har du nogen vanskeligheder ved at udføre anstrengende aktiviteter, som fx at bære en tung indkøbstaske eller kuffert?				
76	Har du nogen vanskeligheder ved at gå en lang tur?				
77	Har du nogen vanskeligheder ved at gå en kort tur udendørs?				
78	Er du nødt til at ligge i sengen eller at sidde i en stol om dagen?				
79	Har du brug for hjælp til at spise, tage tøj på, vaske dig eller gå på toilettet?				

	n forløbne uge ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	Lidt	En del	Meget
80	Var du begrænset i udførelsen af enten dit arbejde eller andre daglige aktiviteter?				
81	Var du begrænset i at dyrke hobbyer eller andre fritidsaktiviteter?				
82	Havde du åndenød?				
83	Har du haft smerter?				
84	Havde du brug for at hvile dig?				
85	Har du haft svært ved at sove?				
86	Har du følt dig svag?				
87	Har du savnet appetit?				
88	Har du haft kvalme?				
89	Har du kastet op?				
90	Har du haft forstoppelse?				

I de	n forløbne uge	1			
	ét kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	Lidt	En del	Meget
91	Har du haft diarré (tynd mave)?				
92	Var du træt?				
93	Vanskeliggjorde smerter dine daglige aktiviteter?				
94	Har du haft svært ved at koncentrere dig om ting som fx at læse avis eller se fjernsyn?				
95	Følte du dig anspændt?				
96	Var du bekymret?				
97	Følte du dig irritabel?				
98	Følte du dig deprimeret?				
99	Har du haft svært ved at huske?				
100	Har din fysiske tilstand eller medicinske behandling vanskeliggjort dit familieliv ?				
101	Har din fysiske tilstand eller medicinske behandling vanskeliggjort din omgang med andre mennesker ?				
102	Har din fysiske tilstand eller medicinske behandling medført økonomiske vanskeligheder for dig?				

I de næste to spørgsmål bedes du sætte ring om det tal mellem 1 og 7, som passer bedst på dig.

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Meget	dårligt				Særdele	s godt
4 Hvorda	an vil du vur	dere din sa l	mlede livsk	valitet i der	n forløbne ug	je?

Spørgsmål 105-141 handler om dine følelser i den seneste uge.	
	-

Sæte	nfor er en liste af ord, som beskriver følelser. et kryds på <i>hver</i> linje for at svare på, i hvilken grad du har haft e følelse i den seneste uge.	Slet ikke	En smule	I nogen grad	Ret meget	I meget høj grad
105	Anspændt					
106	Vred					
107	Udkørt					
108	Ked af det					
109	Livlig					
110	Forvirret					
111	Gnaven					
112	Trist					
113	Aktiv					
114	Irritabel					
115	Tvær					
116	Melankolsk					
117	Energisk					
118	Håbløs					
119	Urolig					
120	Rastløs					
121	Ukoncentreret					

'n

Sæte	n for er en liste af ord, som beskriver følelser (fortsat). et kryds på <i>hver</i> linje for at svare på, i hvilken grad du har haft e følelse i den seneste uge.	Slet ikke	En smule	I nogen grad	Ret meget	I meget høj grad
122	Træt					
123	Ærgerlig					
124	Modløs					
125	Fortørnet					
126	Nervøs					
127	Ulykkelig					
128	Munter					
129	Bitter					
130	Udmattet					
131	Bekymret		\square			
132	Hjælpeløs					
133	Mat					
134	Konfus					
135	Rasende					
136	Livfuld					
137	Værdiløs					
138	Glemsom					
139	Livskraftig					
140	Usikker på ting					
141	Udbrændt					

Spørgsmål 142-159 drejer sig om din **opfattelse af helbred** i al almindelighed og *ikke* kun dit helbred forbundet med kræftsygdommen.

	enig er du i følgende udsagn? et kryds på hver linje	Helt uenig	Overvejende uenig	Overvejende enig	Helt enig	Ved ikke
142	Hvis jeg bliver syg, har jeg kræfterne til selv at blive rask igen					
143	Jeg har selv ansvaret for at bevare mit helbred					
144	Hvis noget går galt med mit helbred, er det min egen skyld					
145	Mit helbred afhænger af, hvor godt jeg passer på mig selv					
146	Når jeg bliver syg, ved jeg, at det er fordi, jeg ikke har passet godt nok på mig selv					
147	Ved at passe godt på mig selv kan jeg stort set holde mig rask					
148	Hvis jeg går til læge med jævne mellemrum, har jeg mindre risiko for at få problemer med mit helbred					
149	Den eneste måde, jeg kan bevare mit helbred på, er ved at gå til sundhedsvæsenet					
150	Andre mennesker har stor betydning for, om jeg holder mig rask					
151	Det er sundhedsvæsenet, der holder mig rask					
152	Andre menneskers behandling og omsorg er afgørende for, hvor godt jeg kommer mig efter sygdom					
153	For mig er den bedste måde at holde sig rask på at følge lægens råd til punkt og prikke					
154	Tit føler jeg, at uanset hvad jeg gør, hvis jeg skal blive syg, bliver jeg syg					
155	Det virker, som om mit helbred i høj grad afhænger af tilfældighedernes spil					
156	Når jeg er syg, må jeg lade naturen råde					
157	Når jeg er rask, skyldes det held					
158	Selv hvis jeg passer på mig selv, bliver jeg let syg					
159	Når jeg bliver syg, skyldes det skæbnen					

	ken grad gælder følgende udsagn? et kryds på hver linje	Slet ikke	En lille smule	I nogen grad	En hel del	Meget
160	Jeg føler mig fredfyldt					
161	Jeg har grund til at leve					
162	Jeg har haft et produktivt liv					
163	Jeg har svært ved at føle fred i sindet					
164	Jeg føler en mening med livet					
165	Jeg er i stand til at finde trøst dybt inde i mig selv					
166	Jeg har en følelse af indre harmoni					
167	Mit liv savner mening og formål					
168	Jeg finder trøst i min tro eller i mine åndelige overbevisninger					
169	Jeg finder styrke i min tro eller i mine åndelige overbevisninger					
170	Min sygdom har styrket min tro eller mine åndelige overbevisninger					
171	Jeg ved, at ligegyldigt hvad der sker med min sygdom, så vil alt være ok					

Spørgsmål 160-171 drejer sig om din tro og opfattelse af meningen med livet, når du tænker på den seneste uge.

Har du kommentarer til spørgeskemaet eller dit forløb, er du velkommen til at skrive her:

Mange tak for hjælpen!

Læge Lise Vilstrup Holm og Læge Stinne Holm Bergholdt

Forskningsenheden for Almen Praksis Syddansk Universitet J.B. Winsløws Vej 9A 5000 Odense C

E mail: kr-projekt@health.sdu.dk Telefon 20 58 51 33

Appendix B Included cancer diagnoses

Malignant r	neoplasm classified according to the International Classification of Disease (ICD-10)*
C00-C14	Malignant neoplasms of lip, oral cavity and pharynx
C15-C26	Malignant neoplasms of digestive organs
C30-C39	Malignant neoplasms of respiratory and intrathracic organs
C40-C41	Malignant neoplasms of bone and articular cartilage
C43	Malignant melanoma
C45-C49	Malignant neoplasms of mesothelial and soft tissue
C50	Malignant neoplasms of breast
C51-C58	Malignant neoplasms of female genital organs
C60-C63	Malignant neoplasms of male genital organs
C64-C68	Malignant neoplasms of urinary tract
C69-C72	Malignant neoplasms of eye, brain, and other parts of central nervous system
C73-C75	Malignant neoplasms of thyroid and other endocrine glands
C76-C80	Malignant neoplasms of ill-defined, secondary and unspecified sites
C81-C96	Malignant neoplasms, stated or presumed to be primary, of lymphoid, haematopoietic and
	related tissue
D37-D48	Neoplasms of uncertain or unknown behavior

*http://apps.who.int/classifications/icd10/browse/2010/en#/II